
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS
3. ROLL CALL

4. PRESENTATION
A. New Police Officer Introductions

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS

6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

9. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Communications

B. Minutes-

(1) March 17, 2024 Special Township Board Meeting

(2) March 19, 2024 Regular Township Board Meeting

(3) March 26, 2024 Joint Township Board and Commission Meeting
C. Bills

D. Disposal of Surplus Equipment
E. Public Participation Plan Amendment
F. Reschedule a Public Hearing for May 9th -Recreational Marijuana License Applications 

in Zone 3

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY

11. HEARINGS

A. 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Public Hearing

B. Recreational Marijuana License Applications in Zones 1, 4, &  5

12. ACTION ITEMS
A. Unruh Drain Conversion – Chapter 20 to Chapter ¾
B. MSP Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division Section 19 Resolution
C. Ordinance 2024-03 – Planning Commission Membership – INTRODUCTION

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS

A. Recreational Marijuana License Applications in Zones 1, 4, &  5

B. 2024 Pathway Master Plan Update

C. Central Fire Station Expansion Architect Selection

D. Greater Lansing Area Regional Stormwater Program MOA

E. Fire Apparatus

F. Policy Review Working Group

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS

16. ADJOURNMENT

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor. 
Appointment of Supervisor Pro Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or 
services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting: Township Manager Frank L. Walsh, 5151 Marsh Road, 
Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required. 

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
TOWNSHIP BOARD – REGULAR MEETING 

April 2, 2024 6:00 PM 



9.A

CONSENT AGENDA  
BOARD 

COMMUNICATIONS 







Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight





From: Gregg Todd
To: Wanda Bloomquist; Supervisor; Locke Township Clerk; alaiedontwp@gmail.com; earl griffes; Jill Cutshaw; SFeazel@leslietownship.org; Clerk; tracy.miller@delhitownshipmi.gov; Samantha Diehl
Cc: Becky Muraf; Robert Davis; Bruce Harris; carriezeitz@yahoo. com; Christopher Lewis; Wanda Bloomquist; Courtney Wisinski; C G Lantis - Stokbridge Supervisor; Deborah Guthrie; Denise Kapp; DiAnne Warfield; DeeAnn Overton; Dan

Opsommer; Don Henley; Dorothy Hart; Evan Hope; Randy Maiville; Gene Ulrey - Supervisor Bunkerhill; Gordon Waltz -Aurelius; Heidi Ream; Henrietta Brewer; H M; Holly Speck; James Wireman; Janet Eyster; JoAnne Kean; John
Allen; John Broughton; John Hayhoe; John Lazet; Leela A Vernon; lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com; Maggie Sanders; Marnie Anderson; Mandy Urquhart; Matthew McClintic; Marcy Shepler; treasurer@leroytownship.org; Nathan Ruiz;
onondaga supervisor; Patricia Herring Jackson; Pat Brown; Patricia McNeilly; Patricia Wade; Phil Deschaine; Richard LaCasse; Township Clerk; Robin Faust; Shane Batdorff; Shannon Murray; Sheri Rambo; Tracy Ayres; Tracie Harris;
Tom Lenard; Tyjuan Thirdgill; Wayne Myer; Wilma Whitehead; White Oak Township; Rachel Prettenhofer; clerk@onondagatownship.org; treasurer@onondagaTownship.org

Subject: State Challenge Process
Date: Tuesday, March 19, 2024 10:24:08 AM

Good morning!

The State BEAD challenge process will be March 25th – April 23rd.   There are two ways residents can submit challenges; 1) go to the MIHI website
https://www.michiganbroadbandmap.com/map?zoom=6&center=-9619763%2C5631121 or Merit Network is consolidating challenges on their site at www.merit.edu/challenge   The Merit
site is also providing automated speed tests, which will help those residents that are considered served, but based on speeds are actually underserved.

As part of Michigan’s BEAD program, the feds have agreed that any location that relies on DSL is unserved.  They have also agreed that any location that is materially under 100/20 is
underserved.  And, satellite service is also unserved.

For your residents to identify how their location is classified, they would first go Michiganbroadbandmap.com site, ensure that the “area” dropdown has “address” in it, and then type in
their address in the “search” box (see below).

Based on the classification, they can challenge is the level of service identified is not what they have access to.

We will be sending out around 5,000 postcards to rural locations that we think might not have the proper service level.  We will also be doing area-wide challenges (3 per census block) on
Mercury Broadband as they appear to be over-promising what they can deliver.

Please let me know if you have any questions.  Remember, we can only apply for BEAD funding for locations that are verified as unserved or underserved so this is an important step!

Feel free to give me a call if you have any questions.

Thanks!

Gregg A. Todd
County Controller/Administrator
Ingham County
Office: 517-676-7203
Mobile: 517-525-6447
gtodd@ingham.org

mailto:GTodd@ingham.org
mailto:wanda@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:supervisor@aureliustwp.org
mailto:locketwpclerk@tds.net
mailto:alaiedontwp@gmail.com
mailto:elgriffes@gmail.com
mailto:cutshawj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:SFeazel@leslietownship.org
mailto:clerk@inghamtownship.com
mailto:tracy.miller@delhitownshipmi.gov
mailto:diehl@meridian.mi.us
mailto:Twpclerk@wowway.biz
mailto:bobcountryguy@yahoo.com
mailto:supervisor@inghamtownship.com
mailto:carrie@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:treasurer@vevaytownship.org
mailto:supervisor@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:wisinski@meridian.mi.us
mailto:dogcoach@yahoo.com
mailto:guthrie@meridian.mi.us
mailto:clerk@wheatfieldtwpmi.gov
mailto:dianne.warfield@delhitownship.com
mailto:DeeAnnO@lansingtownship.org
mailto:opsommer@meridian.mi.us
mailto:opsommer@meridian.mi.us
mailto:donhe7@hotmail.com
mailto:locketwpsupervisor@tds.net
mailto:evan.hope@delhitownship.com
mailto:RMaiville@ingham.org
mailto:gulrey@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:waltzg@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:hbrewer@lansingtownship.org
mailto:wheatfieldtwptreasurer@gmail.com
mailto:treasurer@inghamtownship.com
mailto:stockbridgetownship@wowway.biz
mailto:eysterj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:clerk@vevaytownship.org
mailto:jballen7@aol.com
mailto:jballen7@aol.com
mailto:jbroughton@lansingtownship.org
mailto:john.hayhoe@delhitownship.com
mailto:supervisor@vevaytownship.org
mailto:laevernon@yahoo.com
mailto:lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com
mailto:clerk@lansingtownship.org
mailto:manderson@aureliustwp.org
mailto:mandy.stockbridgetownship@gmail.com
mailto:mcclinticm@lansingtownship.org
mailto:guatemalamarcy@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship.org
mailto:nruiz@lansingtownship.org
mailto:supervisor@onondagatownship.org
mailto:pjackson@meridian.mi.us
mailto:pat.brown@delhitownship.com
mailto:kpmac48854@aol.com
mailto:pwade@leslietownship.org
mailto:deschaine@meridian.mi.us
mailto:mialj@sbcglobal.net
mailto:clerk@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=66e8a95a44674c868170d38619557a3e-Robin Faust
mailto:sbatdorff@villageofwebberville.com
mailto:shannonmurray@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:locketwptreas@tds.net
mailto:clerk@aureliustwp.org
mailto:tharris@lansingtownship.org
mailto:tom.lenard@delhitownship.com
mailto:tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com
mailto:wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com
mailto:clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com
mailto:RPrettenhofer@ingham.org
mailto:clerk@onondagatownship.org
mailto:treasurer@onondagaTownship.org
https://www.michiganbroadbandmap.com/map?zoom=6&center=-9619763%2C5631121
http://www.merit.edu/challenge
mailto:gtodd@ingham.org
Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight



<locketwptreas@tds.net>; Tracy Ayres <clerk@aureliustwp.org>; Tracie Harris <tharris@lansingtownship.org>; Tom Lenard <tom.lenard@delhitownship.com>; Tyjuan Thirdgill
<tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com>; Wayne Myer <wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com>; Wilma Whitehead <clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov>; White Oak Township
<whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com>; Rachel Prettenhofer <RPrettenhofer@ingham.org>
Subject: RE: Broadband meeting Tuesday January 9th 9:00am.
 
Good afternoon all.  Please see attached on broadband challenge information.  Feel free so share with your constituents.
 
Thanks and stay safe in this approaching weather!
 
Gregg A. Todd
County Controller/Administrator
Ingham County
Office: 517-676-7203
Mobile: 517-525-6447
gtodd@ingham.org
 

From: Gregg Todd 
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2024 2:26 PM
To: Wanda Bloomquist <wanda@williamstownmi.gov>; Supervisor <supervisor@aureliustwp.org>; Locke Township Clerk <locketwpclerk@tds.net>; alaiedontwp@gmail.com; earl griffes
<elgriffes@gmail.com>; Jill Cutshaw <cutshawj@williamstowntownship.com>; SFeazel@leslietownship.org; Clerk <clerk@inghamtownship.com>; tracy.miller@delhitownshipmi.gov;
diehl@meridian.mi.us
Cc: Becky Muraf <Twpclerk@wowway.biz>; Robert Davis <bobcountryguy@yahoo.com>; Bruce Harris <supervisor@inghamtownship.com>; carriezeitz@yahoo. com
<carrie@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Christopher Lewis <treasurer@vevaytownship.org>; Wanda Bloomquist <supervisor@williamstownmi.gov>; Courtney Wisinski
<wisinski@meridian.mi.us>; C G Lantis - Stokbridge Supervisor <dogcoach@yahoo.com>; Deborah Guthrie <guthrie@meridian.mi.us>; Denise Kapp <clerk@wheatfieldtwpmi.gov>; DiAnne
Warfield <dianne.warfield@delhitownship.com>; DeeAnn Overton <DeeAnnO@lansingtownship.org>; Dan Opsommer <opsommer@meridian.mi.us>; Don Henley <donhe7@hotmail.com>;
Dorothy Hart <locketwpsupervisor@tds.net>; Evan Hope <evan.hope@delhitownship.com>; Gene Ulrey - Supervisor Bunkerhill <gulrey@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Gordon Waltz -Aurelius
<waltzg@yahoo.com>; Heidi Ream <treasurer@leroytownship-mi.gov>; Henrietta Brewer <hbrewer@lansingtownship.org>; H M <wheatfieldtwptreasurer@gmail.com>; Holly Speck
<treasurer@inghamtownship.com>; James Wireman <stockbridgetownship@wowway.biz>; Janet Eyster <eysterj@williamstowntownship.com>; JoAnne Kean <clerk@vevaytownship.org>;
John Allen <jballen7@aol.com>; John Broughton <jbroughton@lansingtownship.org>; John Hayhoe <john.hayhoe@delhitownship.com>; John Lazet <supervisor@vevaytownship.org>; Leela
A Vernon <laevernon@yahoo.com>; lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com; Maggie Sanders <clerk@lansingtownship.org>; Marnie Anderson <manderson@aureliustwp.org>; Mandy Urquhart
<mandy.stockbridgetownship@gmail.com>; Matthew McClintic <mcclinticm@lansingtownship.org>; Marcy Shepler <guatemalamarcy@yahoo.com>; treasurer@leroytownship.org; Nathan
Ruiz <nruiz@lansingtownship.org>; onondaga supervisor <supervisor@onondagatownship.org>; Patricia Jackson <pjackson@meridian.mi.us>; Pat Brown <pat.brown@delhitownship.com>;
Patricia McNeilly <kpmac48854@aol.com>; Patricia Wade <pwade@leslietownship.org>; Phil Deschaine <deschaine@meridian.mi.us>; Richard LaCasse <mialj@sbcglobal.net>; Township
Clerk <clerk@williamstowntownship.com>; Robin Faust <faust@meridian.mi.us>; Shane Batdorff <sbatdorff@villageofwebberville.com>; Shannon Murray
<shannonmurray@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Sheri Rambo <locketwptreas@tds.net>; Tracy Ayres <clerk@aureliustwp.org>; Tracie Harris <tharris@lansingtownship.org>; Tom Lenard
<tom.lenard@delhitownship.com>; Tyjuan Thirdgill <tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com>; Wayne Myer <wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com>; Wilma Whitehead <clerk@leroytownship-
mi.gov>; White Oak Township <whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com>
Subject: RE: Broadband meeting Tuesday January 9th 9:00am.
 
Good afternoon all, and thanks to those that attended our meeting today.  For those of  you that could not make it, we discussed the upcoming State broadband maps on the process to
challenge the map information.  I promised the group a one-pager that can be shared with your residents, which I will have to you later on this week.
 
Thanks again for your time!
 
Gregg A. Todd
County Controller/Administrator
Ingham County
Office: 517-676-7203
Mobile: 517-525-6447
gtodd@ingham.org
 
From: Wanda Bloomquist <wanda@williamstownmi.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, January 4, 2024 12:23 PM
To: Wanda Bloomquist <supervisor@williamstownmi.gov>
Cc: Cc: alaiedon twp <alaiedontwp@gmail.com>; Becky Muraf <Twpclerk@wowway.biz>; Robert Davis <bobcountryguy@yahoo.com>; Bruce Harris <supervisor@inghamtownship.com>;
carriezeitz@yahoo. com <carrie@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Christopher Lewis <treasurer@vevaytownship.org>; Courtney Wisinski <wisinski@meridian.mi.us>; C G Lantis - Stokbridge
Supervisor <dogcoach@yahoo.com>; Supervisor <supervisor@aureliustwp.org>; Deborah Guthrie <guthrie@meridian.mi.us>; Denise Kapp <clerk@wheatfieldtwpmi.gov>; DiAnne Warfield
<dianne.warfield@delhitownship.com>; DeeAnn Overton <DeeAnnO@lansingtownship.org>; Dan Opsommer <opsommer@meridian.mi.us>; Don Henley <donhe7@hotmail.com>; Dorothy
Hart <locketwpsupervisor@tds.net>; earl griffes <elgriffes@gmail.com>; Evan Hope <evan.hope@delhitownship.com>; Gene Ulrey - Supervisor Bunkerhill
<gulrey@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Locke Township Clerk <locketwpclerk@tds.net>; Gordon Waltz -Aurelius <waltzg@yahoo.com>; Heidi Ream <treasurer@leroytownship-mi.gov>;
Henrietta Brewer <hbrewer@lansingtownship.org>; H M <wheatfieldtwptreasurer@gmail.com>; Holly Speck <treasurer@inghamtownship.com>; James Wireman
<stockbridgetownship@wowway.biz>; Janet Eyster <eysterj@williamstowntownship.com>; Jill Cutshaw <cutshawj@williamstowntownship.com>; JoAnne Kean <clerk@vevaytownship.org>;
John Allen <jballen7@aol.com>; John Broughton <jbroughton@lansingtownship.org>; John Hayhoe <john.hayhoe@delhitownship.com>; John Lazet <supervisor@vevaytownship.org>; Clerk
<clerk@inghamtownship.com>; Leela A Vernon <laevernon@yahoo.com>; lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com; Maggie Sanders <clerk@lansingtownship.org>; Marnie Anderson
<manderson@aureliustwp.org>; Mandy Urquhart <mandy.stockbridgetownship@gmail.com>; Matthew McClintic <mcclinticm@lansingtownship.org>; Marcy Shepler
<guatemalamarcy@yahoo.com>; treasurer@leroytownship.org; Nathan Ruiz <nruiz@lansingtownship.org>; onondaga supervisor <supervisor@onondagatownship.org>; Patricia Jackson
<pjackson@meridian.mi.us>; Pat Brown <pat.brown@delhitownship.com>; Patricia McNeilly <kpmac48854@aol.com>; Patricia Wade <pwade@leslietownship.org>; Phil Deschaine
<deschaine@meridian.mi.us>; Richard LaCasse <mialj@sbcglobal.net>; Township Clerk <clerk@williamstowntownship.com>; Robin Faust <faust@meridian.mi.us>; Shane Batdorff
<sbatdorff@villageofwebberville.com>; Shannon Murray <shannonmurray@bunkerhilltownship.org>; Sheri Rambo <locketwptreas@tds.net>; SFeazel@leslietownship.org; Tracy Ayres
<clerk@aureliustwp.org>; Tracie Harris <tharris@lansingtownship.org>; Tom Lenard <tom.lenard@delhitownship.com>; Tyjuan Thirdgill <tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com>; Wayne Myer
<wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com>; Wilma Whitehead <clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov>; White Oak Township <whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com>; Gregg Todd <GTodd@ingham.org>
Subject: Broadband meeting Tuesday January 9th 9:00am.
 
Just a reminder of this important meeting to cover the mapping challenge process and Bead Timeline.  Gregg Todd has taken the lead on this for the County and  will be facilitating the
meeting.
9:00 am at the Hilliard Building, 121 E. Maple, Mason.  Directly north of the County Courthouse.
Conference Room A.
If you are unable to attend, please send a Township representative!
 
Best,
Wanda Bloomquist
Supervisor
Williamstown Township
517-655-3193 x 302

mailto:gtodd@ingham.org
mailto:wanda@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:supervisor@aureliustwp.org
mailto:locketwpclerk@tds.net
mailto:alaiedontwp@gmail.com
mailto:elgriffes@gmail.com
mailto:cutshawj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:SFeazel@leslietownship.org
mailto:clerk@inghamtownship.com
mailto:tracy.miller@delhitownshipmi.gov
mailto:diehl@meridian.mi.us
mailto:Twpclerk@wowway.biz
mailto:bobcountryguy@yahoo.com
mailto:supervisor@inghamtownship.com
mailto:carrie@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:treasurer@vevaytownship.org
mailto:supervisor@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:wisinski@meridian.mi.us
mailto:dogcoach@yahoo.com
mailto:guthrie@meridian.mi.us
mailto:clerk@wheatfieldtwpmi.gov
mailto:dianne.warfield@delhitownship.com
mailto:DeeAnnO@lansingtownship.org
mailto:opsommer@meridian.mi.us
mailto:donhe7@hotmail.com
mailto:locketwpsupervisor@tds.net
mailto:evan.hope@delhitownship.com
mailto:gulrey@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:waltzg@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:hbrewer@lansingtownship.org
mailto:wheatfieldtwptreasurer@gmail.com
mailto:treasurer@inghamtownship.com
mailto:stockbridgetownship@wowway.biz
mailto:eysterj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:clerk@vevaytownship.org
mailto:jballen7@aol.com
mailto:jbroughton@lansingtownship.org
mailto:john.hayhoe@delhitownship.com
mailto:supervisor@vevaytownship.org
mailto:laevernon@yahoo.com
mailto:lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com
mailto:clerk@lansingtownship.org
mailto:manderson@aureliustwp.org
mailto:mandy.stockbridgetownship@gmail.com
mailto:mcclinticm@lansingtownship.org
mailto:guatemalamarcy@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship.org
mailto:nruiz@lansingtownship.org
mailto:supervisor@onondagatownship.org
mailto:pjackson@meridian.mi.us
mailto:pat.brown@delhitownship.com
mailto:kpmac48854@aol.com
mailto:pwade@leslietownship.org
mailto:deschaine@meridian.mi.us
mailto:mialj@sbcglobal.net
mailto:clerk@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:faust@meridian.mi.us
mailto:sbatdorff@villageofwebberville.com
mailto:shannonmurray@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:locketwptreas@tds.net
mailto:clerk@aureliustwp.org
mailto:tharris@lansingtownship.org
mailto:tom.lenard@delhitownship.com
mailto:tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com
mailto:wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com
mailto:clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com
mailto:gtodd@ingham.org
mailto:wanda@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:supervisor@williamstownmi.gov
mailto:alaiedontwp@gmail.com
mailto:Twpclerk@wowway.biz
mailto:bobcountryguy@yahoo.com
mailto:supervisor@inghamtownship.com
mailto:carrie@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:treasurer@vevaytownship.org
mailto:wisinski@meridian.mi.us
mailto:dogcoach@yahoo.com
mailto:supervisor@aureliustwp.org
mailto:guthrie@meridian.mi.us
mailto:clerk@wheatfieldtwpmi.gov
mailto:dianne.warfield@delhitownship.com
mailto:DeeAnnO@lansingtownship.org
mailto:opsommer@meridian.mi.us
mailto:donhe7@hotmail.com
mailto:locketwpsupervisor@tds.net
mailto:elgriffes@gmail.com
mailto:evan.hope@delhitownship.com
mailto:gulrey@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:locketwpclerk@tds.net
mailto:waltzg@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:hbrewer@lansingtownship.org
mailto:wheatfieldtwptreasurer@gmail.com
mailto:treasurer@inghamtownship.com
mailto:stockbridgetownship@wowway.biz
mailto:eysterj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:cutshawj@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:clerk@vevaytownship.org
mailto:jballen7@aol.com
mailto:jbroughton@lansingtownship.org
mailto:john.hayhoe@delhitownship.com
mailto:supervisor@vevaytownship.org
mailto:clerk@inghamtownship.com
mailto:laevernon@yahoo.com
mailto:lorettakbenjamin@gmail.com
mailto:clerk@lansingtownship.org
mailto:manderson@aureliustwp.org
mailto:mandy.stockbridgetownship@gmail.com
mailto:mcclinticm@lansingtownship.org
mailto:guatemalamarcy@yahoo.com
mailto:treasurer@leroytownship.org
mailto:nruiz@lansingtownship.org
mailto:supervisor@onondagatownship.org
mailto:pjackson@meridian.mi.us
mailto:pat.brown@delhitownship.com
mailto:kpmac48854@aol.com
mailto:pwade@leslietownship.org
mailto:deschaine@meridian.mi.us
mailto:mialj@sbcglobal.net
mailto:clerk@williamstowntownship.com
mailto:faust@meridian.mi.us
mailto:sbatdorff@villageofwebberville.com
mailto:shannonmurray@bunkerhilltownship.org
mailto:locketwptreas@tds.net
mailto:SFeazel@leslietownship.org
mailto:clerk@aureliustwp.org
mailto:tharris@lansingtownship.org
mailto:tom.lenard@delhitownship.com
mailto:tyjuan.thirdgill@delhitownship.com
mailto:wheatfieldsupervisor@icloud.com
mailto:clerk@leroytownship-mi.gov
mailto:whiteoaktwp@fnwusers.com
mailto:GTodd@ingham.org
Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight

Stephaney Guild
Highlight





 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
March 28, 2024 

 
CONTACT: Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 

517.853.4378 | diehl@meridian.mi.us  

 

Okemos and Haslett Named Best Places to Live in Michigan 
Overall Niche Grade of A+ for Both Okemos and Haslett 

 
Meridian Township, MI – Niche has recognized Okemos and Haslett in the 2024 Best Places to Live 
in Michigan rankings. Okemos was once again ranked #1, with Haslett ranked #31.  
 
“It is wonderful for both Okemos and Haslett to be recognized as two of the best places to live in 
Michigan,” said Township Supervisor Pro Tem Scott Hendrickson. “Meridian Township residents and 
visitors know that we are a remarkable place to live, work, and raise a family. We offer exceptional 
schools, top notch services, and great parks and natural features, which is why Meridian Township is 
truly a Prime Community.” 
 
Other Niche Rankings for Okemos: 

• #1 Best Places to Raise a Family in Michigan 
• #7 Places with the Best Public Schools in Michigan 
• #15 Best Places to Live in America 

Other Niche Rankings for Haslett: 

• #25 Best Suburbs for Young Professionals in Michigan 
• #28 Best Suburbs to Live in Michigan 
• #31 Best Places to Live in Michigan 

Niche serves as a tool to connect people to potential schools, neighborhoods, and workplaces. They 
present in-depth profiles of every school and college in America, provide reviews of the best cities 
and neighborhoods to live in, and list the best workplaces based on location. 
 
According to Niche’s website, the Best Places to Live ranking provides a comprehensive assessment 
of the overall livability of an area. This ranking takes into account several key factors of a location, 
including the quality of schools, crime rates, housing trends, employment statistics, and access to 
amenities in an attempt to measure the overall quality of an area. 
 
The Overall Niche Grade for Okemos and Haslett was calculated as an A+, with public schools, housing 
and job opportunities, and diversity being some of the highest scoring categories. 
 

### 
 
 

mailto:diehl@meridian.mi.us


9.B

CONSENT AGENDA 
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Special Meeting 
of March 17, 2024, the Regular Meeting of March 19, 2024, and 
the Joint Township Board and Commission Meeting of March 
26,2024 as submitted.  (1)

ALTERNATE MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Special Meeting of March 
17, 2024, the Regular Meeting of March 19, 2024, and the Joint Township 
Board and Commission Meeting of March 26,2024 with the following 
amendment(s):[insert amendments]

(1)

(1)



Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

SPECIAL MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 

Sunday, March 17, 2024, 10:00 am 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Hendrickson, 

Sundland, Wilson and Trezise  

ABSENT: NONE 

 

STAFF: NONE 
 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson called the March 17, 2024, Special Township Board meeting 
to order at 10:01 am.  Supervisor Jackson arrived at 10:02. 
 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Jackson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Clerk Guthrie called the roll of the Board. All board members present at 10:01 am.  
 
Supervisor Jackson asked members to present themselves. 
 
 

4. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Supervisor Jackson opened comments from the public at 10:02 am. 
 
Supervisor Jackson closed comments from the public at 10:02 am. 
 
 

5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the agenda.  Supported by Trustee Hendrickson. 
 

VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, 
Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Trezise and Wilson 
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7 – 0 

 



Page 2 

 
6. CLOSED SESSION 

 
At 10:05 the board moved to enter closed session 
 
Trustee Hendrickson moved that the Township Board enter closed session under OMA 
Section 8(1)(h) to consult with the Township attorney regarding a written legal opinion. 
Supported by Trustee Trezise. 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, 
Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Trezise and Wilson 
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7 – 0 

 
 
At 2:50 pm Open Session Resumed 
 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to accept Special Counsel Hudson’s recommendation 
regarding a personnel matter. Supported by Treasurer Deschaine. 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, 
Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Trezise and Wilson 
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7 – 0 

 
 
 

 
7. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
Supervisor Jackson opened comments from the public at 2:57 pm 
 
 
Supervisor Jackson closed comments from the public at 2:57 pm 
 
 

8. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
Trustee Hendrickson thanked everyone for their availability on a Sunday 
 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Sundland. 
 
VOICE VOTE:   YEAS:  Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Trezise and Wilson 
 



Page 3 

NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 2:58 PM  

 

__________________________________ 
Patricia Jackson 

Township Supervisor 

 

__________________________________ 
Deborah Guthrie 
Township Clerk 



Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024, 6:00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson and Trezise  

ABSENT: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie 

 

STAFF: 

Director Gebes, Chief Hamel, Manager Walsh, Deputy Manager Opsommer, Director 

Wisinski, Lt. Kurt Squires, Director Ianni, Director Schmitt 
 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Pro-Tem Hendrickson called the March 19, 2024, Regular Township Board meeting 
to order at 6:00 pm.  
 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Pro-Tem Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Deputy Clerk Gordon called the roll of the Board. Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Hendrickson, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson present at 6:01 pm.  
 
 

4. PRESENTATION  
 

A. 2024 Local Road Program  
 
Deputy Manager Opsommer recapped the work done so far.  Work is behind goal because 
of inflation, supply chain issues, and influx in federal funding.  Opsommer presented an 
overview of funding, roads to be addressed, and gave an overview of asphalt rejuvenator 
treatment. 
 

B. Marshall Park Concept Plan  
 
Director Wisinski gave background on the park and instructed the board members on the 
reasoning behind upgrading the park.  The existing play structure will remain until the new 
structure is completed, and the swings will remain because they are newer equipment.  
Wisinski reported the planned cost of construction and detailed the elements to be 
included in the equipment. The amenities included will make this area a National 
Demonstration Site (NDS) for ADA compliant structures and includes signage directing 



Page 2 

users to surveys that will gather information about structure use.  Construction will begin 
mid-May with the plan to be open in June. Trustee Wilson asked about the safety of the turf 
material regarding friction burns.  Director Wisinski will research friction burn as related 
to the material. 
 

C. Central Park Pavilion Project  
 
Director Wisinski spoke about the history of the Pavilion and reminded the board that the 
building is still in use despite the development of a newer Farmers Market Pavilion.   
Wisinski reviewed the planned renovations and the proposed cost.  Trustee Wilson asked 
for clarification about the changes to the current structure of the building and footprint of 
the cement pad.   

 
 

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Supervisor Pro-Tem Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 6:44 pm. 
 
Supervisor Pro-Tem Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 6:44 pm. 
 
 

6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
 
Manager Walsh gave updates about the following: 
 

• Employee work anniversaries 
• Recognized Clerk Guthrie’s achievement of Michigan Professional Municipal Clerk 

(MiPMC) Level 3 certification and Deputy Clerk Gordon’s achievement of Level 2 
certification. 

• Joint Board and Commission meeting upcoming on March 26 
• The process for the Community Survey is underway 
• Tree removal project for water plant management along Park Lake Rd 
• Village of Okemos meeting produced suggestion to improve the appearance of the site 
• Silverleaf development has Drain Commission approval.  The developer will be 

speaking to the Planning Commission next week.  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson 
asked for clarification about the development.  Manager Walsh gave more information 
but will have to look into the details and report back. 

• Assessing reports 2024 taxable value of $2.281 billion before calculating veteran’s 
exemptions 

• Deer management appreciation dinner on March 20, 2024 
• March Madness bracket fundraiser for Meridian Cares 
• Meeting with State about Senior Center 
• Unruh Drain is up for discussion 
• Lake Lansing Dam project is in the hands of Ingham County Board of Commissioners 

who will set the oversight board 
• Prime Meridian magazine has been well received 
• 9,000 water meters going in over the next 3 years 
• Briarwood Neighborhood met two weeks ago 
• Brownfield Redevelopment Authority met last week 
• Foyer of Police Department is under construction, is one of the last areas in need of 

renovation 



Page 3 

• Police department vacancies have are being filled, and only one vacancy in the township 
outside of the police department 

• 2023 audit will begin April 15th  
• Judge Stokes is assigned to the fire truck litigation issue 
• Thanked Chief Hamel and Director Ianni for meeting with the State for brush program 
• Juneteenth will be celebrated June 15th 
• Thanked Deputy Manager Opsommer for his work on the road program 
• Hobbes & Black will oversee the fire dorm project which is estimated to cost less than 

expected 

 
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Trustee Sundland – attended January 4th EDC meeting, EDC discussed regional marketing 
campaign contribution, reviewed 2024 goals & action plan, 2023-2028 implementation matrix, 
and is in need of more members 
 
Trustee Trezise – attended March EC meeting, EC is working with solar providers and 
homeowners to have solar installed at discount, heard a presentation about gleaning food that 
would otherwise go to waste for food banks in the region, encouraged community to watch the 
meetings 
 
Trustee Wilson – attended CRC meeting last week, discussed an extremely successful baby 
bottle fundraiser, thanked Human Services Specialist Love for her creativity and efforts to help 
residents.  With Director Walsh, Trustee Wilson met with DHHS about the grant to build the 
Community Center which includes the Senior Center, going to assess a site with a building to 
repurpose into the Senior Center, discussed how to get information into the community. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine – reminded board that Meridian Township received the Gold Leaf award 
from International Society of Arboriculture for tree planting the first year the EC offered the 
Green Grant. 
 
 

8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Supported by Trustee 
Wilson. 

 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Sundland, Trezise and Wilson 
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 – 0 
 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson reviewed the items on the agenda. 
 
Trustee Trezise moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Supported by Trustee 
Wilson. 
 



Page 4 

Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson asked about reimbursement of excess employment taxes.  
Director Ianni explained that a tax calculation error was made when some employees’ vacation 
time was paid out as required by contract. 
 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE YEAS:  Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Sundland, Trezise and 
Wilson, Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 - 0 
 
 

10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY 
 
NONE 
 
 

11. HEARINGS 
 
NONE 
 
At 7:08 a five-minute recess was called. 
 
At 7:12 the meeting resumed 
 
 

12. ACTION ITEMS 
  

A. Consulting Agreement One Month Extension-Maisner  
 

Manger Walsh indicated that the proposal is the same as presented on March 5, 2024, with an 
addendum that the Township will pay former Director Maisner’s health care premiums instead 
of Maisner paying and the Township reimbursing her, and that the addendum does not extend 
her health care.  

 
Trustee Wilson moved to amend the current Maisner Retirement Agreement between 
Meridian Township and former Parks and Recreation Director Luann Maisner through 
August 2, 2024. Supported by Treasurer Deschaine. 

 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE YEAS:  Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Sundland, Trezise and 

Wilson, Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson 
 

NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 – 0 

 
B. 1st Quarter Budget Amendments  

 



Page 5 

Director Ianni presented proposed changes in revenues and expenditures, some of which are 
related to grants and staffing, and to correct errors 

 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the attached 2024 1st Quarter Budget 
Amendments with a decrease in Budgeted Fund Balance for the General Fund in the 
amount Of $640 which projects a use of Fund Balance of $542,074. Based on 2024 
results, the Projected Fund Balance at December 31, 2024, will be $9,355,754. Supported 
By Trustee Wilson 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE YEAS:  Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson, 

Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Treasurer Deschaine 
 

NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 - 0 

 
C. EDC Appointment 

 

Trustee Sundland noted that this is a necessary appointment because the EDC has been unable 

to meet due to lack of members.  Trustee Trezise concurred adding that when commissions and 

boards have vacancies it is difficult to meet quorum which prohibits action of the board. 

Treasurer Deschaine added that community members who are interested in serving can 

contact the Treasurer’s office or the Clerk's office to apply. 

 

Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson moved to appoint Nathan Ide to the Economic 
Development Corporation for a six-year term ending 12/31/29.  Seconded by Trustee 
Sundland. 
 

VOICE VOTE YEAS:  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Treasurer Deschaine, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 - 0 

 
 
13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 
  

A. Ordinance to Amend the Number of Members of the Planning Commission  
 
Director Schmitt explained the change was initiated by recognizing that Town Hall renovation 
does not provide enough space on the dais for nine people.  The Planning Commission has 
discussed that they have in the past and can currently function with seven members, and that 
they currently have only seven members, which makes it an ideal time to discuss reducing the 
number of members.  Treasurer Deschaine asked the other board members who have sat on 
the Planning Commission if they thought the Commission could function with less members.  
Trustee Trezise responded that he supports the change because the Commission has had 
difficulty seating nine members, and the board has frequently functioned well with less 
members.  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson and Trustee Wilson concurred.  Director Schmitt 
added that the current Planning Commission Chair and Vice-Chair are supportive of this 



Page 6 

amendment, that he will speak with the entire Commission at their next meeting and report 
back to the Township Board. 

 
 

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 7:35 pm 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 7:35 pm 
 
 

15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
 

16. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE YEAS:  Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson, Supervisor Pro Tem 
Hendrickson, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Sundland 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 5 - 0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 7:36 

 

__________________________________ 
Patricia Jackson 

Township Supervisor 

 

__________________________________ 
Deborah Guthrie 
Township Clerk 



Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
SPECIAL MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 
Tuesday, March 26, 2024, 6:00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson and Trezise  

ABSENT: Supervisor Jackson 

 
STAFF: 

Director Gebes, Deputy Manager Opsommer, Manager Walsh, Director Diehl 
 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson called the March 26, 2024, Special Board meeting to order at 6:02 
pm.  
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
Clerk Guthrie called the roll of the Board. Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Hendrickson, 
Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson present at 6:03 pm.  
 

4. PRESENTATION  
 

A. Recapping 2023 and Reviewing 2024 Goals   
 
Township Manager Walsh recognized and thanked Director Diehl and Executive Assistant Prinz for 
their efforts to pull together the meeting.  Manager Walsh presented data showing the payments 
made to reduce debt, outlined the progress made on the top 2023 goals, and highlighted important 
events that occurred in 2023.  He then outlined the top five goals for 2024 and discussed how the 
Township plans to meet those goals 
 
 

5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the agenda.  Supported by Trustee Wilson. 
 
VOICE VOTE YEAS:  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson 
 

NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 6 - 0 

 



Page 2 

6. JOINT MEETING WITH TOWNSHIP BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
A. Reports of Activity in 2023 and Look Ahead to 2024 

i. Capital Area District Library-Tom Moore (Haslett/Okemos) & ED Jenny Marr 
CADL connects people to resources, to each other, and to the community as a whole.   
To build connections that help people feel like they are part of a place.  CADL circulated 
around 2 million items last year.  They focus on depth and breadth of the collections 
and community events to attract all community members. The major goal is to build a 
collection that represents the diversity in the community. 

ii. Lansing Board of Water and Light-Township Rep Brian Pillar  
LBWL has around 1,200 power accounts and a small number of commercial water 
accounts in Meridian Township.  LBWL will be focusing on green energy over the 
next few years.  June 30 of this year will end Meridian Township representation per 
City of Lansing Charter, representation will resume in Summer 26.  Mr. Pillar plans to 
continue communication between the Township and LBWL. 

iii. Park Commission-Chair Mary Nardo Farris 
Recognized the work of Parks staff and support of residents.  Recognized the positive 
changes that have happened with the transition from Director Maisner to Director 
Wisinski, that she has brought energy, positive attitude, and organizational skills to 
the role. Exterior upgrades at Harris Nature Center were completed last year. New 
signage and acquisition of a 2.71-acre parcel in Land Preservation program.  750 
volunteer hours in Stewardship program.  Recreation programs have brought in 
2,200 children from kindergarten through 8th grade as well as many participants in 
adult programs.  Special events were well attended. Snell-Tower recreation center 
has reopened, and programs are growing.  Senior Center served 300 individuals 
across 1,500 programs.  Recognized efforts of maintenance crew.  Survey of Historic 
Village has helped prioritize upgrades and repairs and work will continue. Upcoming 
projects will include those from Capital Improvement Program, engineering and 
construction projects, and events at the Farmer’s Market. 

iv. Planning Commission-Chair Alisande Shrewsbury and all Planning Commissioners 
In 2023, the Commission addressed ordinance updates, reviewed 18 applications, 
updated Conservancy District, reviewed 5 rezoning requests.  They updated goals 
and objectives of the Master Plan including changing the Meridian Mall to a PICA 
district and making minor changes to the urban service boundary.  For 2024, they 
will be determining what land is available for development, potential update of street 
parking ordinance, reviewing ADA standards, potential update to the landscape 
ordinance, and research into middle housing. 

v. Pension Board-Tanya Pratt 
Updated information about staff who receive pensions, cleaned up and removed 
employees who are no longer active.  Changed projection of actuarial from 5 years to 
3 years based on recommendation of actuaries.  Treasurer Deschaine added that the 
pension for which this board provides oversight is 100% funded. 

vi. Downtown Development Authority-Ron Sdao 
Supported Douglas J with first Match on Main application which came from DDA 
eligibility for a $27,000 grant to reinvest into community. Working on entry sign for 
northbound side of Okemos Rd at the edge of Ferguson Park.  The first facade 
improvement grant application has been submitted to the DDA.  County Drain 
Commissioners office is planning a project across 4 parcels near the corner of 
Okemos Rd and Grand River. 



Page 3 

vii. Environmental Commission-Bill McConnell, Andrea Paul, and Dave Batten. 
Climate Sustainability Action Plan revision has been reformatted and ready for 
feedback from the Board. There is a new focus on capturing food waste.  In 2023, 
9,000 lbs. of food was collected from the Farmer’s Market food gleaning program.  
The ongoing solar energy program is working on increasing residential installations.  
In 2023, across 4 meetings 99 people attended and 32 solar energy systems were 
installed. This does not take into account commercial solar energy systems.  The 
Green Grants program is growing. Mr. Batten provided further information about 
food that has been collected from the Farmer’s Market, local businesses, and 
community member – about 5,000 lbs. collected per month and it is collected and 
transported to 10 local non-profits by volunteers.  Hundreds of people have come 
together for the common good. 

viii. Community Resources Commission-Georgia Styka, and Navendra Turmella 
Dedicated to the idea that all people of all ages deserve a community that cares for 
them and strives to help them in a time of need.  The emergency needs fund is 100% 
donations and 100% of emergency needs funds go to those in need.  The emergency 
needs fund goes to help residents avoid eviction and utility shut offs.  Meridian Cares 
provides an ambulance waiver for eligible residents, discounted bus passes from 
CATA, 240 students benefited from the 2023 backpack program with Kiwanis, 
residents sponsorship 262 families for holiday food assistance in 2023, and the baby 
bottle boomerang is a new donation option that serves not just to raise funds but 
also to spread the word about cares.  Goal of 2024 is to increase visibility of the 
emergency needs fund. 

ix. Communications Commission-Leslie Charles, Lisa Whiting-Dobson and Mike Nevells 
HOMTV is a model for Michigan and the Communication Commission wants HOMTV 
to remain viable and enviable despite the changing environment within the 
communications world.  The Commission plans to explore different sources of 
funding and is looking for more Commissioners.  Broadband Equity Access and 
Deployment (BEAD) program has begun a 30 day program to improve speed, 
reliability, and access. The Board has approved funding for new CAM equipment to 
support HOMTV.  Communications efforts start on the inside and reach far beyond 
the outside. 

x. Economic Development Corporation-Kim Thompson 
2023 was a quiet year for the EDC.  We have maintained Redevelopment ready status 
which allows access to grants.  Getting the mall designated as a PICA area was 
important to give more opportunities for the area.  In 2024, the EDC is supporting 
Motorfest, Pride, Juneteenth, Lunar New Year, and working with Lansing 501. 

xi. Board of Review-Kathy Birchen 
Ms Birchen gave an overview of how Board of Review works.  The bulk of meetings 
are in March with brief meetings in July and December.  The members receive 
mandatory training and serve to ensure the property values on the tax roll are 
accurate and the Board of Review has authority to change property values. 

xii. Corridor Improvement Authority-Chair Bruce Peffers 
In 2023, the Township Board approved TIF money for the CIA.  The funds will be 
used to develop a visual plan for the corridor with action items to implement. 

xiii. Local Officials Compensation Commission-Steve Vagnozzi 
Mr. Vagnozzi reminded residents that the Commission meets every 2 years to set 
salaries of elected officials.  In 2023, the Commission reviewed data from comparable 



Page 4 

communities and gave Meridian Township officials a 3% increase, the same as 
Township staff received. 

xiv. Lake Lansing Advisory Board-Curt Armbruster 
This Board is challenged to maintain water quality at Lake Lansing within a $90,000 
annual budget.  The budget is primarily used for annual water quality testing, surveys 
that lead to mechanical harvesting and sometimes chemical treatment to reduce plant 
biomass in the lake which makes the lake more usable.  Have just completed a natural 
shoreline demonstration project to show residents the benefits of a natural shoreline.  
Participated with Ingham County to have a second boat washing statement at the Boat 
Launch to clean boats before they are put into the lake to help prevent invasive species.  
Newsletter sent twice a year to residents in the assessment district and expanded to 
include Meadowbrook Subdivision.  Worked with Clinton County Drain Commission 
to address nutrients coming from the Meadowbrook Subdivision.  The Ingham County 
Drain Commission has indicated that the dam needs repairs and the Advisory Board 
has been working with the Drain Commission to communicate with residents.  In 
2024, the Advisory Board is planning to get a fish study, will continue education and 
outreach, as well as the annual maintenance.  

xv. Land Preservation Advisory Board-Kathleen Fay  
600,000 seeds have been harvested, 588,000 of them planted back into the preserves 
to build biodiversity.  Volunteers have picked up 3,500 lbs. of trash and removed 
2,500 lbs. of invasive plants.  14 vernal pools have been identified and 16 education 
programs held to teach residents about the pools.  In 2024, the goals are to increase 
inclusivity and improve management practices in the parks, particularly with 
prescribed burns.  Land Stewardship Coordinator Cambell has been appointed  to the 
advisory committee for Michigan Waterway Stewards. 

xvi. Zoning Board of Appeals-Anthony Bennett 
Goals have been to try to preserve the ideals of Meridian Township without strict 
adherence to the zoning laws when there is a viable reason to change. 

 
7. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson opened comments from the public at 7:48 pm 
 
Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson closed comments from the public at 7:48 pm 
 

8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Wilson moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Trezise 
 

VOICE VOTE YEAS:  Supervisor Pro Tem Hendrickson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, Trustee Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 6 - 0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 7:48 

 
__________________________________ 

Patricia Jackson 
Township Supervisor 

 
__________________________________ 

Deborah Guthrie 
Township Clerk 























 

 

9.D 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  April 2, 2024 
 
Re: Disposal of Surplus Equipment 
 

The following Motor Pool vehicles and equipment have been declared surplus by the 
Department of Public Works. We are requesting authorization to sell the vehicles at public 
auction, internet auction, direct sale to another municipality, or by sealed bid. 

Unit #117 
2014 Ford Explorer  
VIN# 1FM5K8AR1EGC60297 

 
9 – gas-powered weed whips (Parks Dept.) – The Parks Dept. purchased new 
electric weed whips. 

 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT. 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

9.E 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
  Melissa Massie 
  Director of Project Management 
 
Date:  March 26, 2024 
 
Re: Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) – Community 

Development Block Grant Housing Improving Local Livability (CHILL) 
Program – Public Participation Plan Amendment 

 
In November of 2023, Staff brought forward a package of items for approval in order to proceed 
with an application under MSHDA’s CHILL program. One of the items from that November approval 
was an update to the Township’s Public Participation Plan, to address some requirements of the 
funding, should our application be selected. The application was ultimately successful, securing 
$480,000 of State CDBG funds for lower income homeowners’ to make improvements to their 
homes. Staff recently received the official grant agreement, which the Supervisor signed and Staff is 
now moving forward into the next phase of the project, with an eye towards beginning work on 
homes this summer.  
 
As part of the grant agreement, it was noted that we needed to make further amendments to our 
Public Participation Plan. When we updated the plan in November, we utilized the language that was 
available from the State at that time. Subsequently, they have provided more detailed language for 
public participation plan expectations, which Staff is proposing to incorporate with this amendment. 
No functional changes are occurring from the previous plan, just more specificity in the 
requirements and the references to federal regulations. At this time, Staff would ask the Township 
Board to adopt this specific language to bring us into compliance with the State requirements to 
proceed with the CHILL grant process.  
 
 

Motion to approve the update to the Township’s Public Participation Plan, with the 
inclusion of specific language from MSHDA for Community Development Block Grant 
funded projects. 
 
  



 
 

 

 

Community Engagement Plan | November 2023 
Approved by the Meridian Township Board on November 9, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



2 
 

Table of Contents 2 
Community Engagement Statement 3 
Community Engagement Objectives 3 
Transparency in Governance 3-4 
Emergency Communications 4 
Diverse Means of Communications Methods 4 
Diverse Means of Distribution Methods 5 
Media Relations 5 
Public Relations 5 
Social Media Networking 6 
Brand Management 6-7 
Community Participation 7 
Open Meetings 7 
First Amendment 7 
ADA Compliance 7-8 
Public Hearing Notices/Legal Notices/Zoning Amendments 8 
Press Conferences 8 
Community Involvement 8 
Charrettes 8 
Surveys 8-9 
Committees/Focus Groups 9-10 
Third Party Compliance 10 
HOMTV 10 
CAMTV 10-11 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Projects 11



 
3 

 

Community Engagement Statement 

The Charter Township of Meridian strives to provide effective communications that meet 
Township goals and objectives as well as provide transparency in governance through a variety of 
methods to share ideas and information and understand the needs of the residents. 

Community Engagement Objectives 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will provide information by a diverse means of 
methods through the utilization of current and best communication practices keeping 
abreast of technologies and advancements in communications. 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will provide communications in relation to 
emergency communications, crisis communications, press conferences, policy 
governance, transparency in governance, ribbon cuttings and grand openings, 
Township events, public service announcements, and general public information. 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will encourage public participation allowing residents 
to voice their opinion, provide feedback, and comments. 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will encourage permitted use of the public rights of 
way with telecommunications providers to foster technology. 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will oversee video franchise compliance in 
accordance with Public Act 480, which created a uniform franchise agreement 
between franchising entities and video providers in the state of Michigan.  

• The Charter Township of Meridian will provide information and shared services to 
residents and to neighboring municipalities, shared service partners and regional 
partners. 

• The Charter Township of Meridian will gather insight and ideas that further the mission 
of providing information to Township residents. 

Transparency in Governance 

The highest priority of the Communications Department is to provide residents with increased 
access to transparency in governance through relevant information and in a timely manner 
through multimedia platforms including web, digital, and print. 

• Governance is not exclusive to government affairs. Governance includes 
businesses, nonprofits, nongovernment organizations, associations, or any group 
engaged in some purposeful activity. 

• Transparency refers to the availability of information to the general public and clarity 
about government rules, regulations, and decisions. 

• Transparent procedures include open meetings, financial disclosure statements, freedom 
of information legislation, budgetary review, and audits. 

• Transparent governance means not hiding anything from citizens, not engaging in shady 
deals, and not making whimsical or discretionary decisions. There are clear guidelines to 



 
4 

 

adhere to. Openness is encouraged. 
• Overall, transparent governance ensures that money is spent to its intended purpose. 

This also establishes trust. After all, the government is instituted for the purpose of 
serving the needs of the people in an efficient, honest, and effective way. Hence, desired 
goals or outcomes are met. 

Emergency Communications 

The Charter Township of Meridian will make public health and safety its top priority as outlined 
in the Board Policy Manual. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will provide public safety information before, during and after a 
disaster or emergency. Examples of community emergencies include, but are not limited to, 
extreme weather, large-scale power outages, pandemics, and active violence in the community. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will work with appropriate internal and external agencies to 
communicate effectively, appropriately, and efficiently including Police, Fire, the Emergency 
Management Team, and Ingham County 911. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will provide public notifications to as many people as possible 
within the service area. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will utilize all feasible communication outlets in the event of 
a local emergency, including website takeover messages on the Meridian Township website. 
Emergency communications displayed on HOMTV channel 21 are contingent upon on-site staff 
availability and may not be feasible outside of normal Township business hours.  

Diverse Means of Communications Methods 

The Charter Township of Meridian will provide information and encourage the engagement of 
citizen participation using a diverse means of methods utilizing current and best communication 
practices, keeping abreast of technologies and advancements in communications. 

• Digital Media: HOMTV, CAMTV, Social Sites, eNewsletters, Websites, Emails, 
Videos, eNotifications, digital Meridian Township wayfinding signs, and Capital 
Area Ingham County (Everbridge) Alerts. 

• Print Publications: Reports, Public Notices, Door Hangers, Mailers and Mailer 
Inserts, Fact Sheets, Brochures, Flyers, Magazines, Posters, and Banners. 

• Media Relations: Press Releases, Press Conferences, and Media Events. 

• Word of Mouth: Key Stakeholders, Community Influencers, Brand Advocates, and 
the General Public. 

The Charter Township of Meridian’s use of the above communication methods varies 
based on the topic being covered. Methods will be chosen based on the urgency of the 
communicated topic, the appropriateness of a method to discuss a topic, and the number 
of communication methods necessary to effectively communicate the topic.  

 



 
5 

 

Diverse Means of Distribution Methods 

The Charter Township of Meridian understands the diverse and broad methods in which 
people communicate, receive messages, and look for information. In an attempt to be as 
inclusive and as welcoming as possible, communications methods are distributed broadly. 

• Prime Meridian Magazine (22,000 delivered once per year): Distributed to each 
household in Meridian Township (19,000), 7 Meridian Township buildings, Meridian 
Senior Center, Haslett and Okemos Libraries, Neighborhood Associations and Choose 
Lansing (formerly known as the Greater Lansing Convention and Visitors Bureau).  

• Family Fun Guide (quarterly): Distributed digitally on Meridian Township’s website.  
• Event Flyers: Placed at 7 Meridian Township buildings (entryway doors, event 

bulletin board, bathroom door inserts), schools, and Haslett and Okemos libraries. 
• eNewsletters (monthly): Green Gazette, Playbook, Meridian Happenings; (every two 

months) Meridian Senior Center Newsletter. 
• Press Releases: Distributed to media outlets and various organizations within the 

Greater Lansing Region, based upon a media contact list managed and updated 3 times 
per year. 

• Social Networking: Shared information and events on relevant Township-owned sites. 

Media Relations 

The Charter Township of Meridian will work with the media for the purpose of informing the 
public of information in a consistent and credible manner, coordinating with people responsible 
for producing news and features in mass media. 

• Television Outlets: WILX 10, HOMTV, WKAR, WLNS 6, FOX 47, and ABC 53. 
• Newspaper/Magazines: Lansing State Journal, Lansing City Pulse, 517 Magazine, 

Michigan State University (MSU) State News, and Lansing Community College (LCC) 
Lookout. 

• Online Magazine Publications: Mlive.com, New Citizen’s Press. 
• Radio: Townsquare Media, MacDonald Broadcasting, Midwest Communications, Mike FM 

(101.7), WLNZ Radio (LCC), WILS (1320 AM),  
• Colleges/Universities/Public Schools: LCC, MSU, Ingham County Intermediate School District, 

Okemos Public Schools, and Haslett Public Schools. 
• Municipalities/Organizations: City of East Lansing, Choose Lansing (formerly Greater 

Lansing Convention & Visitors Bureau), Michigan Townships Association (MTA), and 
Michigan Municipal League (MML). 

Public Relations 

The Charter Township of Meridian will connect with the public and internal staff in a favorable 
manner in which to build mutually beneficial relationships. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will create materials to share with the media in a consistent 
and clear manner as detailed in the Charter Township of Meridian Brand Standards Guideline for 
media alerts, press releases, and other media related materials. 

 

 



 
6 

 

Social Media Networking 

The Charter Township of Meridian’s goal is to share and exchange information with those 
interested in topics relating to the Meridian Township community. It is Township policy to accept 
the majority of comments made to the Township-operated pages. Posted comments and images 
by the public do not necessarily represent the views of Meridian Township or its employees. 

 
The Charter Township of Meridian will strive to support the direction set by the Township Board 
through its policies. Social Media Policies related to the Meridian Township Board Policy Manual 
include: 

• Treatment of Consumers 
• Communication and Support to the Board 
• Regional Cooperation 
• Community Linkage 
• Preamble 

 
The Charter Township of Meridian welcomes comments on Meridian Township’s social 
media accounts. The purpose of Township social pages is to present matters of public 
interest to the Meridian Township community. 

 
The Charter Township of Meridian encourages the public to submit local photos, questions, 
comments, and concerns. 

The Charter Township of Meridian expects ideas and information to be shared in a respectful 
manner on any social media account operated by the Meridian Township as outlined in the 
External Social Media Policy. 

 
The Charter Township of Meridian does not agree with or endorse every comment that 
individuals post on social media sites operated by the Township. 

Brand Management 

By using the 2017 Charter Township of Meridian Brand Standards Guidelines, employees at all 
levels will be able to craft the voice and style of Meridian Township in a fashion that is on par 
with promotional materials, internal documents and other key communications. These guidelines 
will be used consistently and strategically as the standard for all materials produced to represent 
the Meridian Township brand. 

Meridian Township strives to work with our welcoming, family friendly neighborhoods and 
continue to lead and foster growth. Meridian Township celebrates the vibrant, active lifestyle of 
its residents, business owners and visitors. Brand messaging will reflect the Board Policy 1.0 
Global Ends Statement in the Board Policy Manual which defines the vision and mission 
statements. 

• Vision Statement: Our vision is to achieve and maintain a welcoming community with 
the highest quality of life for our residents. We believe the highest quality of life 
encompasses sustained or enhanced natural environment, health and safety, prosperity, 
cultural heritage, and diversity. 

• Mission Statement: Providing a safe and welcoming sustainable prime community. 



 
7 

 

• Develop relationships with the Township’s target market, collaborate with 
brand ambassadors and brand advocates, key stakeholders, and constituents. 

• Create brand messaging in all communications efforts which reflects the vision and 
mission statements. 

Community Participation 

The Charter Township of Meridian will provide a variety of opportunities and ways for people to 
become involved and participate. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will offer a diverse variety of opportunities for community 
members to become involved in ways to give back to the community such as events, volunteering, 
sponsorship opportunities, regional and nonprofit partnerships, public service, and more. 

Open Meetings 

The Charter Township of Meridian will be in accordance with the Open Meetings Act PA 267 of 
1976; to require certain meetings of certain public bodies to be open to the public, to require 
notice and the keeping of minutes of meetings; to provide for enforcement; to provide for 
invalidation of governmental decisions under certain circumstances, to provide penalties, and to 
repeal certain acts and parts of acts. 

Charter Township of Meridian Official Township Meetings are open to the public, except closed 
session meetings as provided for in the Act. 

Each Charter Township of Meridian official public meeting allows the opportunity for members 
of the public to make an up to 3-minute public comment unless prior approval for additional time 
for good cause is obtained prior to the meeting. Members of the public have the opportunity to 
make public comment at the beginning and end of the meeting, as well as during public hearings. 

First Amendment 

The Charter Township of Meridian will uphold the First Amendment of Speakers’ Rights to 
Freedom of Speech except speech that is not protected, such as true threats of violence, 
incitements to take illegal action or is harmful in certain other ways as determined by the 
Supreme Court. 

The Charter Township of Meridian recognizes and upholds Freedom of Expression in different 
types of forums as described by the Supreme Court; traditional public forums, designated forums 
and limited public forums. 

The Charter Township of Meridian upholds the Freedom of the Press to circulate opinions in print 
without censorship by the government. 

ADA Compliance 

Charter Township of Meridian Meetings are held in a facility accessible to persons with disabilities. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will accommodate individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services. 

Individuals requiring disability services should contact the Township Manager’s office. A ten-day 
notice is required. 



 
8 

 

The Charter Township of Meridian utilizes Swagit to provide closed captioning on official 
Township meetings televised on the HOMTV website.  

The Charter Township of Meridian uses Monsido to provide accessibility features on its website, 
meridian.mi.us.  

The Charter Township of Meridian utilizes AbleVu in some of its facilities, allowing visitors to 
access walk-through tours, accessibility checklists, and other details before entering these facilities.  

The Charter Township of Meridian strives to provide electronic documents, videos and information 
technology accessible to people with disabilities. The Department of Justice is currently developing 
regulations specifically addressing the accessibility of goods and services offered via the web. 
Meridian Township follows WCAG 2.0 Guidelines as a tool for compliance. 

Public Hearing Notices/Legal Notices/Legal Ads/Zoning Amendments 

Statutes require these processes be noticed in a newspaper of general distribution in Meridian 
Township, as well as mailed to neighbors within 300 feet at least 15 days prior to the meeting. 

Notices are sent to the local newspaper, posted on the Meridian Township website, and displayed 
on the Official Township Meetings Bulletin Board and entry doors at the Township Municipal 
Building. 

Press Conferences 

Meetings organized for the purpose of officially distributing information to the media, making an 
official announcement, and answering questions from the media. A press conference is led by the 
Township Manager, executive management, and/or appointed press liaison. 

Community Involvement 

The Charter Township of Meridian will collaborate with regional partners, businesses and 
community members to provide opportunities for involvement in areas of economic 
development, master planning, decision-making, and outreach. 

The Charter Township of Meridian will offer a diverse method of opportunities for 
community members to become involved and to give back to the community such as events, 
volunteering, sponsorship, nonprofit partnerships, public service, and more. 

Charrettes 

The Charter Township of Meridian will work with regional partners to host charrettes and 
encourage community involvement in charrettes. Charrettes are meetings in which stakeholders 
take part in a participatory planning process in an effort to collaboratively design a solution to a 
problem. 

The Charter Township of Meridian encourages charrettes as an opportunity for residents to 
provide community input and feedback for designers and planners as an inclusive participatory 
process of planning. 

Surveys 

The Charter Township of Meridian will utilize online and paper surveys for purposes of 



 
9 

 

gathering public opinion and data for projects, initiatives, and key decisions. 

Committees/Focus Groups 

The Charter Township of Meridian will bring together stakeholders for collaborative decision-
making regarding Township operations, policies, and key decisions. Stakeholders include, but are 
not limited to: 

• Regional Partners 
o Michigan Economic Development Corporation 
o Michigan State Housing Development Authority 
o Lansing Economic Area Partnership 
o Tri-County Regional Planning Commission 
o Ingham County Road Department 
o Michigan Department of Transportation 
o Tri-County Office on Aging 
o Capital Area Transit Authority 

• Non-Profits/Associations 
o Rotary 
o Kiwanis 
o Masons 
o Capital Area District Library 
o Capital Area Housing Partnership 

• Education Providers 
o Okemos Public Schools 
o Haslett Public Schools 
o East Lansing Public Schools 
o Williamston Public Schools 
o Michigan State University 
o Lansing Community College 
o Cooley Law School 
o Ingham County Intermediate School District 

• Residential 
o Nextdoor App Contacts 
o Okemos, Michigan Community Facebook Group 
o Haslett Community Facebook Group 
o Liaison for Inter-Neighborhood Cooperation (LINC) 
o Neighborhood Leaders Meeting database via Police/Clerks Office 

• Businesses 
o Economic Development Corporation 
o Corridor Improvement Authority 
o Downtown Development Authority 
o Meridian Area Businesses Association 
o Lansing Regional Chamber of Commerce 

• Neighboring Municipalities/Shared Services Providers 
o City of East Lansing 
o Williamstown Township 
o Alaiedon Township 
o Bath Township 



 
10 

 

o Delhi Township 
o City of Lansing 

 
Third Party Compliance 

The policies and procedures in this plan will apply to any third-party consultants who assist with 
Township planning and their adherence is expected. Developer(s) interested in working in the 
Charter Township of Meridian are encouraged to engage with the Director of Community Planning 
and Development and/or the Economic Development Director for early feedback on the project. In 
addition, it is strongly recommended that developers engage local residents for early input and 
support of the project. These directors can assist your engagement process. 

HOMTV 

The Government Access Cable Television station serving the Charter Township of Meridian is 
known as HOMTV. The operating policies of HOMTV are based upon the Goals and Objectives of 
the Communications Commission, as approved by the Meridian Township Board. Programming 
shall be developed in accordance with the "Goal Statements" adopted and periodically revised by 
the Township Communications Commission and the Township Board. 

• HOMTV is responsible for providing television coverage of the regular meetings of the 
Township Board, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, and Environmental 
Commission, up to a total of six meetings per month. Live coverage of regularly scheduled 
Township meetings shall be the number one programming priority of HOMTV. Video 
recordings of the live coverage of Township meetings are not to be edited for replay as a 
whole. 

• HOMTV shall present television programming pertaining to all elections held in 
Meridian Township. Special efforts shall be made to produce programming in "even 
year" Township elections, with a maximum emphasis on elections held to fill positions 
on the Township Board of Trustees and/or the Park Commission. All registered 
candidates shall be afforded an equal opportunity to be included in this coverage. 

• HOMTV may be watched at the following locations:  
o Comcast Channel 21 in East Lansing and Meridian Township 
o www.homtv.net 
o www.youtube.com/user/21HOMTV 
o http://meridianmi.swagit.com/live 

CAMTV 

It is the mission of CAMTV to form a Consortium that supports programming supplied by 
‘residents’ and organizations from the region to provide subscribers of the Lansing regional 
COMCAST and AT&T U-verse systems greater access to information stretching across 
communities. 

• CAMTV Purpose: Provide programming relevant to the region and its local communities 
with the most technically sound playback operating system and programming at the 
lowest reasonable cost. 

• CAMTV Vision: Capital Area Media Television will be the regional television source for 
non-profit and municipal information. 



 
11 

 

• CAMTV Mission: Capital Area Media Television will form a Consortium that supports 
programming supplied by residents and organizations across the Lansing region, 
providing greater access to relevant information stretching across communities. 

• CAMTV Goal: Collaborate resources to create sustainability of the channel, to 
maximize services and technology, to promote efficiency and sustainability, and to 
save dollars by pooling resources. 

• CAMTV programming content must not include commercial time or commercial 
content, political campaigning, obscenity, indecency, slander, libel or defamation as 
described in the CAMTV Programming Content Requirements. 

Federally Funded Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Projects 

In addition to the community engagement previously described in this Public Participation Plan, the 
Charter Township of Meridian will follow the additional steps on any federally funded CDBG project.  

• Provide and encourage citizen participation, particularly by low- and moderate-income 
persons who reside in slum and blighted areas in which funds are proposed to be used. 

• Ensure that residents will be given reasonable and timely access to local meetings, 
consistent with accessibility and reasonable accommodation requirements in accordance 
with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the regulations at 24 CFR part 8, and 
the Americans with Disabilities Act and the regulations at 28 CFR parts 35 and 36, as 
applicable, as well as information and records relating to the unit of local government's 
proposed and actual use of CDBG funds.  

• Furnish citizens information, including but not limited to: a. The amount of CDBG funds 
expected to be made available for the current fiscal year (including the grant and 
anticipated program income); b. The range of activities that may be undertaken with the 
CDBG funds; c. The estimated amount of the CDBG funds proposed to be used for activities 
that will meet the national objective of benefit to low- and moderate-income persons; and d. 
The proposed CDBG activities likely to result in displacement and the unit of general local 
government’s anti-displacement and relocation plans required under §570.488.  

• Provide technical assistance to groups that are representative of persons of low- and 
moderate-income that request assistance in developing proposals (including proposed 
strategies and actions to affirmatively further fair housing) in accordance with the 
procedures developed by the State. Such assistance need not include providing funds to 
such groups.  

• Provide for a minimum of two public hearings for the purpose of obtaining residents' views 
and responding to proposals and questions. The first public hearing must be held prior to 
application submission to the MSHDA and the second near the end of the grant term. 
Together the hearings must cover housing needs (including affirmatively furthering fair 
housing), development of proposed activities, and a review of program performance. There 
must be reasonable notice of the hearings (at least 5 days) and they must be held at times 
and accessible locations convenient to potential or actual beneficiaries, with 
accommodations for persons with disabilities. Public hearings shall be conducted in a 
manner to meet the needs of non-English speaking residents where a significant number of 
non-English speaking residents can reasonably be expected to participate. If 51% of the 
expected participants are non-English speaking, the hearings will be advertised in a non-
English publication available to those residents. A person fluent in the non-English language 
must be available at the public hearing.  



 
12 

 

•  Provide citizens with reasonable advance notice of, and an opportunity to comment on, 
proposed activities in an application to the State. For grants already made, activities which 
are proposed to be added, deleted, or substantially changed from the unit of general local 
government's application to the State. Substantially changed means changes made in terms 
of purpose, scope, location, or beneficiaries as defined by criteria established by the State. 
MICHIGAN STATE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY CDBG CHAPTER 3 – CITIZEN 
PARTICIPATION 01/10/24 3  

• Provide citizens the address, phone number, and times for submitting complaints and 
grievances, and provide timely written answers to written complaints and grievances, 
within 15 working days where practicable.  

 
Technical Assistance 
 
The applicant must provide technical assistance to facilitate citizen participation when requested, 
particularly to groups’ representative of persons of LMI. The level and type of technical assistance 
will be determined by the UGLG based upon the specific needs of the community's residents.  
 
Complaints  
 
Each UGLG must have written citizen and administrative complaint procedures which provide the 
address, phone number and times for submitting complaints and provides for a maximum of 15 
working days, where practical, for a written response. The written citizen participation plan must 
provide citizens with information relative to these procedures or, at a minimum, provide citizens 
with the information relative to the location and hours at which times they may obtain a copy of 
these written procedures. In Citizen Participation Plan, the complaint procedure has been included 
in the citizen participation plan. All written citizen complaints that identify deficiencies relative to 
the UGLG’s community development program merit full and prompt consideration and must be 
handled according to the UGLG's written complaints procedure. Good faith attempts must be made 
to satisfactorily resolve the complaint at the local level. Complaints must be filed with the chief 
elected official, or his/her designee, who will investigate and review the complaint. A written 
response from the chief elected official to the complainant must be made within 15 working days, 
where feasible. UGLGs must have additional complaint procedures in place as identified throughout 
the Policy Manual. 
 



 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

9.F 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
Date:  March 27, 2024 
 
Re: Reschedule Public Hearing for May 9th – Recreational Marijuana License 

Applications in Zone 3 
 
The Township Board opened a Recreational Marijuana License Application window between 
January 9 and January 26 of this year. In that time period, five applications for licenses were 
received. Two of those license applications were submitted for Zone 3, necessitating a formal 
competitive review process. The Recreational Marijuana License Review Committee, consisting of 
Community Planning and Development Director Schmitt, Neighborhoods and Economic 
Development Director Clark, and Manager Walsh’s designee, Assistant Planner Chapman, have held 
the required public hearing and reviewed the applications for completeness against the standards 
established by the Township Board for review of the licenses applications.   
 
As part of the licensure process, the Township Board is required to hold a public hearing for each 
zone/applicant, prior to making a final decision on issuance. At the March 19th Township Board 
meeting, a public hearing was scheduled was scheduled for April 16th. Due to some unforeseen 
scheduling issues, this public hearing needs to be rescheduled for May 9th. After the public hearing, 
a decision on the license application in Zone 3 can be made at a future Township Board meeting.  
 
Motion to reschedule a public hearing for May 9th for the Recreational Marijuana License 
applications in Zone 3.  



 

 

11.A 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Younes Ishraidi, P.E., Township Engineer 

 
Date:  April 2, 2024 
 
Re: 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Public Hearing  
 

Since 1999, the Township has developed a proactive approach to minimize residential sidewalk 
hazards and potential liability to the Township by adopting a sidewalk replacement program. In 
accordance with ordinance Section 58-32b, and Section 58-32d, the Township Board may order 
the repair of defective sidewalks. If the property owner fails to repair the sidewalk within 20 days 
after written notification, the Township may repair or replace the sidewalk and bill the cost of 
construction to the property owner. 

The Township Board approved the 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalks Special Assessment District 
#20 - Resolution #3 on September 6, 2022, which approved the improvement to repair the 
sidewalks in the following areas: 

Sections 8, 10, 11, 12, 28, 29, 32, 33, 34 and 35 to continue the sidewalk replacement program. The 
proposed project areas include the following subdivisions: Briarwood; Briarwood #3, #4, #5, #6, 
#9, #11; Chippewa Woods #2; Ember Oaks; Heritage Hills; Heritage Hills #2, #3, #4; Hidden 
Valley; Hidden Valley #2, #3, #4; Hillbrook Park; Hillbrook Park #1, #2; Kinawa View; Kinawa 
View #2, #4; Okemos Square; Sanctuary; and Wood Valley. 
 
Notices were sent to each property owner with a defective sidewalk. Work then began after the 20 
day period. This project was not completed until the 2023 construction season due to the number 
of repairs required and contractor availability.  
 
All work has been completed, and the assessments have been calculated for each impacted parcel.  
The assessment for each property varies with the amount of sidewalk that was repaired.  
 
The attached 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk SAD #20 - Resolution #4, adopted by the Township 
Board on Tuesday, March 5, 2024, filed the proposed final special assessment roll with the 
Township Clerk and set the date for the public hearing on Tuesday, April 2, 2024.  The purpose of 
the public hearing is to hear comments in favor and/or objections to the proposed 2022 Order to 
Maintain Sidewalk Special Assessment District #20 Special Assessment Roll. 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Memo from the March 5, 2024 Board Meeting 



 

 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
March 5, 2024 
Re: 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for April 2, 2024 

2. Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for April 2, 2024  
3. Notice of Public Hearing 
4. Proposed Special Assessment Roll Legal Description 
5. Certificate of Supervisor 
6. Affidavit of Mailing 
7. 2022 Order to Maintain Brochure 
8. 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk SAD #20 Maps 
9. Proposed Special Assessment Roll 



 

 

12.C 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Younes Ishraidi, P.E., Township Engineer 

 
Date:  March 5, 2024 
 
Re: 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for April 

2, 2024 
 

Since 1999, the Township has developed a proactive approach to minimize residential sidewalk 
hazards and potential liability to the Township by adopting a sidewalk replacement program. In 
accordance with ordinance Section 58-32b, and Section 58-32d, the Township Board may order 
the repair of defective sidewalks. If the property owner fails to repair the sidewalk within 20 days 
after written notification, the Township may repair or replace the sidewalk and bill the cost of 
construction to the property owner. 

The Township Board approved the 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalks Special Assessment District 
#20 - Resolution #3 on September 6, 2022, which approved the improvement to repair the 
sidewalks in the following areas: 

Sections 8, 10, 11, 12, 28, 29, 32, 33, 34 and 35 to continue the sidewalk replacement program. The 
proposed project areas include the following subdivisions: Briarwood; Briarwood #3, #4, #5, #6, 
#9, #11; Chippewa Woods #2; Ember Oaks; Heritage Hills; Heritage Hills #2, #3, #4; Hidden 
Valley; Hidden Valley #2, #3, #4; Hillbrook Park; Hillbrook Park #1, #2; Kinawa View; Kinawa 
View #2, #4; Okemos Square; Sanctuary; and Wood Valley. 
 
Notices were sent to each property owner with a defective sidewalk. Work then began after the 20 
day period. This project was not completed until the 2023 construction season due to the number 
of repairs required and contractor availability.  
 
All work has been completed, and the assessments have been calculated for each impacted parcel.  
The assessment for each property varies with the amount of sidewalk that was repaired.  
 
The attached 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk SAD #20-Resolution #4, files the proposed final 
special assessment roll with the Township Clerk and sets the date for a public hearing on Tuesday, 
April 2, 2024.  The purpose of the public hearing is to hear comments in favor and/or objections to 
the proposed 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Special Assessment District #20 Special 
Assessment Roll. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
March 5, 2024 
Re: 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for April 2, 2024 

Proposed Motion: 
 
MOVE TO APPROVE THE 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 RESOLUTION #4, WHICH FILES THE PROPOSED SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT ROLL WITH THE OFFICE OF THE TOWNSHIP CLERK AND SETS THE 
DATE FOR A PUBLIC HEARING ON TUESDAY, APRIL 2, 2024. 

 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution #4 - Set Public Hearing for April 2, 2024  
2. Notice of Public Hearing 
3. Proposed Special Assessment Roll Legal Description 
4. Certificate of Supervisor 
5. Affidavit of Mailing 
6. 2022 Order to Maintain Brochure 
7. 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk SAD #20 Maps 
8. Proposed Special Assessment Roll 



2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 4 

 
 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
Michigan  48864-1198, (517) 853-4000, on Tuesday, March 5, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 
PRESENT:             
 
              
 
ABSENT:             
 
 

The following resolution was offered by        and 
 
supported by ____________________________. 

 
 

 WHEREAS, by resolution adopted September 6, 2022, the Township Board of the Charter 
Township of Meridian, determined to construct the more particularly hereinafter described public 
improvements to repair sidewalk and assess the cost thereof to the property deemed benefited by 
said improvements, all in accordance with Act 188, Public Acts of Michigan, 1954, as amended; and 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Supervisor has prepared and reported to the Township Board a special 
assessment roll assessing the cost of said improvements to the property benefited thereby with the 
proper certificate attached thereto. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, as follows: 
 
 
1. Said special assessment roll shall be filed with the Office of the Township Clerk and shall be 

available for public examination during regular working hours on regular working days. 
 
2. The Township Board shall meet at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, April 2, 2024, at the Meridian 

Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Michigan, in the Charter Township 
of Meridian, for the purpose of reviewing and hearing objections to the special assessment 
roll. 

 
3. The Township Clerk shall cause notice of such hearing and the filing of the assessment roll to 

be published twice in a newspaper of general circulation in the Township, prior to the date 
of the hearing.  The first publication shall be at least ten (10) days before the hearing pursuant 
to Act 162, Public Acts of 1962.  The Clerk shall also cause notice of such hearing to be mailed 
by first class mail to all property owners in the special assessment district shown on the 
current assessment rolls of the Township, at least ten (10) full days before the date of said 
hearing.  Said notice as published and mailed shall be in substantially the following form:  
(SEE ATTACHED) 

  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
 

2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 
TO THE RECORD OWNERS OF, OR PARTIES IN INTEREST IN, THE FOLLOWING PROPERTY 
CONSTITUTING THE PROPOSED SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT: 
 

(SEE OTHER SIDE FOR LEGAL DESCRIPTION) 
 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a special assessment roll for the 2022 Order to Maintain 
Sidewalk Special Assessment District #20 (maintain by removal and replacement of sidewalk in 
various locations in the Township) has been prepared and is on file in the Office of the Township 
Clerk for public examination.  

 
Said special assessment roll has been prepared for the purpose of assessing the cost of the 

above described public improvements to the property benefited therefrom.  All questions and/or 
concerns should be directed to Meridian Township Department of Public Works & Engineering at 
(517) 853-4440. 
 
 TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Township Board will meet on Tuesday, April 2, 2024, at 
6:00 p.m. at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI  48864-1198, 
for the purpose of reviewing said special assessment roll and hearing objections thereto. 
 
An owner or party in interest, or his or her agent, may appear in person at the hearing to protest the 
special assessment, or shall be permitted to file his or her appearance or protest by letter with the 
Township Clerk before the close of this hearing, and his or her personal appearance is not required.  
The owner or any person having an interest in the real property who protests in person or in writing 
at the hearing may file a written appeal of the special assessment with the Michigan Tax Tribunal within 
30 days after the confirmation of the special assessment roll. 
 
 
 
Your special assessment is proposed to be $  . 
 
 
Date:     
 Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
 Charter Township of Meridian  
 
  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

Briarwood:  Lot 7, 8 &9 exc W 79’; 16, 21, 26, 41, 46 entire lot 47 exc N 74’. Briarwood #3: Lot 69, 
72, 74, 76, 78, 88, 92, 95, 106, 108 exc beg at NW cor of Lot 108, S 82 deg 07’38” E 117.49’ alng N’ly 
ln of Lot 108 NE cor th due S 5.79’ alng E ln th N 79 deg 21’05” W 118.42 ‘ to POB also exc  30 ft. 
Briarwood #4: Lot 130, 131, 132, 142, 143, 159, 163, 167. Briarwood #5: Lot 194, 195, 196, 199, 
212, 214, 228, 257; 268, 269, 270, 278 & S’ly 10 ‘ of Lot 277; 284, 290, 291, 293, Nature Park. 
Briarwood #6: Lot 294, 308, 309, 311, 318, 330, 334, 335, 343. Briarwood #9:  Lot 372. Briarwood 
#11:  Lot 397, 409, 418 exc beg @ the S’ly cor sd lot-NW’ly alng the SW’ly  lot ln 150 ft to the w’ly cor 
Lot 418-SE’ly to a pt on SE’ly lot ln 6,72’ NE’ly of sd S’ly lot cor-SW’ly on SE’ly lot ln 6.72 ft to the POB. 
Chippewa Woods #2:  Lot 53. Ember Oaks: Lot 9, 16. Heritage Hills: Lot 1, 7, 13 exc the W 11’ 
thereof; 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 27, 28, 33, 41, 45, 51, 52. Heritage Hills #2:  Lot 64, 67. Heritage Hills 
#3: Lot 75 & S10’ of Lot 76, also beg at SW cor sd Lot 75-W 10’ alng ext of S ln of sd Lot 75-N 95’ pll 
with W ln of Lots 75 &76-E 10’ to W ln of sd Lot 76-S 95’ to POB; 83, 94, 95, 105, 110, 118. Heritage 
Hills #4:  Lot 133, 135, 149, 150, 195, 200, 212, 214, 218 exc S 2’; 229. Hidden Valley: Lot 5, 6, 11 
exc 2 ft. Hidden Valley #2:  Lot 34. Hidden Valley #3: Lot 36. Hidden Valley #4: Lot 60.  Hillbrook 
Park: Lot 6, 9, 12, 16, 18, 21, 25, 28, 29, 41, 45, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 58, 61, 67, 72, 78, 79, 84. 
Hillbrook Park #1:  Lot 86. Hillbrook Park #2: Lot 95, 99, 101, 112, 122, 123, 124, 125, 128. 
Kinawa View:  Lot 7, 9, 11, 16. Kinawa View #2:  Lot 49, 63, 74, 75, 76, 83, 89. Kinawa View #4:  
Lot 124. Okemos Square:  Lot 1 also a part of Lot 2 said sub desc as beg @ the NW cor Lot 2-N89 deg 
41’31”E 134.16 ft on N lot ln – S 11 deg 26’ 49” W 9.57 N86 deg 15’ 21”W 132.57 ft to POB; 25 26, 28, 
29, 47, 53, 63. Sanctuary:  Lot 46. Wood Valley:  Lot 46, which are located in Sections 8, 10, 11, 12, 
28, 29, 32, 33, 34 and 35, of Meridian Township. 

 
  



2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk  
Special Assessment District #20 
Resolution No. 4 
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
4. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions of this 

resolution are hereby rescinded. 
 
 
ADOPTED: 
 
 YEAS:            
 
             
 
 NAYS:            
 
Resolution declared adopted. 
 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of 
Meridian, Ingham County, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of 
proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on Tuesday, March 5, 2024. 
 
            
     Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
     Charter Township of Meridian 
  



 

 
2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 

 
-- CERTIFICATE OF SUPERVISOR – 

 
 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, Patricia H. Jackson, Supervisor of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, 
hereby certify that the attached 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Special Assessment District #20 
Special Assessment Roll was made by me pursuant to the resolution of the Township Board of said 
Charter Township of Meridian heretofore adopted on March 5, 2024, and that in making such 
assessment roll, to the best of my judgment, I conformed in all respects to the directions contained in 
such resolution and the Statutes of the State of Michigan. 
 
            
             Patricia H. Jackson, Supervisor 
 
 
DATED: 
 
 Subscribed and sworn to before me this   day of    , 2024. 
 
 
 
 
            
 
       Notary Public, Ingham County, MI 
       My Commission expires:     
       Acting in Ingham County 

 
 



 

AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING 
 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of Michigan, 
Ingham County, Michigan, depose and say that I personally prepared for mailing and mailed by first 
class mail, on   , a notice of hearing, a true copy of which is 
attached hereto and made a part hereof, to each property owner of or party in interest in property 
located within the special assessment district described in the attached notice, whose name appears 
upon the last local tax assessment records for ad valorem tax purposes, which has been reviewed by 
the local board of review as supplemented by any subsequent changes in the names or the addresses 
of such owners or parties listed thereon; that I personally checked each envelope against the list of 
such owners or parties in interest shown by said tax assessment roll and that each envelope was 
properly addressed to each owner or party in interest as shown on said tax assessment roll; that each 
such envelope had contained therein the appropriate notice of the aforesaid hearing, was securely 
sealed, with postage fully prepaid thereon for first-class delivery, and was properly addressed; that I 
personally placed all of said envelopes in a United States Post Office receptacle in Okemos, Michigan, 
on said date; that said notice referred to a hearing scheduled for April 2, 2024, before the Board of 
the Charter Township of Meridian. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature this   

day of  , 2024. 
 

   
 Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
 Charter Township of Meridian 
 
 
 
        
 
Notary Public, Ingham County 
My Commission Expires:   
Acting in Ingham County, Michigan 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
Department of Public Works 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 
517.853.4440     dpw@meridian.mi.us 

 
2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 
 

 

  

 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

ORDER-TO-MAINTAIN SIDEWALK PROGRAM 

 

Why has my sidewalk been chosen for replacement? 

Township inspectors found certain sections of the sidewalk abutting your property need to be replaced to make the 
sidewalk safer. This inspection is part of a yearly program created to replace defective sidewalk. Sidewalk maintenance 
is important because it may save a pedestrian from injury and you from an expensive lawsuit. 
 
Why is replacement necessary? 

Removal and replacement is necessary to provide reasonably safe and accessible sidewalks.  
 
How can I replace the sidewalk? 

You have three options: 

1. Take no action and allow the Township’s contractor to replace the sidewalk as part of the sidewalk 
maintenance program. 

2. Hire your own contractor. 
3. Perform the work yourself. 

If you elect to hire a contractor or do the work yourself, you must obtain a permit from the Department of Public Works. 
Application for a permit is free of charge for both contractors and homeowners. All work must be completed in 
accordance with the standards and specifications of Meridian Township. Copies of the standards and specifications are 
available from the Department of Public Works. An inspection is required when forms are ready and at pour. 

If you do nothing, the Township’s contractor will be in your area and will replace the sidewalk at your expense, and you 
will be billed as explained in this brochure. You do not have to obtain a permit if the work is done by the Township’s 
contractor.   
 
Can I make temporary repairs instead of replacement or leveling?  

No, filling vertical or horizontal gaps or displacements by placing mortar or asphalt is not considered a permanent repair. 
 
How much will replacing the defective sidewalk cost? 

Your exact cost will be determined after completion of the work; however your estimated cost is indicated on the 
enclosed “Notice of Public Hearing”, and is on file with the Township Clerk. You may contact the Department of Public 
Works for a detailed breakdown of your costs and the location of the sidewalk to be replaced. 

You are responsible for 100% of the sidewalk across your frontage. If you own a residential corner lot, the Township 
will pay for 40% of the cost of the sidewalk replacement along the street to which the house is not addressed. The 
Township will pay 100% for ramp replacement at the street intersection. 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:dpw@meridian.mi.us


CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
Department of Public Works 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 
517.853.4440     dpw@meridian.mi.us 

 
2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 
 

 

  

 
How will I be billed? 

You will receive a bill, called a special assessment, in June 2023, with a due date of July 1, 2023. The assessment may 
be paid in full with one payment (in 2023), or over 5 years at 5% interest per year. Please do not make any payments 
until after you receive this bill. 

The Township sidewalk contractor will complete the work over the Fall of 2022. Once the sidewalk repairs have been 
completed, a Township inspector will measure the exact dimensions of the replaced sidewalk. Your special assessment 
will be based on these measurements.   

 (Please note you will receive a second Township Board "Notice of Hearing" in early 2023 after the contractor has 
completed all of the sidewalk replacements. It will state the exact cost of your sidewalk repairs. The purpose of the 
second hearing is for the public to comment on the proposed assessments.) 
 
What about damage caused by trees or utility structures? 

Where tree roots have displaced the sidewalk they will be removed prior to new sidewalk installation. A healthy tree 
should survive this process. 

Property owners are responsible for replacement of all sidewalk damaged by tree roots whether the tree is on public or 
private land. The Township will pay for 100% of the cost for sidewalk directly damaged by Township manhole covers 
or water valves. 
 
Will the contractor restore my lawn after the work? 

Usually only a few inches of grass adjacent to the replaced sidewalk is uprooted. This strip will be filled with topsoil, 
seeded, and mulched after the concrete forms are removed.   
 
How do I protect my sprinkler system? 

If you have a sprinkler system or private underground wires (i.e. invisible fence) they must be marked prior to 
construction. Contact the person that installed your lines for a detailed layout. 
 
May I have private work done by the Township’s contractor? 

You may have additional work (driveways, approaches, patios, etc.) performed under a private agreement between you 
and the Township contractor. You also must be sure that you are not paying the Township contractor directly for work 
to be done under their contract with the Township. 

The Township will not become involved in disputes between you and the contractor for private work. You and the 
contractor must negotiate the price, timing, restoration, and payment terms for all private work. 
 
What about tree branches and other vegetation that obstruct the sidewalk? 

The property owner is responsible for removal of all obstructions; including vegetation such as tree limbs, branches, 
shrubs, and bushes and other objects; that interfere with the safe use of the sidewalk. The area to be kept clear is one (1) 
foot from the edges of the sidewalk and eight (8) feet above the sidewalk. 
 
If I still have questions, whom should I contact? 

Department of Public Works at (517) 853-4440 or DPW@MERIDIAN.MI.US. 
  

mailto:dpw@meridian.mi.us
mailto:DPW@meridian.mi.us


Raby Rd

Haslett Rd

E Lake Lansing Rd

O
ke

m
os

 R
d

D
ob

ie
 R

d
W Grand River Ave

M
ar

sh
 R

d

S 
H

ag
a d

or
n  

R
d

Po
w

el
l R

d

#

Kinawa Dr

Mount Hope Rd

Bennett Rd

Burcham Dr

G
ar

c i
n  

D
r

N
ak

om
a 

D
r

Hatch Rd

Central Park Dr

Sh
aw

 S
t

Tihart Rd

Pa
rk

 L
ak

e 
R

d

O
ak

w
oo

d 
D

r

Bois Ile Dr

Seneca D
r

M
an

it
ou

 D
r

Po
tt

er
 S

t

Ed
so

n 
St

A
rb

or
 D

r

B
ay

on
ne

 A
ve

M
-7

8

E Grand River Ave

Osage Dr

N
 H

ag
ad

or
n 

R
d

Hul
et

t R
d

Kittanset Dr

River Ter

Ta
co

m
a 

B
l v

d

Hannah Blvd

Seminole Dr

Shawnee Trl

Nemoke Trl

Heritage Ave

W
ar

dc
l if

f D
r

Kent St

Yuma Trl

Sylvan Glen Rd

O
tt

aw
a  

D
r

M
ad i so n Av e

Jo
 P

as
s

Lake DrBu
en

a 
Pk

y

Tamarack Dr

Lagoon Dr

Ch
ip

pe
w

a 
D

r

Woodfield Rd

Loon Ln

Se
qu

oi
a 

Tr
l

La
c 

du
 M

on
t D

r

G
re

e n
w

oo
d 

D
r

H
ill

cr
es

t  A
ve

Quarry Rd

DRIVEWAY

5th Ave

Newman Rd

H
a g

ad
o r

n 
R

d

Kewanee Way

Riverwood Dr

Eyde Pky

Fairhills D
r

Franklin St

Ch
er

ry
 H

ill
 D

r

W
au

sa
u 

R
d

Cambria Dr

Tw
inging D

r

E 
B

ro
o k

fi e
l d

 D
r

Navaho Trl

V
ic

er
oy

 D
r

Arrowhead Rd

Sower Blvd

Indian  G
le n D

r

Wild Iris Ln

B
en

so
n  

D
r

M
ed

in
ah

 D
r

Isaac  Ln

Forest Hills Dr

Pine Knoll D
r

Downing St

Herro
n Rd

H
ig

hg
at

e 
Av

e

M
on

te
be

llo
 A

ve

B
ab

b i
tt

 S
t

Hemmingway Dr

Colony Dr

Ba
ul

is
tr

ol
 D

r

Otsego Dr

Belding Ct
Carnoustie Dr

N
as

sa
u 

St

Cr
oo

k e
d 

C r
ee

k 
R

d

Birch Bluff Dr

W
es

tm
in

st
er

 W
ay

Skyline D
r

Southwood DrStill V
alley Dr

Birchwood Dr

W
 P

ar
k 

t r
l

Penobscot Dr

Sophiea Pkwy

M
oh

ic
a n

 L
n

K
an

s a
s  

St

Butternut Dr

A
rapaho Trl

Pike St

Knob Hill Dr

Beech Tree Ln

Hamilton Rd

Su
n 

R
ap

id
s 

D
r

N
ew

to
n 

R
d

D
aw

n  
Av

e

M
aum

ee D
r

Spring Lake Dr

White Owl Way

Sc
ho

ol
 S

t

Cimarron Dr

Indian Hills Dr
Hillside Dr

E 
H

id
de

n 
La

ke
 D

r

Heather Dr

H
or

iz
on

 D
r

Pawnee Trl

Lake Ct

Giersboro Ln

Times Square

Shadywood Ln

N
ew

 Sa lem
 Ave

Powderhorn Dr

Pa
tr

i o
ts

 W
ay

Ra
le

ig
h 

D
r

W
ab

a n
i n

g o
 R

d

Hodge St

Cider Mill

B
in

gh
am

p t
on

 D
r

Lenore Ln

W
 H

ia
w

at
ha

 D
r

Clinton St

Small Acres Ln

Ea
st

 D
ri

ve

Park Lake

Linden St

Bar
nsb

ury
 R

d

W
oo

dc
ra

ft 
Rd

H
av

er
sh

am
 D

r

Ro
xb

ur
y 

Av
e

Creek Lndg

Teri Ter

Copperh
ill 

Dr

Oneida Dr

W
es

t D
ri

v e

B
lu

e 
H

av
en

 D
r

York W
ay

Iroquois Rd

E 
S u

nw
in

d 
D

r

Thames Dr

Ar
dm

or
e 

Av
e

Dustin Rd

M
oo

re
 S

t

Ca
lg

ar
y 

B l
vd

Mansfield Dr

Everett Ln

Greencliff Dr

Hiawatha Dr

N
au

bi
nw

ay
 R

d

Mirabeau Dr

Huron Hill Dr

Ca
va

lie
r  

D
r

Roseland Ave

Shadow
law

n D
r

Buglers Way

Sirhol Dr

East 
End D

r

Long Leaf Trl

Belwood Dr

Village D
r

Rockwood Dr

Colby St

M
a r

l b
o r

o u
g h

 R
d

Fieldstone Dr

Maiden Ln

Northwind Dr

Solar W
ay

H
ar

ve
y 

St

Lake Lansing Rd

Belvedere Ave

Club Meridian Dr

Hutchinson

Taos Trl

Sa
ra

n  
D

r

Countryview Dr

Sa
nd

al
w

oo
d 

D
r

Boulevard Dr

Sashabaw Dr

Sherbrook Way

E 
Lo

d g
es

 A
ve

Shagbark Ln

Briarcliff St

La Mer Ln

Columbus Ave

Sioux W
ay

Campus Hill Dr

Ch
ip

pe
nd

al
e 

D
r

Pa
dd

oc
k 

D
r

Huntsville Dr

Shaker Blvd

Coyote Creek Dr

B
ly

th
ef

i e
ld

 D
r

A
m

be
r 

D
r

Cy
pr

es
s 

St

Del Mar Dr

Es
ot

e r
ic

 W
a y

Brentwood Ave

Lampen Cir

Mercer Dr

N
or

th
vi

ew
 D

r

D
ay

sp
ri

ng
 C

t

Drive 1

Atherton Way

K
in

gs
w

oo
d 

D
r

Jonquil Ln
W

 L
od

ge
s 

Av
e

Association Dr

Sh
el

dr
a k

e 
A v

e

Picadilly Dr

Marietta Way

new_road

K
en

ne
th

 D
r

Kenosha D
r

Sw
een e y D

r

Twyckingham Dr

Biscayne Way

D
an

bu
ry

 W
ay

Seville Dr

Hillcurve Av

Graystone Dr

Tapestry  Drive

Science Pky

Melville Dr

Donovan Pl

Sleepy Hollow
 Ln

Tahoe Cir

Woodhill 
Dr

Au
tu

m
nw

oo
d 

Ln

C e
nt

r a
l D

ri
ve

Fo
ss

um
 L

n

Ja
ni

ce
 L

ee
 D

r K
e w

e e
n a

w
 D

r

Creekstone Trl

H
ub

ba
rd

 R
d

W
i n

d y
 H

ts

Minoka Trl

Sharbrook Way

Sundance Ln

Bass St

Be
ar

 L
ak

e 
Dr

Cimarron St

Indian Way

Timberview Dr

Raphael Rd

Montgomery Ct

Sa
nd

ri
dg

e 
D

r

W
in

dy
 H

ei
gh

t s
 D

r

Kodiak Dr

Southport Cir
Mojave Ct

Gaylord C Smith Ct

Pa
r 

Pl

Co
un

tr
y 

W
a y

W
as

hi
n g

to
n 

H
ei

g h
ts

 A
ve

Fa
ir

la
n e

 D
r

Woodleaf Ct

W
ild O

ak D
r

Pr
iv

at
e 

D
r

St
o n

ey
cr

o f
t  D

r

Morning Glory Drive

Kevern Way

K
ar

en
 A

nn
 D

r

Li
ve

ra
nc

e 
St

Bally
bunion W

ay

Heather Cir

Skyline Ct

Perch St

Dobie Cir

Rolling Hills Dr

Saranac Ln

Wonch Dr

Deville
 Ct

G
ol

de
n 

Ci
r

Bruin Dr

Bentley Ct

Sh
or

t S
t

Southridge Rd

Hazy Ln

Je
ss

al
ee

 C
ir

Pi
m

lic
o 

Pl

Sa
ph

ir
e 

Ci
r

Hamilton Rd

Raby Rd

Franklin St

Ottawa Dr

#

Sower Blvd

H
ul

et
t R

d

D
R

IV
EW

AY

Forest Hills Dr

D
RI

VE
W

AY

Belvedere Ave

D
R

IV
EW

AY

Haslett Rd

DRIVEWAY

D
RI

VE
W

AY

E Grand River Ave

D
RI

VE
W

AY

D
RI

VE
W

AY

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

M
-7

8

Bennett Rd

S 
H

ag
ad

o r
n 

R
d

D
R

IV
EW

AY

W
indy H

ts

Graystone D
r

Club Meridian Dr

S 
H

ag
a d

or
n  

R
d

#

Roseland Ave

DRIVEWAY

Hannah Blvd

DRIVEWAY

O
ke

m
os

 R
d

Bennett Rd

Birchwood Dr

H
ul

et
t R

d

D
R

IV
EW

AY

new_road

DRIVEWAY

D
RI

VE
W

AY
M

ar
sh

 R
d

S 
H

ag
ad

or
n 

R
d

O
ke

m
os

 R
d

DRIVEWAY

M
ar

sh
 R

d

Carnoustie Dr

Haslett Rd

H
ul

et
t R

d

Knob Hill Dr

O
ke

m
os

 R
d

N
o r

th
w

in
d 

D
r

Mount Hope Rd

Pa
rk

 L
a k

e 
R

d

D
o b

ie
 R

d

DRIVEWAY

D
RI

VE
W

AY

Ham
ilton Rd

MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP
2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Investigation















 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

1 33-02-02-34-182-001 Briarwood #11 409 1808 YOSEMITE DEY, KAKAN C & PINKI, MOUSUMI 1808 YOSEMITE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

2 33-02-02-34-181-003 Briarwood #11 397 1855 YOSEMITE ADAMS, KENNETH G & LINDA S 1855 YOSEMITE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

3 33-02-02-34-182-011 Briarwood #11 418 1872 YOSEMITE BROGAN, ANDREW D & CAROLE A 1872 YOSEMITE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $239.76

4 33-02-02-33-201-022 Briarwood #3 95 2120 BELDING BARTLEY, SALLY E & VINCENT S 2120 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

5 33-02-02-33-202-011 Briarwood #3 72 2135 BELDING DOUGLAS, DEREK & HENRY, HANNAH 2135 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

6 33-02-02-33-201-019 Briarwood #3 92 2148 BELDING LIEBER, BRIAN & ELIZABETH 2148 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

7 33-02-02-33-202-004 Briarwood #3 74 2157 BELDING NGUYEN, CHINH T & TRANG 2157 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $641.47

8 33-02-02-33-202-002 Briarwood #3 76 2173 BELDING TERBRACK, MATTHEW & LATISHA 2173 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

9 33-02-02-33-201-015 Briarwood #3 88 2184 BELDING THATCHER, KEVIN G & LYNNE C 2184 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $269.73

10 33-02-02-33-202-006 Briarwood #3 78 3926 BELDING PAHL, CORY & ELIZABETH 3926 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

11 33-02-02-33-204-012 Briarwood #3 108 - 3854 RALEIGH QUATES, EDWARD W & HESTER, JESSICA 3854 RALEIGH DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

12 33-02-02-33-204-010 Briarwood #3 106 3872 RALEIGH CARLSON, EDWARD H & LOUISE D TRUSTE 3872 RALEIGH DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

13 33-02-02-33-203-007 Briarwood #3 69 3905 RALEIGH CAVANAUGH, SHANE S 3905 RALEIGH DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

14 33-02-02-33-276-001 Briarwood #4 159 2095 BELDING KISER, KAREN A TRUSTEE 2095 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $233.77

15 33-02-02-33-226-004 Briarwood #4 143 2096 BELDING CRAIG FAMILY TRUST 2096 BELDING CT OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

16 33-02-02-33-252-028 Briarwood #4 130 3823 SANDLEWOOD WALDMILLER, RAYMOND & MARY E 3823 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

17 33-02-02-33-252-027 Briarwood #4 131 3833 SANDLEWOOD MIYAZAKI, SATORU & TERUKO TRUST 3833 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $569.44

18 33-02-02-33-252-026 Briarwood #4 132 3843 SANDLEWOOD DUNN, RICHARD & MARYANN 3843 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $89.91

19 33-02-02-33-276-009 Briarwood #4 167 3864 SANDLEWOOD HEPP, RALPH E & PATRICIA 3864 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $329.67

20 33-02-02-33-276-005 Briarwood #4 163 3892 SANDLEWOOD KING, TIFFANY A 3892 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $269.73

21 33-02-02-33-204-014 Briarwood #4 142 3921 SANDLEWOOD WHITE, MELVIN L 3921 SANDLEWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

1 33-02-02-33-278-005 Briarwood #5 228 2079 ASHLAND JOODAKY, AMIN 2079 ASHLAND DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $569.44

2 33-02-02-33-227-004 Briarwood #5 Nature Park 0 BINGHAMTON BRIARWOOD HOMEOWNERS ASSOC OF OKEMOS P O BOX 226 OKEMOS MI 48805 $299.70

3 33-02-02-33-277-009 Briarwood #5 199 3800 BINGHAMTON COHEN, SAUL D & LIN, HUEY-WEN 3800 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

4 33-02-02-33-277-006 Briarwood #5 196 3830 BINGHAMTON HAUGEN, RANDALL & RENUKA 3830 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

5 33-02-02-33-277-005 Briarwood #5 195 3840 BINGHAMTON ZWIER, LAWRENCE J & JEAN M 3840 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $59.94

6 33-02-02-33-277-004 Briarwood #5 194 3850 BINGHAMTON LAMISON, DONALD R & PATRICIA 3850 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $569.44

7 33-02-02-33-229-020 Briarwood #5 290 3905 BINGHAMTON DAVIS, THOMAS M & KAREN S 3905 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $89.91

8 33-02-02-33-229-019 Briarwood #5 291 3915 BINGHAMTON KRIER, JOSHUA L & RACHEL A 3915 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $239.76

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address



 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address

9 33-02-02-33-229-017 Briarwood #5 293 3931 BINGHAMTON MARUTA, TOMOFUMI & AYAKO 3931 BINGHAMTON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

10 33-02-02-33-229-033 Briarwood #5 278 + 3850 ROXBURY HARRIER, IAN M & SARAH E 3850 ROXBURY AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

11 33-02-02-33-228-012 Briarwood #5 257 3884 ROXBURY AHMED, FERDOUS 3884 ROXBURY AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

12 33-02-02-33-229-030 Briarwood #5 284 2030 SHAGBARK COLE, PETER & JENNIFER 2030 SHAGBARK LN OKEMOS MI 48864 $599.41

13 33-02-02-33-229-007 Briarwood #5 270 3880 SHELDRAKE ITSELL, MICHAEL J & MELISSA 3880 SHELDRAKE AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $149.85

14 33-02-02-33-229-006 Briarwood #5 269 3886 SHELDRAKE CONNORS, WILLIAM III & JENNIFER 3886 SHELDRAKE AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $149.85

15 33-02-02-33-229-005 Briarwood #5 268 3890 SHELDRAKE SONG,  JEONGSEOG 3890 SHELDRAKE AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

16 33-02-02-33-278-020 Briarwood #5 214 2050 TAMARACK AKTULGA, HASAN METIN & FATMA SENA 2050 TAMARACK DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

17 33-02-02-33-278-018 Briarwood #5 212 2070 TAMARACK DANIK, MICHAEL J 2070 TAMARACK DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $539.47

18 33-02-02-34-103-002 Briarwood #6 343 1937 ATHERTON WAY MIMS, THOMAS & CYNTHIA 1937 ATHERTON WAY OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

19 33-02-02-34-102-001 Briarwood #6 294 3980 CHANNING WAY WALKER, SCOTT A & SHRESTHA, LEENI 3980 CHANNING WAY OKEMOS MI 48805 $179.82

20 33-02-02-34-104-006 Briarwood #6 311 3875 CROOKED CREEK BERLINSKI, ALLEN R & JUDY 3875 CROOKED CREEK RD OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

21 33-02-02-34-106-002 Briarwood #6 330 3870 HEMMINGWAY KUO, HUNG JEN & WU, YU HWAI 3870 HEMMINGWAY DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $479.52

22 33-02-02-34-104-004 Briarwood #6 309 3899 HEMMINGWAY PAPPAS, GEORGIOS & KALFAGIANNI, EFSTRATIA 3899 HEMMINGWAY DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $149.85

23 33-02-02-34-104-003 Briarwood #6 308 3905 HEMMINGWAY RAYMOND, MATTHEW CLIFFORD & DALAIRE, JENNIFER ARLEEN 3905 HEMMINGWAY DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $149.85

24 33-02-02-34-103-011 Briarwood #6 334 3906 HEMMINGWAY GUESS, MICHAEL & ERIN 3906 HEMMINGWAY DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

25 33-02-02-34-103-010 Briarwood #6 335 3920 HEMMINGWAY MINAMISONO, KEI & NAOMI 3920 HEMMINGWAY DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $329.67

26 33-02-02-34-154-001 Briarwood #6 318 2001 VALLEYBROOK WRIGHT, TIFFANY L & JEFFERY 2001 VALLEYBROOK DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

27 33-02-02-34-155-020 Briarwood #9 372 3791 YOSEMITE CRAIG-MCDONALD, BARBARA E 3791 YOSEMITE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

28 33-02-02-33-203-010 Briarwood Subdivision 9 & 8 - 2186 DONOVAN FLATLEY, JOHN M & DIANE M TRUSTEES 2186 DONOVAN PL OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

29 33-02-02-33-253-003 Briarwood Subdivision 26 3782 NEW SALEM JUN, JUNG HA 3782 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

30 33-02-02-33-251-023 Briarwood Subdivision 41 3833 NEW SALEM 3833 NEW SALEM LLC 3833 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $899.11



 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address

31 33-02-02-33-252-010 Briarwood Subdivision 21 3836 NEW SALEM WEBB REVOCABLE TRUST 3836 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

32 33-02-02-33-252-005 Briarwood Subdivision 16 3866 NEW SALEM PARTICKA, MICHAEL G & CHRISLYN A 3866 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

33 33-02-02-33-251-018 Briarwood Subdivision 46 & 47 - 3867 NEW SALEM BOCTOR, KAMIL & NABILA 3867 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

34 33-02-02-33-203-008 Briarwood Subdivision 7 3896 NEW SALEM LACOURSIER, RUSSELL & GAYLE 3896 NEW SALEM AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

35 33-02-02-11-480-012 Chippewa Woods #2 53 5537 SILVERLEAF CT GLASS, TIA & DIALLO 5537 SILVERLEAF CT HASLETT MI 48840 $329.67

36 33-02-02-35-352-001 Ember Oaks 9 3598 CABARET AHMED, ZULFIQAR & NAZ, FAREEHA 3598 CABARET TRL OKEMOS MI 48864 $377.63

37 33-02-02-35-301-008 Ember Oaks 16 1433 WANDERING WAY PATEL, SHARADHDHEY & SHRADHDHA 1433 WANDERING WAY OKEMOS MI 48864 $209.79

38 33-02-02-08-101-014 Heritage Hills #2 67 2948 COLONY MUTH, THOMAS JR & ELLEN 2948 COLONY DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

39 33-02-02-08-101-011 Heritage Hills #2 64 2966 COLONY ANDERSON, JEFFREY J & BREEANN K 2966 COLONY DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $217.35

40 33-02-02-08-128-007 Heritage Hills #3 105 5880 BLYTHEFIELD CHARAMELLA, JOHN M & DONNA J TRUST 5880 BLYTHEFIELD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $516.21

41 33-02-02-08-180-007 Heritage Hills #3 83 5893 BLYTHEFIELD GEORGE ARTHYR PFLEGER FAMILY TRUST 5893 BLYTHEFIELD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $304.29

42 33-02-02-08-128-002 Heritage Hills #3 110 5928 BLYTHEFIELD TIFFANY, MICHAEL S & KATHERINE A 5928 BLYTHEFIELD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $575.98

43 33-02-02-08-101-033 Heritage Hills #3 75 + 5923 HIGHGATE PIERCE, ROBERT D & SHARON 5923 HIGHGATE AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

44 33-02-02-08-180-018 Heritage Hills #3 94 2812 SOUTHWOOD GUNGOR, SEDAT & ZAREMA 2812 SOUTHWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

45 33-02-02-08-180-017 Heritage Hills #3 95 2820 SOUTHWOOD WOLDRING, DANIEL R & CAROLYN J L 2820 SOUTHWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $815.06

46 33-02-02-08-128-014 Heritage Hills #3 118 2812 STILL VALLEY HERSHEY, WILLARD J & DELL S 2812 STILL VALLEY DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $163.01

47 33-02-02-08-127-014 Heritage Hills #4 214 5939 BLYTHEFIELD RUDDY, MELISSA A & ROBERT 5939 BLYTHEFIELD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $543.38

48 33-02-02-08-128-020 Heritage Hills #4 218 - 2807 BUGLERS GIBSON, KENNETH & VICKIE 2807 BUGLERS WAY EAST LANSING MI 48823 $597.71

49 33-02-02-08-126-011 Heritage Hills #4 195 2812 BUGLERS TURNBULL, BRIAN J & MARY LOU 2812 BUGLERS WAY EAST LANSING MI 48823 $217.35

50 33-02-02-08-127-011 Heritage Hills #4 212 2843 BUGLERS JOHNSON, NANCY A 2843 BUGLERS WAY EAST LANSING MI 48823 $815.06

51 33-02-02-08-126-006 Heritage Hills #4 200 5990 HIGHGATE HIRSCHEL, L ANNE REV TRUST 5990 HIGHGATE AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $543.38

52 33-02-02-08-129-017 Heritage Hills #4 229 5905 PATRIOTS RAINVILLE, JEFFREY & EPOLITO, AMANDA 5905 PATRIOTS WAY EAST LANSING MI 48823 $784.88

53 33-02-02-08-253-007 Heritage Hills #4 135 2751 SOUTHWOOD DALEN, MICHELE 1903 WOOD ST LANSING MI 48912 $603.75

54 33-02-02-08-253-009 Heritage Hills #4 133 2759 SOUTHWOOD CLYMA, JESSE & LYNNE E 2759 SOUTHWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $315.16

55 33-02-02-08-181-009 Heritage Hills #4 149 2776 SOUTHWOOD WATTERS TRUST, LYNLEY J & MICHAEL A 2776 SOUTHWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

56 33-02-02-08-181-008 Heritage Hills #4 150 2782 SOUTHWOOD JAKOVAC, SCOTT & SHANNON 2782 SOUTHWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

57 33-02-02-08-182-007 Heritage Hills Subdivision 45 2846 CAMBRIA SMITH, DEBORAH V 2846 CAMBRIA DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $163.01

58 33-02-02-08-180-001 Heritage Hills Subdivision 51 2826 COLONY GIBBES IV, CRAWFORD D 2826 COLONY DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $608.58

59 33-02-02-08-101-026 Heritage Hills Subdivision 16 2876 COLONY CUNNINGHAM, PATRICIA Z TRUSTEE 2876 COLONY DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $615.83



 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address

60 33-02-02-08-153-019 Heritage Hills Subdivision 21 2963 CRESTWOOD CIR TIJERINA, ROGER & ANNETTE 2963 CRESTWOOD CIR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

61 33-02-02-08-103-014 Heritage Hills Subdivision 13 - 2876 CRESTWOOD DR WILLIAMS, ALICIA N & MATTHEW M 2876 CRESTWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $407.53

62 33-02-02-08-154-011 Heritage Hills Subdivision 41 2881 CRESTWOOD DR JONES, STEVEN H & DARCIE C 2881 CRESTWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

63 33-02-02-08-102-012 Heritage Hills Subdivision 7 2932 CRESTWOOD DR FISHER, RONALD C TRUSTEE 2932 CRESTWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

64 33-02-02-08-153-012 Heritage Hills Subdivision 27 2933 CRESTWOOD DR MARIETTA, SEAN & MARIETTA-WESTBERG, JENNIFER 2000 SCROGGINS RD ALEXANDRIA VA 22302 $163.01

65 33-02-02-08-153-018 Heritage Hills Subdivision 20 2967 CRESTWOOD DR PIKE, CHRISTOPHER D & KATHRYN M 2967 CRESTWOOD DR EAST LANSING MI 48823 $599.41

66 33-02-02-08-153-001 Heritage Hills Subdivision 18 5848 HAGADORN MCGUIGAN, DEBORAH E 5848 HAGADORN RD EAST LANSING MI 48823 $539.47

67 33-02-02-08-102-006 Heritage Hills Subdivision 1 5890 HAGADORN PANAYOTOU, HASULA E 5890 HAGADORN RD EAST LANSING MI 48823 $125.88

68 33-02-02-08-127-004 Heritage Hills Subdivision 52 5904 HIGHGATE SALAS, ANGELIA D & SUDOL, ERIC J 5904 HIGHGATE AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $489.04

69 33-02-02-08-101-025 Heritage Hills Subdivision 17 5913 HIGHGATE STACKS, FREDERICK D & MARY JO 5913 HIGHGATE AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $271.69

70 33-02-02-08-153-013 Heritage Hills Subdivision 28 5853 SMITHFIELD ALLEN, ALEXA L & BRADLEY T 5853 SMITHFIELD AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $543.38

71 33-02-02-08-154-002 Heritage Hills Subdivision 33 5854 SMITHFIELD KITAGAWA, JUN & REIKO 5854 SMITHFIELD AVE EAST LANSING MI 48823 $543.38

72 33-02-02-34-152-006 Hidden Valley 11 - 3798 THISTLEWOOD CHOI, YONGJUN & KIM, MINHYE 3798 THISTLEWOOD RD OKEMOS MI 48864 $509.49

73 33-02-02-34-155-012 Hidden Valley #2 34 3780 CROOKED CREEK GLINN, DANIEL & MICHELE 3780 CROOKED CREEK RD OKEMOS MI 48864 $269.73

74 33-02-02-34-153-009 Hidden Valley #3 36 1891 CIMARRON HELBLE, EDWARD T & CHARLENE 1891 CIMARRON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

75 33-02-02-34-179-001 Hidden Valley #4 60 1772 SASHABAW HARROD, BRIAN & LINDSAY 1772 SASHABAW DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

76 33-02-02-34-153-006 Hidden Valley Subdivision 6 1971 CIMARRON SAUL, WILLIAM E TRUST 1971 CIMARRON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $29.97

77 33-02-02-34-153-005 Hidden Valley Subdivision 5 1975 CIMARRON ILGEN, DANIEL R & BARBARA TRUSTEES 1975 CIMARRON DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $269.73

78 33-02-02-10-153-025 Hillbrook Park 72 5753 BAYONNE KELLEY, ANDREW J 5753 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $191.81

79 33-02-02-10-153-019 Hillbrook Park 78 5803 BAYONNE HUTTING, SAMANTHA L & DAVID G & KATHLEEN K 5803 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $143.86

80 33-02-02-10-176-010 Hillbrook Park 61 5808 BAYONNE CARRINGTON, LINDA & PETER 5808 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $299.70

81 33-02-02-10-153-018 Hillbrook Park 79 5809 BAYONNE JUROSZEK, JOHN O & CHRISTINE 5809 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $407.60

82 33-02-02-10-153-013 Hillbrook Park 84 5847 BAYONNE DEVLIN, JOSH AND APRIL 5847 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $95.90

83 33-02-02-10-176-025 Hillbrook Park 54 5777 BEUNA VALLEY, RAY C & EMMA J PO BOX 885 OKEMOS MI 48805 $191.81

84 33-02-02-10-176-024 Hillbrook Park 53 5785 BEUNA ANDERSEN, NICOLE & DOUGHERTY, CHARLES 5785 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $383.62

85 33-02-02-10-176-023 Hillbrook Park 52 5793 BEUNA BASTIN, GRAYSON 5793 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $287.71

86 33-02-02-10-176-022 Hillbrook Park 51 5799 BEUNA CLARK, KATHLEEN J 5799 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $383.62

87 33-02-02-10-176-021 Hillbrook Park 50 5807 BEUNA PANCERZ, GARY J & GANNON, JEAN M 5807 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $623.38

88 33-02-02-10-176-019 Hillbrook Park 48 5823 BEUNA BORNOR, JACKIE L 5823 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $191.81



 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address

89 33-02-02-10-176-016 Hillbrook Park 45 5843 BEUNA WALLACE, LOU ANNE TRUSTEE 5843 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $383.62

90 33-02-02-10-179-006 Hillbrook Park 9 1819 LYNDHURST JACOBSON, CHARLES & SARAH 1819 LYNDHURST WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $191.81

91 33-02-02-10-176-026 Hillbrook Park 55 1840 LYNDHURST AMIN, WAHID AHMAD 1840 LYNDHURST WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $129.47

92 33-02-02-10-179-003 Hillbrook Park 6 1841 LYNDHURST WROBLAK, DAREK & WALTERS LEAH 1841 LYNDHURST WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

93 33-02-02-10-176-015 Hillbrook Park 58 1852 LYNDHURST SHILLAIR, DANIEL I 1852 LYNDHURST WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $953.05

94 33-02-02-10-178-010 Hillbrook Park 12 5778 MONTEBELLO BIRD, CATHERINE A TRUST 1260 HOLT RD MASON MI 48854 $575.43

95 33-02-02-10-177-018 Hillbrook Park 29 5787 MONTEBELLO LOCATELLI, PETER B & SHIRLEY 5787 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $71.93

96 33-02-02-10-177-017 Hillbrook Park 28 5795 MONTEBELLO PIAVIS, MARK & LINDA TRUSTEES 5795 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $527.48

97 33-02-02-10-178-006 Hillbrook Park 16 5808 MONTEBELLO DURKEE, WILLARD C & MARJORIE TRUST 5808 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $297.39

98 33-02-02-10-177-014 Hillbrook Park 25 5817 MONTEBELLO SCHULZE, PATRICIA 60 S BOULDER CTR #6021 BOULDER CO 80303-4287 $383.62

99 33-02-02-10-178-004 Hillbrook Park 18 5822 MONTEBELLO WILSON, THOMAS & LINDA 4 FUDORA CR SIMPSONVILLE SC 29681 $239.76

100 33-02-02-10-178-001 Hillbrook Park 21 5846 MONTEBELLO SMITH, CHRISTOPHER J 5846 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $191.81

101 33-02-02-10-177-002 Hillbrook Park 41 1803 SHERBROOK MESSINA, MARC E & JESSICA L 1803 SHERBROOK WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

102 33-02-02-10-176-002 Hillbrook Park 67 1845 SHERBROOK DOUGLAS, KAYCI R 1845 SHERBROOK WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $259.05

103 33-02-02-10-127-009 Hillbrook Park #1 86 1866 SHERBROOK HARNEY, DOROTHY M 1866 SHERBROOK WAY HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

104 33-02-02-10-128-007 Hillbrook Park #2 125 5888 BAYONNE MURRAY, DANIELLE F 5888 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

105 33-02-02-10-127-007 Hillbrook Park #2 128 5889 BAYONNE LACCA, ROBERT S & CAROL S 5889 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $167.83

106 33-02-02-10-128-006 Hillbrook Park #2 124 5898 BAYONNE GILBERT, JEFF 5898 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

107 33-02-02-10-128-005 Hillbrook Park #2 123 5904 BAYONNE OWEN, KAREN S & NATHAN L 5904 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $59.94

108 33-02-02-10-128-004 Hillbrook Park #2 122 5912 BAYONNE TEETERS, KATHRYN S & JAMES 5912 BAYONNE AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $179.82

109 33-02-02-10-128-015 Hillbrook Park #2 112 5887 BEUNA MCCARTHY, KELLY K 5887 BEUNA PKWY HASLETT MI 48840 $239.76

110 33-02-02-10-129-016 Hillbrook Park #2 95 5881 MONTEBELLO DEROSE, STEPHEN R 5881 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $671.33

111 33-02-02-10-129-012 Hillbrook Park #2 99 5909 MONTEBELLO CUTHBERT, MATTHEW J 5909 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $215.79

112 33-02-02-10-129-010 Hillbrook Park #2 101 5927 MONTEBELLO ANDERSON, JOHN C 5927 MONTEBELLO AVE HASLETT MI 48840 $935.07

113 33-02-02-34-202-008 Kinawa View 11 3926 JONQUIL KURADA, SAI & BICE, ADAM 3926 JONQUIL LN OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

114 33-02-02-34-202-006 Kinawa View 9 3938 JONQUIL ROBINSON, RONALD J & HELMA 3938 JONQUIL LN OKEMOS MI 48864 $329.67

115 33-02-02-34-202-001 Kinawa View 7 3950 JONQUIL HASHSHAM, SYED & FAROOQI, NIHALA 3950 JONQUIL LN OKEMOS MI 48864 $431.75

116 33-02-02-34-202-013 Kinawa View 16 3902 TRAILWOOD GOODALL, BRADLEY LYNN 3902 TRAILWOOD DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

117 33-02-02-34-203-010 Kinawa View #2 49 1722 COUNTRY VIEW SOUBANI, ABDULLAH & ABDMAHMOUD, S & ZIEDAN, M 1722 COUNTRY VIEW DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

118 33-02-02-34-127-014 Kinawa View #2 63 1740 COUNTRY VIEW HAUGEN, JASON K & NICOLE 1740 COUNTRY VIEW DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

119 33-02-02-34-251-002 Kinawa View #2 76 1743 COUNTRY VIEW LEFFONDRE-MATTHEWS, EVELYNE & MATTHEWS, GEORGE J 1743 COUNTRY VIEW DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $89.91

120 33-02-02-34-128-005 Kinawa View #2 74 1754 COUNTRY VIEW KHATTAR, SUDHIR K & SAROJ 1754 COUNTRY VIEW DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

121 33-02-02-34-251-016 Kinawa View #2 89 3830 PINE KNOLL KEENOY, MARSHA L 3830 PINE KNOLL DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $599.41

122 33-02-02-34-251-010 Kinawa View #2 83 3836 PINE KNOLL REICOSKY, DAVID & BONNIE GAY TRUSTEES 3836 PINE KNOLL DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

123 33-02-02-34-251-001 Kinawa View #2 75 3842 PINE KNOLL KNICKERBOCKER, ROBERT H 3842 PINE KNOLL DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $125.88

124 33-02-02-34-127-031 Kinawa View #4 124 3936 CLOVERDALE REDEY, BIDHAN & PRASANNA 3936 CLOVERDALE AVE OKEMOS MI 48864 $239.76

125 33-02-02-28-305-010 Okemos Square 63 2436 GRAYSTONE KENNEDY, REBECCA L 2436 GRAYSTONE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70



 2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 20 - RESOLUTION 2

Parcel # Subdivision Lot No. Primary Name Street Address City ST Zip

R e p a i r    A d d r e s s M a i l i n g    A d d r e s s Property 
Owner Cost

Repair Address

126 33-02-02-29-427-005 Okemos Square 25 2485 GRAYSTONE WALD, EVA 2485 GRAYSTONE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $119.88

127 33-02-02-29-427-004 Okemos Square 26 2491 GRAYSTONE NEGIN, PAUL D 2491 GRAYSTONE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $134.87

128 33-02-02-28-304-009 Okemos Square 53 2502 GRAYSTONE BARR, MICHAEL G & JILL 2502 GRAYSTONE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $161.84

129 33-02-02-29-427-002 Okemos Square 28 2503 GRAYSTONE PONNAMBALAM, VIJAYABARATHI & PONNAMBALAM, PAKUTHARIVU 2503 GRAYSTONE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $299.70

130 33-02-02-28-304-015 Okemos Square 47 2394 SEVILLE COMSTOCK, BRIAN JOSHUA & HOLLY J 2394 SEVILLE DR OKEMOS MI 48864 $329.67

131 33-02-02-28-306-022 Okemos Square 1 + 2375 SOWER QUIRANTE, JEFF & MARIA BLANCHE B 2375 SOWER BLVD OKEMOS MI 48864 $179.82

132 33-02-02-28-302-009 Okemos Square 29 2440 SOWER BRITTEN, TAMMY & POTTER, LUCAS 2440 SOWER BLVD OKEMOS MI 48864 $163.01

133 33-02-02-32-401-003 Sanctuary 46 2718 LOON KHEIRAIE, ALI ZOCKAIE & GHAMAMI, MEHRNAZ 2718 LOON LN OKEMOS MI 48864 $329.67

134 33-02-02-12-154-008 Wood Valley Sub. 46 5563 WOOD VALLEY KACHELSKI, RICHARD & JULIE 5563 WOOD VALLEY DR HASLETT MI 48840 $299.70

TOTAL: $50,287.46

Work done by Lopez; $28.35/Syd removal, $6.30/Sft 4", $7.35/Sft 6".
(All others done by Leavitt & Starck)

Quantity confirmed from Pay Estimates.

Owner change after initial roll.



Charter Township of Meridian 
Department of Public Works 
5151 March Rd. 
Okemos, Ml 48864 

Linda and Peter Carrington 
5808 Bayonne Ave 
Haslett, Ml 48840-9501 
Hillbrook Park Lot 61 

Re: Special Assessment District 20 

APR 2 2024 

Meridian Township 
Clerk's Office 

Dear Deborah Guthrie, or Whoever is responsible for This special assessment, 

You are charging us $299. 70, for replacing a piece of sidewalk that is public 
Domain, because the old piece was uneven and could have caused harm, due 
to tripping. 

Said reason, is described as "public improvements", to the property therein". 

The improvement is to ALL who use the sidewalk, again public domain! 

We are seniors on a fixed income, and this is unreasonable. 

If our tax dollars are not used for this, then what are they for? 
Soccer Fields? If there is something we are not understanding here, please 
Let us know. 

We suggest you reassess your priorities in this township. It does not seem 
appropriate, to charge any of us for something that is public domain, just because 
the improvement is within our lot lines. 

If this was a driveway we could understand but it is a sidewalk used by ALL. 

Sincerely, 

~~ Peter H Carr'.ngton Ji} G 

Stephaney Guild
Line



~ 
MERIDIAN A 
~ o ~~s~~1'. 
~ 

CARRINGTON, LINDA & PETER 
5808 BAYONNE AVE 
HASLETT, MI 48840 

Subject Property: 
33-02-02-10-176-010 
5808 BAYONNE 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
Department of Public Works 

5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 
517.853.4440 dpw@meridian.rni.us 

2022 ORDER TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALK 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

April 2. 2024 AT 6:00 PM 

TO THffRECORD OWNERS OF, OR PARTIES IN INTEREST IN, THE FOLLOWING PROPERTY CONSTITUTING 
THE PROPOSED SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT: 

(SEE ATTACHED LEGAL DESCRIPTION) 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a special assessment roll for the 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Special 
Assessment District #20 (maintain by removal and replacement of sidewalk in various locations in the Township) 
has been prepared and is on file in the Office of the Township Clerk for public examination. 

Said special assessment roll has been prepared for the purpose of assessing the cost of the above described 
public improvements to the property benefited therefrom. All questions and/or concerns should be directed to 
Meridian Township Department of Public Works at 517.853.4440. 

TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Township Board will meet on Tuesday, April 2, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. at the 
Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864-1198, for the purpose of reviewing 
said special assessment roll and hearing objections thereto. 

An owner or party in interest, or his or her agent, may appear in person at the hearing to protest the special 
assessment, or shall be permitted to file his or her appearance or protest by letter with the Township Clerk before 
the close of this hearing, and his or her personal appearance is not required. The owner or any person having an 
·nrere-stin the-real proper ty who protests in person or in writing at the hearing may file a written appeal of the 
special assessment with the Michigan Tax Tribunal within 30 days after the confirmation of the special assessment 
roll. 

"YOUR SPECIAL ASSESSMENT IS: $299.7." 

Dated: March 5, 2024 

Deborah Gudirte, Township Clerk 
Charter To wnship of Merid.J:an 

A PRIM E COMMUNITY 
meridian.mi.us ----

Stephaney Guild
Line

Stephaney Guild
Line

Stephaney Guild
Line



 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

11.B 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
Date:  March 26, 2024 
 
Re: Recreational Marijuana Licensing – Zones 1, 4, and 5 
 
As part of the procedures for recreational marijuana licensing in Meridian Township, the Township 
Board is required to hold a public hearing once the Recreational Marijuana Review Committee has 
completed their review and made a recommendation to the Board for each Zone. In the case of Zones 
1, 4, and 5, there was only one application, therefore no formal competitive review was required. 
However, the Review Committee went through all the criteria and made recommendations and 
requests of each applicant, in order to provide a more complete application and record as we move 
forward. This information will be reviewed in depth under a separate heading.  
 
In order to meet the terms of the ordinance, the Township Board is asked to hold a public hearing 
on applications in Zones 1, 4, and 5. Once the public hearing has been held, additional hearings can 
be held, additional information can be requested, the Township Board can proceed to issuance of a 
conditional approval of a license, or the Township Board can choose not to issue a license in a 
specific Zone. Only one license for recreational marijuana may be granted in each of the five Zones 
established in the Zoning ordinance.  



 

 

12.A 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  April 2, 2024 
 
Re: Unruh Drain Conversion – Chapter 20 to Chapter 3/4 
 

Chapter 20 of the Michigan Drain Code was established to help Township’s construct the drain 
infrastructure that was necessary to attract development.  
 
The Township no longer has a need to utilize Chapter 20 of the Michigan Drain Code attract 
development. Tonight is the beginning of a process we will undertake to convert our seven 
Chapter 20 Drains to Chapter 3/4 Drains.  
 
We are starting with the Unruh Drain as the Ingham County Drain Commissioner’s Office (ICDC) 
would like to perform some maintenance work on this drain later this year. 
 
There are some maintenance costs that have not been assessed that will need to be assessed as 
part of this process, which total $24,814.16. These maintenance costs date back to December 1, 
2018, which is the date of the last maintenance assessment for the Unruh Drain. The Township will 
be required to pay our share of the maintenance assessments based on the historical percentages 
for the Unruh Drain, which are: 
 

Meridian Township     78.99% 
Michigan Department of Transportation 10.31% 
Ingham County Road Department   10.70% 

 
Therefore, the Township will be assessed $19,600.71.  
 
The ICDC would like to issue bonds to fund future maintenance work on the Unruh Drain later this 
year. Based on our discussion with the ICDC, they will likely bond for $225,000-$400,000. To avoid 
the Township paying for 78.99% of this upcoming maintenance when the Township does not 
receive benefit proportionate to that assessment percentage by way of attracting new 
development, we will convert the drain to a Chapter 3/4. The Township will still be required to 
pay an at-large assessment; however, our percentage of the maintenance work is far less on a 
Chapter 3/4 drain. I look forward to discussing this in greater depth with the Board at your April 2, 
2024 meeting.  
 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

“MOVE TO ADOPT THE RESOLUTION APPROVING RELINQUISHMENT OF UNRUH 
DRAIN AND AUTHORIZE THE SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO SIGN THE EMERGENCY 
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT.” 



 

 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
April 2, 2024 
Re: Unruh Drain Conversion – Chapter 20 to Chapter 3/4 

 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution Approving Relinquishment of Unruh Drain 
2. Operation & Maintenance Agreement to be Executed by the Township Supervisor and 

Clerk 
3. Ledger of outstanding maintenance costs that have not been assessed 



1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at the municipal building at 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 in said 
Township on the 2nd day of April 2024 at 6 p.m., local time.  

PRESENT: __________________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: __________________________________________________________________ 

 The following resolution was offered for adoption by ____________________, and 
supported by ______________________. 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE RELINQUISHMENT  
OF THE UNRUH DRAIN TO TOWNSHIP 

 
 WHEREAS, the Unruh Drain (the “Drain”) and Unruh Drain Drainage District (“Drainage 
District”) was established on or about December 16, 1969 in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 20 of the Michigan Drain Code of 1956, 1956 P.A. 40, as amended, MCL 280.461 et seq., 
(the “Drain Code”) and is under the jurisdiction of the Unruh Drain Drainage Board (“Drainage 
Board”); and 
 

WHEREAS the Drain is located is located in the Charter Township of Meridian 
(“Township”) as further described by the route and course description set forth in Exhibit A; and 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 478 of the Drain Code, MCL 280.478, the Drainage 
Board for the Drain may relinquish jurisdiction and control over all or any part of a drain or drain 
project at any time when there is no outstanding indebtedness or contract liability of its drainage 
district, to the township in which all or the part of the drain or drain project is wholly located, if 
the township requests or consents to the relinquishment of jurisdiction and control by resolution 
duly adopted by its governing body; and 

WHEREAS, all outstanding indebtedness or contract liability of the Drainage District; and 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 478 of the Drain Code, MCL 280.478, the Township 
desires and consents to the relinquishment jurisdiction and control of the Drain and Drainage 
District from Drainage Board to the Township; and 

 WHEREAS, to ensure continued and proper maintenance of the Unruh Drain following 
the approval and relinquishment of the Unruh Drain to the Township by the Drainage Board, the 
Township and the Ingham County Drain Commissioner have agreed to enter into an agreement 
according to the terms and conditions, as set forth in Exhibit B. 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, pursuant to Section 478 of the Drain Code, 
MCL 280.478, the Township hereby consents to the relinquishment of jurisdiction and control of 
the Unruh Drain as set forth in Exhibit A from the Drainage Board to the Township. 



2 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Township accepts for assignment from the Drainage 
Board to the Township all drain easements, including drainage structures and related 
appurtenances located therein. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Township approves and authorizes the Supervisor 
and Clerk to execute an Emergency Maintenance Agreement with the Ingham County Drain 
Commissioner in substantial form attached as Exhibit B in connection with the continued 
maintenance of the Unruh Drain effective upon the relinquishment of jurisdiction of the Unruh 
Drain by the Unruh Drain Drainage Board. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, all resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they 
conflict with the provisions of this resolution be and the same hereby are rescinded. 

ADOPTED: YEAS: _____________________________________________ 

NAYS:______________________________________________ 

 
The foregoing Resolution was declared and adopted on the date.  

          
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    )  ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 
resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 2nd day of                                                             
April, 2024.  
             
          

_____________________________ 
 Deborah Guthrie, Clerk 

        Meridian Charter Township 
  



3 

EXHIBIT A 
 

UNRUH  DRAIN 
 

PLEASE REFER TO THE FOLLOWING PAGE 
 

    



Pa
dd

oc
k D

r

Heirloom Vw

Do
b ie

Rd

Belvedere Ave

Ce
ntr

al 
Pa

rk 
Dr

Na
ss

au
 St

Bl a
ck

f oo
te

W
ay

Seneca Dr

Tim
es

Sq
ua

re
Dr

Hamilton Rd

Grand River Ave

Ma
rsh

 Rd

No
rth

vie
w 

Dr

Co
rne

ll R
d

Hillside Trl

Bla
ck

sto
ne

Trl
Maiden Ln

Wa
sh

ing
ton

He
igh

ts 
Av

e

Columbus Ave

Co
un

try
Way

Dr

Newman Rd

Ma
dis

on
Av

e

Po
we

ll R
d

1415

23
22

UN
RU

H
DR

AI
N

(U
02

-00
)

UN RU H
DRAIN

( U02- 00)

SP
RO

SS
DR

AI
N

(S
26

-00
)

HEIRLOOM VIEW DRAIN
BRANCH OF FOSTER

COUNTY DRAIN (F07-06)

SPRING
PEEPER DRAIN(S36-00)

FOREST
HILLS DRAIN (F06-00)

DANIELS DRAIN(D02-00)

FOSTER, GEORGETOWN BRANCH
DRAIN

(F07-11)

OKEMOS
CONSOLIDATED

DRAIN ( - )

DANIELSEXTENSION DRAIN (D02-02)

FOSTER DRAIN (F07-00)

MU
D

LA
KE

OU
TL

ET
DR

AIN
(M

18
-00

)

HA
TH

AW
AY

DR
AI

N (
H0

9-0
0)

t: 844.813.2949
www.peagroup.com

CLIENT

PATRICK E. 
LINDEMANN
INGHAM COUNTY
DRAIN
COMMISSIONER
707 BUHL AVENUE
MASON, MI 

PROJECT TITLE

UNRUH DRAIN
SECTIONS 14, 22 & 23,
MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP
INGHAM COUNTY

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE
MARCH 26, 2024

REVISIONS

DRAWING TITLE

DRAINAGE
SERVICE AREA &

PRELIMINARY 
DRAINAGE

DISTRICT MAP
PEA JOB NO. 22-0005.02

P.M.

DN.

DES.

RAH

RAH
RAH

DRAWING NUMBER:

1 OF 1

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOW N ON THIS  DRAW ING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE. NO GUARANTEE IS E ITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIES AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY L OCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TOT HE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

Legend
DRAIN CENTERLINE

OPEN DRAIN

ENCLOSED DRAIN

SECTION BOUNDARIES

ROADS

RAILROADS

PROPOSED DRAINAGE DISTRICT

PARCELS

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES

DRAFT 3/26/24

p
0 300 600 900 1,200150

Feet

APPROXIMATE TOWNSHIP ACREAGE BREAKDOWN:

MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP:

APPROXIMATE PARCEL BREAKDOWN:

MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP:

DRAIN DATA

OPEN DRAIN:                                                4,490.0 FT
ENCLOSED DRAIN:                                       6,685.0 FT

TOTAL LENGTH:                                         11,175.0 FT
                                                                      2.12 MILES

243.7 AC - 100%

116 PARCELS

NOTE:
DRAIN LENGTH BASED ON THE
TOTAL LENGTH OF DRAIN AS
PROPOSED ON THIS MAP.

Text

DRAINAGE SERVICE AREA MAP AND PRELIMINARY DRAINAGE DISTRICT OF
UNRUH DRAIN

MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP- T4N, R1W, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

Document Path: D:\County GIS\Ingham County\MXD\Unruh District Map.mxd

PRELIMINARY

SECTIONS 14, 22 AND 23

DANIELS SERVICE AREA 3/28/24



4 

EXHIBIT B 
 

EMERGENCY MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
 

UNRUH DRAIN  
  

This Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this ____ day of 
_________________ 2024, by and between the Ingham County Drain Commissioner (the 
“Drain Commissioner”), whose address is 707 Buhl St, Mason, MI 48854, and the Meridian 
Charter Township (hereinafter, the “Township”), 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Michigan 48864. 
In this Agreement, the Drain Commissioner and Township may be referred individually as “Party”, 
or collectively as “Parties”. 

Recitals: 

WHEREAS, the Unruh Drain and Unruh Drain Drainage District was originally 
established in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 20 of the Michigan Drain Code of 1956, 
1956 P.A. 40, as amended, MCL 280.461 et seq., (the “Drain Code”); and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 478 of the Drain Code, MCL 280.478, the 
Township has requested Drainage Board for the Unruh Drain to relinquish jurisdiction and control 
over the drain, and for the Township to assume jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, on Tuesday, April 2, 2024, the Township adopted a resolution authorizing 
the filing of a petition for the location, establishment, and construction of the former Unruh Drain; 
and 

WHEREAS, to ensure the continued maintenance of the former Unruh Drain until such 
time that said drain is established as a county drain pursuant to the Drain Code, the Township has 
requested, and the Drain Commissioner has agreed to perform any necessary emergency 
maintenance the Unruh Drain on behalf of the Township; and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to establish terms and condition between 
the Township and Drain Commissioner in connection with the continued maintenance of the Unruh 
Drain.  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and mutual promises, 
representation and agreements set forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties mutually 
agree as follows: 

1. Authority and Purpose. Pursuant to the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967, as amended 
(MCL 124.501 et seq.), Section 431 of the Michigan Drain Code (MCL 280.431) and any other 
applicable laws of the State of Michigan, the Township and the Drain Commissioner enter into 
this Agreement to establish terms and conditions for purpose of the maintenance of the former 
Unruh Drain (the “Drain”). Each Party agrees to take all actions reasonably necessary to effectuate 
the objectives set forth in this Agreement. 



5 

2. Emergency Maintenance of Drain. The Drain Commissioner agrees to perform 
any necessary emergency maintenance on the Drain on behalf of, and after written notice is 
provided to the Township and in accordance with the Drain Commissioner’s standards, practices 
and specifications associated with the maintenance of county drains under his jurisdiction. The 
Township hereby grants a license to the Drain Commissioner, its employees and to access, to 
occupy and use all Drain easements for the purpose of maintaining the Drain. The diagram showing 
the Drain and related structures is attached as Exhibit A. 

3. Termination. This Agreement shall automatically terminate at such time that this 
Drain is established pursuant to the Drain Code. In the event that the proposed establishment of 
this Drain does not take place, then either Party may terminate this Agreement upon 180 days’ 
written notice to the other Party. 

 
4. Governing Law. This Agreement is made and entered into in the State of Michigan 

and shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and governed under the laws of the State of 
Michigan.  The language of all parts of this Agreement is intended to and, in all cases, shall be 
construed as a whole according to its fair meaning, and not construed strictly for or against any 
party. As used in this Agreement, the singular or plural number, possessive or non-possessive shall 
be deemed to include the other whenever the context so suggests or requires. 

5. Reservation of Rights; Governmental Function. This Agreement does not, and is 
not intended to impair, divest, delegate, or contravene any constitutional, statutory, and/or other 
legal right, privilege, power, obligation, duty, or immunity of the Parties. In addition, the Parties 
maintain that the obligations set forth in this Agreement will be in the exercise or discharge of a 
governmental function. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of governmental 
immunity for either Party. 

6. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application to any person or 
circumstance is, to any extent, judicially determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 
of the Agreement, or the application of the provision of persons or circumstances other than those 
as to which it is invalid or unenforceable, is not affected and is enforceable, provided the invalid 
provision does not substantially alter the Agreement or make execution impractical. 

7. Binding Agreement; Assignment; and Amendments. This Agreement will be 
binding upon and for the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, 
subject to any assignment requiring the prior written consent of the non-assigning Party by an 
amendment to this Agreement signed by both Parties, and the assignor binding the assignee to the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

8. Captions. The section headings or titles and/or all section numbers contained in this 
Agreement are intended for the convenience of the reader and not intended to have any substantive 
meaning and are not to be interpreted as part of this Agreement. 

9. Recitals. The recitals shall be considered an integral part of the Agreement. 



6 

10. Execution. The Parties signing this Agreement on behalf of each Party are, by said 
signatures, affirming that they are authorized to enter into this Agreement for and on behalf of the 
respective Parties to this Agreement.  

INGHAM COUNTY COMMISSIONER 

 

By: ____________________________________ 
 Patrick E. Lindemann 
 Ingham County Drain Commissioner 

 
MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

Patricia Herring Jackson 
Its:       Supervisor 
 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

Deborah Guthrie 
Its:       Clerk 

 
 



















 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

12. B  

To:  Board Members 

From:  Michael R. Hamel, Fire Chief 

Date:  March 27, 2024 

Re: MSP Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division Section 19 

Resolution 

 

Meridian Township intends to submit an Application for Disaster Assistance to the Michigan State 

Police, Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division under Section 19 of the Emergency 

Management Act for damages caused by the August 2023 severe storms, tornadoes, and flooding. 

The eligible reimbursement amount for Meridian Township is approximately $30,345.48. The 

application process requires the municipality to submit a formal resolution. Enclosed is the 

resolution for Board review and approval. 

 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO ADOPT THE STATE DISASTER CONTINGENCY FUND GRANT RESOLUTION 
FOR MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP’S APPLICATION FOR DISASTER ASSISTANCE. 

 
 
Attached: Application for Disaster Assistance and State Contingency Fund Grant Resolution 





STATE DISASTER CONTINGENCY FUND GRANT 
RESOLUTION 

BE IT RESOLVED BY (1) OF  (2), 

WHEREAS,  (2), Michigan, is a political subdivision 
within the State of Michigan with an official Emergency Operations plan in compliance with Section 19 of the 
Emergency Management Act, Act 390, Public Acts of 1976, as amended. 

WHEREAS,   (2), sustained severe losses of major 
proportions brought on by the (3) resulting in the
following conditions (4): 

WHEREAS, (1 ) certifies that 
the  (5) Emergency Operations
Plan was implemented at the onset of the disaster at   (6) 
and all applicable disaster relief forces identified therein were exhausted. 

WHEREAS, as a direct result of the disaster, public damage and expenditures were extraordinary and 
place an unreasonably great financial burden on   (2) 
totaling   (7). 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT  
the Governor authorize a grant to the 

(1) requests
(2) from the

State Disaster Contingency Fund pursuant to Section 1 9, Act 390, Public Acts of 1976, as amended. 

FURTHERMORE,  (8) is authorized to execute
for and in behalf of (2) the application for financial
assistance and to provide to the State any information required for that purpose. 

Action taken and incorporated in the minutes of a meeting of 

 (name of governing body) 

on  (date) 

Attest; (name of clerk) 

NOTES: (1) Insert name of governing body (City Council, County Board of Commissioners, Township Board, etc.) 

(2) Insert name of political subdivision (City of I County, Township of 

. etc.) (3) Insert the type of disaster (tornado, flood, explosion, etc.)

(4) Insert a brief description of the effects of the disaster on the community.
(5) County governments and municipalities under 10,000 population insert the term "'county"; municipalities over 10,000 population 

insert the term 'municipal' if they maintain a separate plan; or the term "county/municipal" if they are included in the county plan.
(6) Insert the time and date the plan was implemented.
(7) Insert the total dollar value of eligible disaster expenditures and costs (from Section 3 of the application).
(8) Insert the name of the applicant's agent who is authorized to act for and on behalf of the political subdivision. 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

12.C 
 

To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
Date:  March 26, 2024 
 
Re: Text Amendment #2024-03 – Planning Commission Membership Standards 

Ordinance 
 
Text Amendment #2024-03 is an ordinance that would update the number of members of the 
Planning Commission. The current ordinance calls for nine members of the Planning Commission. 
State enabling legislation allows communities to have between five and eleven members, depending 
on the type of government agency. Meridian Township has had a nine-member Planning 
Commission based on the old Michigan Planning Enabling Act, from prior to 2008. When the State 
updated the Act in 2008, the Township discussed changing the number of members to the Planning 
Commission to seven and the original draft of the ordinance showed seven members, but this change 
did not make the final ordinance at that time.  
 
At the March 19th Township Board meeting, an initial discussion on the matter was held and no 
major concerns were raised. The Board directed Staff to discuss the proposal with the Planning 
Commission for their input as well. The Planning Commission discussed the proposed change at 
their March 25th meeting and raised no major concerns as well. There was some discussion 
regarding new levels of quorum and how many votes would be required to approve specific items, 
along with an acknowledgement that Staff would need to review the bylaws if this ordinance was 
approved, to bring forward any bylaw changes that would be necessary as a result. But generally, 
the Planning Commission was supportive of the change.  
 
Staff recommends approval of the proposed ordinance at this time to amend the Code of Ordinances 
to change the number of Planning Commission members from nine to seven. Staff has provided the 
following recommended motion and attached resolution to introduce the ordinance.  
 

Move to adopt the resolution approving for introduction Text Amendment 
#2024-03 to amend the Code of Ordinances of the Charter Township of Meridian 
at Section 2-287 to change the number of Planning Commission members from 
nine to seven.   

 
Attachments 

1. Resolution to approve for Introduction Ordinance 2024-03 
2. Ordinance 2024-03 – Membership of the Planning Commission 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE - INTRODUCTION             Text Amendment 2024-03 
Planning Commission Membership 

 
RESOLUTION 

 
At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 2nd day of April 
2024, at 6:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT:    ________ ________________________________________________________________ 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT:             
 
 The following resolution was offered by ___ ________________ and supported by 
_______________________. 
 

WHEREAS, the Township’s code of ordinances currently requires nine members on the 
Planning Commission; and  
 

WHEREAS, the State enabling legislation allows for as few as five and as many as nine 
members on a local Planning Commission ; and 

 
WHEREAS, there are currently two vacancies on the Planning Commission and their 

Commission is functioning effectively with seven members; and 
 
WHEREAS, there have been other occasions where only seven members were on the 

Planning Commission and business continued to be effectively completed in a timely manner; and 
 
WHEREAS, there have been two new planning related Boards added in the Township since 

the 2008 update of the State enabling legislation, allowing for a variety of additional volunteering 
opportunities; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby INTRODUCES FOR PUBLICATION AND SUBSEQUENT ADOPTION 
Ordinance No. 2024-03, entitled “An Ordinance to amend Section 2-287, Membership, of the 
Charter Township of Meridian Code of Ordinances to modify the number of required members of 
the Planning Commission.”; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk of the Charter Township of Meridian is directed 
to publish the Ordinance in the form in which it was adopted. 

 



Resolution to Approve – Introduction                    Text Amendment 2024-03 
Page 2         Planning Commission Membership 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
     

NAYS:   __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 
Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 
and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 2nd   
day of April, 2024. 
  
     
       ___________________________________   
       Deborah Guthrie 
       Township Clerk 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-03 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 2-287, MEMBERSHIP, OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 3 
MERIDIAN CODE OF ORDINANCES TO MODIFY THE NUMBER OF REQUIRED MEMBERS OF THE 4 

PLANNING COMMISSION 5 
 6 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 7 
 8 
Section 1. Section 2-287, Membership, is hereby amended to read as follows:  9 
 10 

(a) Number; community representation; holding of other offices; terms of office; removal. The 11 
Planning Commission shall consist of nine seven members who shall be appointed by the 12 
Township Supervisor, subject to the approval by a majority vote of the Township Board, 13 
elected and serving. The members shall represent important segments of the community in 14 
accordance with the major interests as they exist in the local unit of government, such as 15 
agriculture, natural resources, recreation, education, public health, government, 16 
transportation, industry, and commerce. The membership shall have geographical 17 
representation of the local unit of government to the extent practicable. Members of the 18 
Planning Commission shall be qualified electors in the Township, except that one Planning 19 
Commission member may be an individual who is not a qualified elector in the Township. No 20 
member of the Planning Commission shall be an elected officer or employee of the Township. 21 
One member may be a member of the Zoning Board of Appeals. The term of each member 22 
shall be three years. All members shall hold office until their successors are appointed. 23 
Members may, upon written charges and after a public hearing, be removed by the Township 24 
Board for misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office. 25 

(b) [UNCHANGED] 26 
(c) [UNCHANGED] 27 
(d) [UNCHANGED] 28 

 29 
Section 2. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 30 

invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 31 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 32 

 33 
Section 3.  Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 34 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 35 
effect. 36 

 37 
Section 4.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 38 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 39 
 40 
Section 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days following the date of 41 

publication.  42 
 43 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 44 
XXXXXXX, 2024.  45 
 46 
 47 
 48 
______________________________              ______________________________ 49 
Patricia Herring Jackson, Township Supervisor           Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 50 



 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

13.A (1) 

To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP  
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  March 26, 2024 
 
Re: Recreational Marijuana License Application  
 Zone 1 – Haslett Gallery 
 
The Recreational Marijuana Review Committee has completed their initial review of the applications 
that were submitted for recreational marijuana in the Township. Zone 1, which is located at the 
southeast corner of Okemos Road and Haslett Road. One application was received in this Zone during 
the January application window the Township Board authorized. The applicant, Haslett Gallery, Inc., 
is also the previously selected medical marijuana licensee, although they are not yet open for medical 
marijuana sales and have indicated on their application that they would not be applying to the State 
of Michigan for a medical license at this location.  
 
Application Contents 
Staff reviewed the application based on the standards found in Section 40-68(2) of the Township 
Ordinances, which outlines the requirements for the submittal. Staff’s review of the application 
determined that the application met all the requirements in the Ordinance. Notably, this applicant 
has indicated all along that their sales do not have odor issues, as they sell only pre-packaged 
products. Therefore, there should be no rogue odors, although they do have filtration systems that 
are utilized to ensure no trade odors escape.  The applicant has operated other facilities and there 
are no denials/restrictions/suspensions/revocations/etc with the other licensed facilities.  In total, 
the application meets the minimum standards of the Ordinance. 
 
Competitive Review Criteria 
Although only one application was received in Zone 1, the application was still reviewed by the 
Review Committee against the competitive review criteria, to determine if there were any areas that 
needed to be clarified or additional information submitted.  

a. The content and sufficiency of the information provided in the application for recreational 
marijuana licensing. 
The Review Committee found no deficiencies in their application.  
 
b. Whether the proposed licensed location is consistent with the land use for the surrounding 
neighborhood. 
The facility is proposed to be located in a small commercial center that has been in this area 
for decades. The space is currently vacant and has been for some time, although the center 
itself is largely occupied. The location is consistent with the Master Plan designation for the 
property and the surrounding uses. There are residential uses to the south, but the operation 
is such that this facility will operate no differently than a traditional retail outlet.  
 
c. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have demonstrated competency in business 
operations and have a good reputation in the community and marihuana industry, viewed in 
light of history of compliance with state and local laws and regulations; whether the applicant



Recreational Marijuana License – Haslett Gallery     March 26, 2024 
Page 2 
 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

or its stakeholders has held, or currently holds, any other state regulated license, including a 
CRA issued license or a liquor license; whether the applicant or its stakeholders currently 
operate or previously operated any other marihuana or state regulated businesses; reviews and 
references related to any ongoing business operations; and any other information or 
documentation that demonstrates good reputation and good moral character.   
The applicant, both corporate and individually, have not had a license, permit, or certificate 
issued by a licensing authority denied, restricted, revoked, or not renewed.  
 
d. The extent that proposed plans eliminate or minimize traffic, noise, and odor effects on the 
surrounding neighborhood. 
This application has the best possible odor control, by not bringing unpackaged products into 
the facility. This approach should lead to the ‘lightest touch’ of any of the marijuana applicants. 
Their noise and traffic are not expected to be more than a traditional retail outlet.  
 
e. Whether the applicant has demonstrated a dedication to Meridian Township and the 
community.  
The application indicated a strong push towards local hiring and so far during construction, 
they have utilized local contractors where possible. Their staffing plan is solid and indicates a 
total of 14 new full time equivalents, all starting at a minimum of $15/hr.  
 
f. How the application meets a number of physical site criteria, listed in the procedures.  
The proposed facility would reuse an existing retail space that has been vacant for several 
years, including a period of time prior to the applicant leasing the space. They have already 
started the build out of the space, previously, for medical marijuana, putting over $450,000 into 
the project. An additional $250,000 is expected to complete construction on the space. There 
are no physical changes to the exterior of the space. The applicant has proposed a 
comprehensive security plan which will be reviewed by the Police Department during the 
Special Use Permit process.  
 
g. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have reasonably demonstrated that they possess 
sufficient financial resources to implement and carry out their proposed business plan and 
operations. In assessing this criterium, the Township should consider the scope of applicant’s 
proposed business plan in conjunction with documentation of financial assets (i.e. bank 
statements, tax returns, documents denoting pecuniary interest utilized by the CRA), liabilities, 
and sources of funding. 
The applicant has provided financial information showing that they have the capacity to take 
on the project and bring it to fruition.  
 
h. Whether the applicant is an existing and operating medical marijuana Permit Holder within 
the Township and the length of time of such operations. 
The applicant is one of the original medical marijuana applicants, but never finished 
construction during the Covid19 pandemic and did not open the facility.  
 
i. Whether the planned signage for the proposed location is consistent with the land uses in the 
surrounding neighborhood and of such a design and location that is in harmony with the purpose 
and intent of the Zoning Ordinance and the Meridian Township Recreational Marihuana 
Ordinance. This includes, but is not limited to, the size, location, construction materials of the sign 
and/or design of the sign, logos, or lighting.



Recreational Marijuana License – Haslett Gallery     March 26, 2024 
Page 3 
 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 
The signage being proposed is standard retail signage, with no obvious imagery that would be 
disharmonious with the surrounding commercial businesses and larger surrounding 
neighborhood. They will have a standard wall sign and a panel in the muti-tenant ground sign 
that already exists on the property.  
 
j. Whether the applicant has planned community outreach to the Township and its residents, 
including but not limited to planned educational services, charitable or philanthropic activity, 
community improvement, or other programs that will directly benefit the Township, Township 
services, or improve the health, safety, and welfare of the Township and its residents. 
The applicant has indicated some community benefits in their application, outlining what they 
have done in other communities and how that might apply to Meridian township.  
 

Township Board Action 
The Township Board can approve or not approve a conditional permit in Zone 1 to Haslett Gallery. 
Should a conditional permit be granted, the applicant will then need to apply for Special Use permit 
review, which will start with the Planning Commission and ultimately be reviewed and 
approved/denied by the Township Board.  



 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13.A (4) 

To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP  
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  March 27, 2024 
 
Re: Recreational Marijuana License Application  
 Zone 4 – Okemos Local Investments 
 
The Recreational Marijuana Review Committee has completed their initial review of the applications 
that were submitted for recreational marijuana in the Township. Zone 4, which is located on the east 
side of Hagadorn Road, south of Mount Hope Road and the CSX Railroad tracks. One application was 
received in this Zone during the January application window the Township Board authorized. The 
applicant, Okemos Local Investments, was previously selected as a medical marijuana licensee, 
although their approval lapsed and no construction towards a facility was ever started.  
 
Application Contents 
Staff reviewed the application based on the standards found in Section 40-68(2) of the Township 
Ordinances, which outlines the requirements for the submittal. Staff’s review of the application 
determined that the application met all the requirements in the Ordinance, however we did ask the 
applicant for multiple clarifications, given the nature of the ownership structure, which includes 
several llcs, some of which are new as of earlier this year. This is not unusual in the industry, it just 
creates layers for Staff to research through. In total, the application meets the minimum standards of 
the Ordinance. 
 
Competitive Review Criteria 
Although only one application was received in Zone 4, the application was still reviewed by the 
Review Committee against the competitive review criteria, to determine if there were any areas that 
needed to be clarified or additional information submitted.  

a. The content and sufficiency of the information provided in the application for recreational 
marijuana licensing. 
All application deficiencies were resolved acceptably by the applicant.  
 
b. Whether the proposed licensed location is consistent with the land use for the surrounding 
neighborhood. 
The facility is proposed to be located in an area along Hagadorn Road that is on the edge of 
the built up area of the Road. There is an office building to the north, but to the south is one 
single-family home surrounded by a large amount of natural area. To the west is one of 
Michigan State University’s research farms. The house proposed to be repurposed for the 
proposed facility is in need of repairs and refurbishment. The proposed use is consistent with 
the Master Plan designation for the property.  
 
c. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have demonstrated competency in business 
operations and have a good reputation in the community and marihuana industry, viewed in 
light of history of compliance with state and local laws and regulations; whether the applicant



Recreational Marijuana License – Okemos Local Investments  March 27, 2024 
Page 2 
 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

or its stakeholders has held, or currently holds, any other state regulated license, including a 
CRA issued license or a liquor license; whether the applicant or its stakeholders currently 
operate or previously operated any other marihuana or state regulated businesses; reviews and 
references related to any ongoing business operations; and any other information or 
documentation that demonstrates good reputation and good moral character.   
The applicant, both corporate and individually, have not had a license, permit, or certificate 
issued by a licensing authority denied, restricted, revoked, or not renewed.  
 
d. The extent that proposed plans eliminate or minimize traffic, noise, and odor effects on the 
surrounding neighborhood. 
This application is relying on the fact that they are in a relatively unpopulated portion of the 
Township as the main inhibitor of negative externalities. They have limited detail on odor 
control, with basic systems in place to limit smells. They have acknowledged traffic through 
their traffic study, which indicates that a turn lane and taper lane are likely to be required by 
the Ingham County Road Department. Given the location however, traffic would not be 
expected to be a major concern.  
 
e. Whether the applicant has demonstrated a dedication to Meridian Township and the 
community.  
The application largely did not address this issue. One of the proposed owners, however, is a 
resident of the Township and lives nearby the proposed facility.   
 
f. How the application meets a number of physical site criteria, listed in the procedures.  
The property and house in question are in need of investment and rehabilitation and the 
applicant is proposing to do just that. The proposal will substantially improve the property and 
the corridor generally in this regard. The security plan is fairly basic at this time, following State 
guidelines. We will solicit further feedback from the Police Department during the Special Use 
Permit review process.  
 
g. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have reasonably demonstrated that they possess 
sufficient financial resources to implement and carry out their proposed business plan and 
operations. In assessing this criterium, the Township should consider the scope of applicant’s 
proposed business plan in conjunction with documentation of financial assets (i.e. bank 
statements, tax returns, documents denoting pecuniary interest utilized by the CRA), liabilities, 
and sources of funding. 
At this point, the applicant has provided no information about the financial backing of the 
project. This is something that will be addressed by the State, should this application proceed 
to licensing.  
 
h. Whether the applicant is an existing and operating medical marijuana Permit Holder within 
the Township and the length of time of such operations. 
This application was one of the originally selected medical marijuana applications, but they 
never proceeded to special use permit review or construction.  
 
i. Whether the planned signage for the proposed location is consistent with the land uses in the 
surrounding neighborhood and of such a design and location that is in harmony with the purpose 
and intent of the Zoning Ordinance and the Meridian Township Recreational Marihuana 
Ordinance. This includes, but is not limited to, the size, location, construction materials of the sign 
and/or design of the sign, logos, or lighting.



Recreational Marijuana License – Okemos Local Investments  March 27, 2024 
Page 3 
 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 
Signage details have not been submitted at this time.  
 
j. Whether the applicant has planned community outreach to the Township and its residents, 
including but not limited to planned educational services, charitable or philanthropic activity, 
community improvement, or other programs that will directly benefit the Township, Township 
services, or improve the health, safety, and welfare of the Township and its residents. 
No information has been provided with respect to this standard of review.  
 

Township Board Action 
The Township Board can approve or not approve a conditional permit in Zone 4 to Okemos Local 
Investments.. Should a conditional permit be granted, the applicant will then need to apply for Special 
Use permit review, which will start with the Planning Commission and ultimately be reviewed and 
approved/denied by the Township Board.  



 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13.A (5) 

To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP  
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  March 27, 2024 
 
Re: Recreational Marijuana License Application  
 Zone 5 – SAANDS Meridian 
 
The Recreational Marijuana Review Committee has completed their initial review of the applications 
that were submitted for recreational marijuana in the Township. Zone 5, which includes both the 
northeast and northwest quadrants of the intersection of Okemos and Jolly Roads. One application 
was received in this Zone during the January application window the Township Board authorized. 
The applicant, SAANDS Meridian, is the previously selected medical marijuana licensee. They have 
completed construction on their medical facility, received a temporary certificate of occupancy, and 
are in process with the State for issuance of their license to operate.  
 
Application Contents 
Staff reviewed the application based on the standards found in Section 40-68(2) of the Township 
Ordinances, which outlines the requirements for the submittal. Staff’s review of the application 
determined that the application met all the requirements in the Ordinance. This applicant provided 
the most complete application of the five received. They have detailed security and operations plans, 
along with a very detailed background of the other businesses operated and the parties involved. In 
total, the application meets the minimum standards of the Ordinance. 
 
Competitive Review Criteria 
Although only one application was received in Zone 5, the application was still reviewed by the 
Review Committee against the competitive review criteria, to determine if there were any areas that 
needed to be clarified or additional information submitted.  

a. The content and sufficiency of the information provided in the application for recreational 
marijuana licensing. 
The Review Committee found no deficiencies in their application and noted that this 
application was the most complete of the five received.  
 
b. Whether the proposed licensed location is consistent with the land use for the surrounding 
neighborhood. 
The facility is proposed to be located in a small commercial center that has been in this area 
for decades. The space is currently vacant and has been for some time, although the center 
itself is largely occupied. The location is consistent with the Master Plan designation for the 
property and the surrounding uses. There are no residential uses adjacent, as the area is 
entirely non-residential and the use should function similar to any other retail operation.  
 
c. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have demonstrated competency in business 
operations and have a good reputation in the community and marihuana industry, viewed in 
light of history of compliance with state and local laws and regulations; whether the applicant



Recreational Marijuana License – SAANDS Meridian   March 27, 2024 
Page 2 
 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

or its stakeholders has held, or currently holds, any other state regulated license, including a 
CRA issued license or a liquor license; whether the applicant or its stakeholders currently 
operate or previously operated any other marihuana or state regulated businesses; reviews and 
references related to any ongoing business operations; and any other information or 
documentation that demonstrates good reputation and good moral character.   
The applicant, both corporate and individually, have not had a license, permit, or certificate 
issued by a licensing authority denied, restricted, revoked, or not renewed. They have a broad 
history in the industry, both medical and recreational and have no major issues over their time 
of operation.  
 
d. The extent that proposed plans eliminate or minimize traffic, noise, and odor effects on the 
surrounding neighborhood. 
The applicant comprehensively addresses each topic, notably odor, which they have a broad 
plan to address. This is another facility that doesn’t sell loose product, meaning everything is 
sealed before arriving on site, strongly reducing the potential for odor issues.  
 
e. Whether the applicant has demonstrated a dedication to Meridian Township and the 
community.  
The applicant has committed to a living wage of $20/hr plus benefits. Additionally, they have 
already made a substantial investment in the facility, purchasing the shopping center and 
building the space our for a medical license. Plans are in development to give the entire center 
a ‘facelift’ in the coming year. 
 
f. How the application meets a number of physical site criteria, listed in the procedures.  
The security plan that has been provided is top notch, outlining items that are well beyond a 
standard plan. The proposed facility would reuse an existing building rather than build new, 
folding into the exiting retail framework of the Township. There is a substantial amount of 
investment into the space and separately, the applicant is proposing to enhance the entire 
facade the shopping center as the project moves forward.  
 
g. Whether the applicant and its stakeholders have reasonably demonstrated that they possess 
sufficient financial resources to implement and carry out their proposed business plan and 
operations. In assessing this criterium, the Township should consider the scope of applicant’s 
proposed business plan in conjunction with documentation of financial assets (i.e. bank 
statements, tax returns, documents denoting pecuniary interest utilized by the CRA), liabilities, 
and sources of funding. 
The applicant has provided financial information showing that they have the capacity to take 
on the project and bring it to fruition.  
 
h. Whether the applicant is an existing and operating medical marijuana Permit Holder within 
the Township and the length of time of such operations. 
The applicant is one of the original medical marijuana applicants. They have received 
temporary occupancy on the space, having finished construction on the build out and are 
working with the State of Michigan to get their medical license issued so they can open and 
operate.   
 
i. Whether the planned signage for the proposed location is consistent with the land uses in the 
surrounding neighborhood and of such a design and location that is in harmony with the purpose 
and intent of the Zoning Ordinance and the Meridian Township Recreational Marihuana



Recreational Marijuana License – SAANDS Meridian   March 27, 2024 
Page 3 
 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

 Ordinance. This includes, but is not limited to, the size, location, construction materials of the sign 
and/or design of the sign, logos, or lighting. 
The proposed sign is relatively standard retail type signage on the wall of the building, above 
the suite.  
 
j. Whether the applicant has planned community outreach to the Township and its residents, 
including but not limited to planned educational services, charitable or philanthropic activity, 
community improvement, or other programs that will directly benefit the Township, Township 
services, or improve the health, safety, and welfare of the Township and its residents. 
The applicant has provided a broad community outreach program in their application 
information, including regular meetings to keep the community informed and processes for 
address complaints.  
 

Township Board Action 
The Township Board can approve or not approve a conditional permit in Zone 5 to SAANDS Meridian. 
Should a conditional permit be granted, the applicant will then need to apply for Special Use permit 
review, which will start with the Planning Commission and ultimately be reviewed and 
approved/denied by the Township Board.  



 

 

13.B 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  April 2, 2024 
 
Re: 2024 Pathway Master Plan Update 
 

In 2023, residents contacted the Township and asked that we consider installing a pathway along 
Fox Hollow Dr as this is a route that children use to walk to Hiawatha Elementary School. These 
school children use the sidewalk along Cavalier Dr, then they walk along Fox Hollow Dr where 
there is no sidewalk or pathway to get to the existing pathway at the end of Birch Bluff Dr.  
 
No sidewalks or pathways were constructed on Fox Hollow Dr due to development patterns in this 
area. We are proposing to add this section of pathway to the Pathway Master Plan so that it can be 
constructed in 2024 in order to provide a safer route to school for these children.  
 

 
 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE 2024 PATHWAY MASTER PLAN. 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Proposed 2024 Pathway Master Plan 



PATHWAY MASTER PLAN

CITY OF EAST LANSING

CITY OF EAST LANSING

CITY OF EAST LANSING

ACT 425 WITH 
EAST LANSING

ANNEXATION 2006

   ANNEXATION 1970

29

20 21

28 27 26

31 32 33 34 35

30 25

36

22 23

11

2 1

12

16 15 14 13

24

6 5 4 3

8 9 10

REVISION DATE

T4N, R1W
INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN

LAKE LANSING

    CITY OF EAST LANSING

10/29/01

453 AC.

EAST LANSING
ACT 425 WITH 

CITY OF EAST LANSING

ANNEXATION/108 AGREEMENT

S
W
E
E
N
EY

 DR .

ACT 425 WITH 
EAST LANSING

17

B

A

O

H
J

M

R

CI
TY

 O
F 

EA
ST

 L
AN

SI
N

G

MSU

CITY OF EAST LANSING

MSU

A Prime Community

3/13/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNER RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PAVED SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRIVATE SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PAVED SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CROSS COUNTRY*

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSS COUNTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
71.2 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
21.08 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.30 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
37.2 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.8 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.2 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.70 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HERITAGE PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
.37 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ALTERNATE SURFACE PATHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.9 MILES (UNPAVED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIDGES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EBERLY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIBER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLYBUNION  

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Meadows Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/7/06

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAGNETIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTESSORI

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SNELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
REC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDCLIFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUNICIPAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POST OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MURPHY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILKSHIRE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. MARTHA'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH/SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text
5500

AutoCAD SHX Text
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text
6500

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RALYA

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMETERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAPPHIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARDCLIFF  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESEARCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LONG  LEAF  TR..

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLDENWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLLEGE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLLEGE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHLAND TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ded. 2000)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELK LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREEZY POINT DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
END

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTERBERRY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIND N WOODS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAMUEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIZZEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACKINAC RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAYSTONE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNDANCE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIDDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
Taos Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Taos

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
           CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Indiana  Rd.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SONOMA VISTA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHPORT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAYSTONE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEVILLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIDDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAPESIDE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AZTEC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZEPHYR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUN RAPIDS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDY  HEIGHTS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAZY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEOLIAN .

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  OAK  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  OAK  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS       RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSOCIATION  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLEAF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARUNDEL PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX   HOLLOW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAMARACK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BINGHAMTON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAVALIER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASHLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICEROY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED  CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THISTLEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
JONQUIL LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAILWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROOKED CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELDING  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIXON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADYWOOD  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRECKINRIDGE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THRUSHWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAGBARK  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIMARRON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAINBOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.  HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.  ARBUTUS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.  ARBUTUS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.  HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WENONAH   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALGOMA    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIAWATHA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PONDEROSA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAGECOACH  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORSBERG DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SNOW  BERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY  TREE  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNBERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIMNEY  OAKS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED

AutoCAD SHX Text
OSCODA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HATCH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUFF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREAKWATER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEEWARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPINNAKER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPLICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REEF CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STARBOARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDREEF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOALS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIZZEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEEWARD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEBEWAING RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVE  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHEBOYGAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAQUAMENON RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOJAVE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHARF DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARINER  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOALS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABANINGO  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAUBINWAY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SARAN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN  GLEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILD CHERRY PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUGAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDWING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERCER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIONEER TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIRHAL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. BROOKFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAUMONT RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Twyckingham

AutoCAD SHX Text
C & O R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER  TERRACE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Trails

AutoCAD SHX Text
Seven

AutoCAD SHX Text
(vac. 1998)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MADISON AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA  BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMALL ACRES LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST HILLS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
METHODIST  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENT  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEWEENAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCHWOOD    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANBURY  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blackstone 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blackfoot Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Indian Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Minoka Tr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. Pond Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Pond Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Treetop Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pimlico Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cranwood Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thistledown Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Waterford Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tanforan Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sandown Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Donerail Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Meadows

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bay

AutoCAD SHX Text
Campus  Hill  Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GERMANY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGATE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGOON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAGO WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEL  MAR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND RIVER AVE. (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON CREEK DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAWTHORNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEKONSHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SARANAC LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOHICAN  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONAPAH TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODHILL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMANCHE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAUMEE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARROWHEAD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARROWHEAD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPEWA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHEROKEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNT  HOPE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COCHISE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN HILLS      DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAWNEE  TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEWANEE  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCIENCE  PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONEIDA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRYWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTERNUT  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAUSAU  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENOBSCOT  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAUSAU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOMAHAWK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONEIDA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
YUMA   TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA  BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEBBLESTONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONEYCROFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALGARY BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIRABEAU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAKER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKLAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARBOROUGH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PONTCHARTRAIN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLSIDE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILKWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERWOOD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHORTWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE OAKS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX  CHASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWEETWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY  HILL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELMWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARBOR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HICKORYWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SATINWOOD   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALDERWOOD   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPICEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISTYWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST  HILLS  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IVYWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ETHEL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONGDON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLIVER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERWOOD  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NICOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNMORROW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELLINGTON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIRLOOM VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROLLING  MEADOW  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURE  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNNY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIPPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNIGHTSFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTRY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTERCUP  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JO DON DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANSFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCKWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENCLIFF  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALGONQUIN  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMINOLE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENMORE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANDVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOOMFIELD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANITOU  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECA  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMILTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHVIEW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOBIE   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASHINGTON HGTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVERANCE ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOORE    ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMILTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLINTON ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEPPERIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHGATE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOXCROFT  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONITA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESTWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITHFIELD AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESTWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLONY    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYLOR  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(vac. 1997)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIFTH AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYONNE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SLEEPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOIS  ILE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STARFLOWER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hickory Island Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERLEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLIPPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LADY

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAYLORD C. SMITH CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sapphire Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lake

AutoCAD SHX Text
Emerald

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Forest

AutoCAD SHX Text
Emerald

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blossom

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Wild

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
END

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Deville

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bentley

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Le Baron

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Duryea

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Royce

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Marmon

AutoCAD SHX Text
Maxwell Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Paige

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTINUS ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARVEY ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYPRESS ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENMAN ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAMON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN  ATTA  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER LANE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMBER  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MELVILLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSELAND  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAHILL  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERI TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHISTLER DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAPHAEL RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Golden Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANDA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KOALA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KODIAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRUIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTINIQE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANYON TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAMPEN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JO  PASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JESSALEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUARRY       RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROLLING

AutoCAD SHX Text
THAMES  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICADILLY  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOWNING  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIHART  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPER  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOESMITH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNOLL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HONEYCREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD VALLEY DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARM

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KNOLL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
KASEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRAWBERRY  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EARLIGLOW  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKWOOD  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNELL  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASCOT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VENTURA  PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CADE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODVILLE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACADEMIC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORAL WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKINGHAM  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALLENDALE   RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE  ASH LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKINGHAM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSIDE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIFFDALE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NESTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAMINGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISCAYNE   WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILSHIRE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRANKLIN   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYSHORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONAWONDA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERBROOK  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTEREY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BABBITT ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARLTON  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTEBELLO AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEUNA  PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYONNE  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAW  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTTER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDSON  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLBY  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARNSBURY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
YORK WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DICKENS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGS CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. KINGS CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMINSTER  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENT TREE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARNSBURY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRIOTS  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUGLERS   WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURCHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBOTT  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDY  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORTER  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gossard  Ave.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Brook Haven. Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Briarwick

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Coach House

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carriage Hill Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carriage Hill 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Innkeepers Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Captains 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Brookline 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cobblers Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Endenhall 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Esperanza Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Towar 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Carino Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Farrington 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hermandad Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N. Raindrop Rd.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIARWICK   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCH   ROW    DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOOTMAN  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARGATE  LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIBER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARKSON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZON  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HART  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARDY   AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIBSON  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POLLARD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORTER  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUTHERFORD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWAR  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOSSARD  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cir.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH CRYSTAL COVE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bridgewater Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bridgewater

AutoCAD SHX Text
Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Graebear

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  TRUNK  WESTERN  R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE  HOLLOW  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK  LAKE  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
B. R. I-69  SAGINAW  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Balog  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hodge  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lenore Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Chamberlain Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KERNWOOD RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLEMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E.   LAKE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Partridge  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Quail  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pheasant  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Greenleaf  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hardy  Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sunset  Ave.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Mallard  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Crane  St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKDALE  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDONDO DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEECHWOOD  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIKE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASS  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERCH  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLISS  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DR..

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBIA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILENZ 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERRY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDALL  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNHOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROYAL  OAK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE   DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEE   ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACK  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILDER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHAEL ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAKER  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUNHOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWNER  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITEHILLS  LAKES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THORNGATE RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDRUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gardens 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Melling 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERGLEN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODCLIFFE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKENCLIFFE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGEPOND PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEREFORD CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENWICK CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LYNDHURST WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODWIND TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUTTONWOOD DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLES WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHIEF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRACKEN WOODS CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAUTICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WRIGHTWIND DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENOSHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMBASSADOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANDERA    LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WANDERING WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SASHABAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOVERDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE   KNOLL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTSEGO DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN DYKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SLEEPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Club Meridian Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hampton Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLEMAN  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Songbird 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Crossing

AutoCAD SHX Text
Meridian

AutoCAD SHX Text
East Lawn

AutoCAD SHX Text
Memory Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cemetery

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN MALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
1982 GRAND RIVER AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Huntsville Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Montgomery Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PADDOCK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMETERY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sharbrook Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMILY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EARLIGLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fieldstone Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOKOMIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CTR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUD LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEFFRIES  DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEFFRIES  DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEFFRIES  DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOAN  DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON CREEK DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON CREEK DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUD LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNRUH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNRUH DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUD LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUD LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MUD LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COSTIGAN DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EBERLY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LAKE O' THE HILLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOON LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISAAC LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARIETTA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cider Mill Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELVEDERE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELVEDERE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NASSAU ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLMSTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Morning Glory Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Tapestry Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Elderberry Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Veranda

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYACINTH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUPINE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASTILBE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUPINE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MYRTLE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COREOPSIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blueberry Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKEMOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEMENTARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENNETT WOODS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  PARK  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE RIDGE RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. SUNWIND DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Glen Oak Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODS EDGE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUS GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATH TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMSTOWN TWP

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEDINAH  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAR  PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARNOUSTIE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAULISTROL DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KITTANSET DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZAHARAS LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSSUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Conrad Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blueberry Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF EAST LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACT 425 CITY OF LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
11/03/99

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOPHIEA PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
Kevern Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Usiak Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benca Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. Benca Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Laforet Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rain Forest Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benham 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Benham

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOPHIEA PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
* = PRIVATE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANACOSTIA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWINGING DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMERON OAKS DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BURNING BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
Glen Eyrie Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text
Grand River Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY PARK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMONS PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWIMMING

AutoCAD SHX Text
POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GIESBORO LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
500

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLLY  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALAIEDON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PKWY.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAKE CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANNAH BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESOTERIC  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EYDE  PARKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN   EYRIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Farrins Parkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST SPORTS CENTER/HARTRICK NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR NATURAL CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA HILLS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUTH MOORE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRATTIN WOODS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LANSING MARSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSHALL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPENGLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOOSTER STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA HILLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARTRICK PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WONCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FERGUSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NANCY L. MOORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HISTORICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN ATTA WOODS PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH MERIDIAN ROAD PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR BEND HEIGHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN HILLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGG PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTGATE PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARRIS NATURE CENTER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARMERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORLANDO PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANSFER STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAFETY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MERIDIAN TWP. PARKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKS DEPT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOAT LAUNCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATHERTON  WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
West Lodges Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
East Lodges Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGHAM COUNTY PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PRESERVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
28-326-033

AutoCAD SHX Text
WANGLER-HOWE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTER-DUNHAM/BORROUGHS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLYVAN GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUMBAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STURK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RYSBERG PT. DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUBBELL   DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHWEST PROPERTIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWMAN EQUITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
KUZMA DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSTER-CROUSE DONATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAVIS-FOSTER PRESERVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Karen Ann

AutoCAD SHX Text
Janice Lee

AutoCAD SHX Text
Kenneth

AutoCAD SHX Text
Whitehall Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBOTT RD    O-1  O-1  ACADEMIC WAY     M-14  M-14  AEOLIAN DR.       C-7 ALAIEDON PKWY.   ALDN. TWP. ALDERWOOD DR.    F-13 F-13 ALGOMA DR.       B-11 ALGONQUIN WAY   I-8  I-8  ALLEY ST.          N-13* N-13* AMBASSADOR DR.   A-13  A-13  AMBER DR.         K-6  K-6  ANACOSTIA DR.     J-13  J-13  APACHE DR.        F-7  APPLE VALLEY RD.  A-11* A-11* ARAPAHO TRAIL    H-6  H-6  ARBOR DR.         E-13 E-13 ARBUTUS DR.       B-12 B-12 ARDMORE AVE.     G-8, H-9 ARROW HEAD RD.   G-7 G-7 ARUNDEL PLACE    C-9  ASCOT PLACE      L-14 ASSOCIATION DR.    B-9* B-9* ASHLAND AVE.      C-9  C-9  ASTILBE DR.        A-6 A-6 ATHERTON WAY    D-10 D-10 AUTUMNWOOD LN.   B-10  B-10  AZTEC WAY        E-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENT TREE DR.     N-7  BENTLEY CT.       M-7*  BEUNA PARKWAY    M-10  M-10  BIBER ST.         P-1, P-4 P-1, P-4 BINGHAMTON DR.    C-10  C-10  BIRCH BLUFF DR.   B-10  BIRCH ROW DR.     O-3  BIRCHWOOD DR.    E-12  E-12  BIRD FARM LN.     M-16  BISCAYNE WAY      L-13 L-13 BLACKFOOT WAY    G-11* G-11* BLACKSTONE TRAIL  G-11*  G-11*  BLISS ST.          P-12  P-12  BLOOMFIELD DR.   H-10 H-10 BLUEBERRY LN.   K-17*  K-17*  BLUE HAVEN CT.    K-6  K-6  BLUE HAVEN DR.    J-6  J-6  BLUE LAC DR.      M-9* BLYTHEFIELD DR.    N-5  BOIS ILE DR.       M-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
BABBITT ST.        M-12  M-12  BAKER ST.         P-11 BALLYBUNION WAY  C-5   BALOG DR.         O-11*  BANDERA LN.       O-13 O-13 BARNSBURY RD.    N-7  BASS ST.          O-12  BAY MEADOWS CT.  G-13* BANYON TRAIL      K-9  K-9  BAULISTROL DR.   C-5  C-5  BAYONNE AVE.      M-10  M-10  BAYSHORE DR.      M-13 M-13 BEAR LAKE DR.     K-6  K-6  BEAUMONT RD.     D-3  BEECH TREE LN.    B-10 BEECHWOOD DR.   O-16  O-16  BELDING CT.        C-9  C-9  BELVEDERE AVE.    I-12 I-12 BELWOOD DR.       B-9  B-9  BENCA CIR.        E-6*  BENHAM WAY       E-6*  E-6*  BENNETT RD.      D-1, D-8 D-1, D-8 BENSON DR.        M-11M-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA DR.   A-15  A-15  BONITA CIR.           N-4  N-4  BOULEVARD DR.      F-11 F-11 BRACKEN WOODS CT.   F-17 F-17 BREAKWATER DR.     D-15 D-15 BRECKINRIDGE DR.    C-10 C-10 BREEZY POINT DR.    B-11 B-11 BRENTWOOD AVE.     J-5 J-5 BRIARCLIFF DR.         G-4 G-4 BRIARWICK CT.          0-4* 0-4* BRIARWICK DR.         0-4 0-4 BRIDGEWATER CIR.    P-7* P-7* BRIDGEWATER LN.     P-7*  P-7*  BROOK HAVEN LN.     O-4* O-4* BROOKLINE CT.      P-4*  P-4*  BRUIN DR.             K-6  K-6  BUCKDEN WAY       O-3* O-3* BUCKINGHAM RD.     M-13 M-13 BUCKTHORN DR.      O-11 O-11 BUGLERS WAY         O-5 O-5 BURCHAM DR.      K-9,  L-7     K-9,  L-7 BURNING BUSH DR.     E-9 E-9 BUTTERCUP LN.     H-17 H-17 BUTTERNUT DR.      F-9 F-9 BUTTONWOOD DR.    N-15N-15

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABARET TRL.    B-13  B-13  CADE ST.             M-13  M-13  CAHILL DR.            K-6  K-6  CALGARY BLVD.      F-11  F-11  CAMBRIA DR.          N-5  N-5  CAMPUS HILL DR.    I-7* I-7* CAMERON OAKS      L-9 L-9 CANOGA LN.          M-16  M-16  CAPESIDE DR.          E-7  E-7  CAPTAINS WAY       P-4*  P-4*  CARINO CT.           P-3*  P-3*  CARLTON ST.         M-13 M-13 CARNOUSTIE DR.     C-6 C-6 CARRIAGE HILL CT.     O-4* O-4* CARRIAGE HILL DR.     O-4* O-4* CAVALIER DR.         B-9  B-9  CENTRAL PARK DR.     I-10 I-10 CHAMBERLAIN DR.     L-11* L-11* CHAGGAL LN.    J-14  J-14  CHANNING WAY      D-10 D-10 CHANTILLY LN.       K-12 K-12 CHEBOYGAN RD.     E-13 E-13 CHEROKEE WAY      F-8  F-8  CHERRY HILL DR.    F-12  F-12  CHERRY TREE LN.    B-17 B-17 CHERRYWOOD DR.    F-8  F-8  CHIEF OKEMOS CIR.   G-11 G-11 CHIMNEY OAKS DR.    D-17 D-17 CHIPPENDALE CIR.     B-11 B-11 CHIPPEWA DR.        F-7  F-7  CHIPPING CAMDEN LN.  I-16  I-16  CIDER MILL DR.      N-9  N-9  CIMARRON DR.       C-10  C-10  CIRCLE PINES CT.    C-11 C-11 CLIFFDALE DR.    M-14  M-14  CLINTON ST.          G-9 G-9 CLOVERDALE AVE.      C-11 C-11 CLUB MERIDIAN DR.     C-8  C-8  COACH HOUSE DR.     O-4* O-4* COBBLERS DR.        P-4*P-4*

AutoCAD SHX Text
COCHISE LN.          G-6  G-6  COLBY ST.             N-12  N-12  COLEMAN RD.         R-18  R-18  COLLEGE RD.        A-1, F-1  A-1, F-1 COLONY DR.            N-5  N-5  COLUMBIA ST.         O-11O-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMBUS AVE.   I-12 I-12 COMMONS PKWY.  ALDN. TWP.  COMANCHE DR.      G-6  G-6  CONGDON DR.         F-18  F-18  CONIFER CIR.          E-8  E-8  CONRAD DR.           K-17* COPPER CREEK DR.     M-16* COPPERHILL DR.     F-6  F-6  CORAL WAY            M-13  M-13  COREOPSIS BLVD.    A-6 A-6 COREOPSIS CT.          A-6 A-6 COREOPSIS DR.         A-6 A-6 CORNELL RD.          M-14  M-14  COTTAGE DR.          P-14*  COUNTRY DR.          I-17  I-17  COUNTRY VIEW DR.    C-11 C-11 COUNTRYWAY DR. E.   H-11* COUNTY LINE RD.    R-2  R-2  COVE CT.           E-13  E-13  COVENTRY CIR.      N-8  N-8  COYOTE CREEK DR.    B-8  B-8  CRANE ST.             P-14*     P-14* CRANWOOD CT.         G-13*  CREEK LANDING.     M-10 M-10 CREEKSTONE TRAIL     F-6 F-6 CREEKVIEW TERRACE    B-11 CREEKWOOD LN.     M-16  M-16  CREST ST.              P-11 P-11 CRESTWOOD CIR.     N-4 N-4 CRESTWOOD DR.      N-4 N-4 CROOKED CREEK RD.   C-10 C-10 CYPRESS ST.           O-11O-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
DANBURY WAY         H-10*  DANBURY EAST      H-10*     H-10* DANBURY WEST      H-10*      H-10*  DAWN AVE.             O-6  O-6  DAWN AVE., S.         I-6  I-6  DAYSPRING CT.       D-6  D-6  DEL MAR DR.           F-5  F-5  DEVILLE CT.            M-6*  M-6*  DICKENS WAY         N-7  N-7  DIXON CIR.             C-10 C-10 DOBIE CIR.              E-11  E-11  DOBIE RD.       A-11, G-11 DONOVAN PL.         C-9  C-9  DONERAIL PL.          G-13*  DOWNING ST.         K-12   K-12 K-12 DUNMORROW DR.        G-15     G-15 DURYEA CT.            M-7*  M-7*  DUSTIN RD.             E-6E-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLES WAY      N-15 N-15 EARLIGLOW LN.         M-16  M-16  EAST ARBUTUS DR.      A-12  A-12  EAST BENCA WAY       E-6  E-6  EAST BROOKFIELD       J-5  J-5  EAST END CIR.          M-7  M-7  EAST END DR.          M-7  M-7  EAST GOLFRIDGE DR.   O-6  O-6  EAST HIAWATHA DR.     A-12  EAST HIDDEN LAKE DR.   K-7  EAST ISLAND LAKE DR.   Q-6  EAST LAKE DR.   M-13, P-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST REYNOLDS RD.  O-11  O-11  EAST SLEEPY HOLLOW LN. N-9  EAST SUNWIND DR.       C-6 EASTWAY DR.           F-5 EASTWOOD DR.          G-12 G-12 EDSON ST.             M-12 M-12 ELDERBERRY DR.        B-6  ELK LN.               B-10  B-10  ELMWOOD DR.         F-12 F-12 EMERALD FOREST CIR.   K-7* EMERALD LAKE DR.      K-7*  K-7*  EMILY LN.              L-16 ENDENHALL WAY     P-3* P-3* ESOTERIC WAY         H-4  H-4  ESPERANZA CT.        P-3*  P-3*  ETHEL ST.              G-14  G-14  EVERETT LN.           N-7  N-7  EYDE PARKWAY      H-4H-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRHILLS DR.        B-10  B-10  FAIRLANE DR.         F-5  F-5  FARM LN.               E-2  E-2  FARM MEADOWS CT.    E-11 E-11 FARRINS PARKWAY      B-8* B-8* FARRINGTON CT.         O-4* O-4* FENWICK CT.           Q-7* Q-7* FIELDSTONE DR.         B-8*  FIFTH AVE.            J-12*  FLAMINGO AVE.    M-13 M-13 FOOTMAN DR.         P-4  P-4  FOREST HILLS DR.       F-12 F-12 FOREST RD.             E-1  E-1  FOSSUM LN.            C-4  C-4  FORSBERG DR.        B-14  B-14  FOSTER DR.             P-11 P-11 FOX CHASE             F-14  F-14  FOX HOLLOW DR.      B-8 B-8 FRANKLIN ST.         M-12 M-12 FRESNO WAY          O-9O-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARCIN DR.     D-5* D-5* GAYLORD C. SMITH CT.  J-9  GIBSON AVE.           0-3  0-3  GIESBORO LN.         J-13  J-13  GLEN EYRIE DR.      F-17  F-17  GLEN OAK DR.         A-11*  GOLDEN CIR.           K-7* K-7* GOLDENWOOD DR.        E-13 E-13 GOSSARD AVE.        P-2*  P-2*  GRAEBEAR TRL.      P-7*  P-7*  GRAND RIVER AVE.  F-18, I-5 GRANDVIEW AVE.   H-8  H-8  GRAYSTONE DR.        E-7  E-7  GREEN LEAF ST.       P-14* GREEN RD.       M-15, R-18 GREENCLIFF DR.         J-6 J-6 GREENFIELD PKWY.     J-5 J-5 GREENMAN ST.       N-11 N-11 GREENWOOD DR.     E-12E-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAGADORN RD.          A-4,          A-4, N-4 HALLENDALE RD.  L-13  L-13  HAMILTON RD.      H-8, G-11 HAMPTON PL.           A-9* A-9* HANNAH BLVD.        H-4  H-4  HARBOR CUT            E-14  E-14  HARDY AVE.            O-3  O-3  HARDY DR.            P-14*  HARKSON DR.          O-1 O-1 HART ST.               O-3  O-3  HARVEY ST.             N-11  N-11  HASLETT RD.      M-15, M-6 HATCH RD.             E-11 E-11 HAVERSHAM DR.        K-12 K-12 HAWTHORNE LN.       G-5  G-5  HAZY LN.           C-6 C-6 HEARTWOOD DR.       F-6 F-6 HEATHER CIR.         J-6  J-6  HEATHER DR.          J-6  J-6  HEIRLOOM VIEW          H-14 H-14 HEMMINGWAY DR.        C-10 C-10 HERITAGE AVE.          C-8 C-8 HERMANDAD CT.         P-3* P-3* HERRON RD.            G-5 G-5 HIAWATHA DR.          A-12 A-12 HICKORY ISLAND DR.    N-13 HICKORYWOOD DR.       F-13 F-13 HIDDEN LAKE DR.        K-7  K-7  HIDDEN MEADOWS CT.   E-7 HIGH ST.               P-10 P-10 HIGHGATE AVE.          N-5 N-5 HIGHLAND TERRACE     D-7 HIGHWOOD PLACE.       C-10 C-10 HILLCREST AVE.         I-9 I-9 HILLCURVE AVE.        O-11* HILLSIDE DR.            G-12  G-12  HILLVIEW DR.           M-14  M-14  HODGE ST.            O-11*  HONEY CREEK CIR.      N-16 N-16 HORIZON DR.            O-4  O-4  HULETT RD.        F-7, A-5 HUNTSVILLE DR.        K-11* HURON HILL DR.        G-7 G-7 HUTCHINSON           O-10* HYACINTH ST.           B-6*B-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIAN GLEN DR.       E-12 E-12 INDIAN HILLS DR.        G-7 G-7 INDIAN WAY            G-11* INDIANA RD.            A-7* A-7* INNKEEPERS CT.         0-4* 0-4* IROQUIOS RD.           I-8  I-8  ISAAC  LN.             O-9  O-9  ISLAND LAKE DR.       P-6 P-6 IVYWOOD DR.           F-13F-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
JACOB MEADOWS DR.   E-18 E-18 JANICE LEE DR.        F-4* F-4* JEANETTE             0-10*  JESSALEE CIR.       K-8  K-8  JO DON DR.            J-5  J-5  JO PASS               K-8  K-8  JOLLY RD.       A-1, A-14  JOLLY OAK RD.         A-8  A-8  JONQUIL LN.            C-11 C-11 JUNEBERRY LN.         B-17B-17

AutoCAD SHX Text
KALORAMA WAY        J-13 J-13 KANSAS RD.            A-7  A-7  KAREN ANN DR.        F-4*  F-4*  KASEY LN.             L-16  L-16  KENMORE DR.          H-8 H-8 KENNETH DR.         F-4*  F-4*  KENOSHA TRAIL        E-10  E-10  KENT ST.              H-8  H-8  KERNWOOD RD.         R-7 R-7 KEVERN WAY           E-7* E-7* KEWANEE WAY          F-7 F-7 KEWEENAW DR.         G-11 G-11 KINAWA DR.        D-8, D-11 KINGS CROSS N.        M-7  M-7  KINGS CROSS           M-7 M-7 KINGSWOOD CIR.        G-10 G-10 KINGSWOOD DR.        G-10 G-10 KITTANSET DR.         C-4 C-4 KNIGHTSFORD LN.        I-16   I-16  KNOB HILL DR.         B-8*  B-8*  KOALA DR.             K-6  K-6  KODIAK DR.           K-6K-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAC DU MONT DR.  M-10  M-10  LADY SLIPPER LN.      L-10 L-10 LAFORET CIR.          E-5  E-5  LAGOON DR.           F-9  F-9  LAKE CT.              N-11  N-11  LAKE LANSING RD. O-1, O-12  LAKE DR.       Q-12, M-12  LAKE DR., E.           O-11  O-11  LAKE ST.              O-11 O-11 LAKEVIEW ST.          O-12*  LA MER LN.           M-9*  M-9*  LAMPEN  DR.           L-8  L-8  LEBARON CT.          M-6*  M-6*  LEE ST.               P-11  P-11  LEEWARD DR.          E-13 E-13 LELAND CIR.            J-5  J-5  LENORE LN.            O-11* LINDEN DR.             K-6  K-6  LIVERANCE ST.          G-8  G-8  LONG LEAF TRAIL       E-9 E-9 LONGVIEW DR., W., E.    O-6  O-6  LOON LN.,           B-6 B-6 LUFF CT.            E-13  E-13  LUPINE CT.          B-7  B-7  LUPINE DR.          B-6 B-6 LYNDHURST WAY     M-10M-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
MACK AVE.      Q-11 Q-11 MACKINAC RD.       E-13  E-13  MADISON AVE.         K-12* MAGENTA CT.          M-16*  MAIDEN LN.          I-12  I-12  MALLARD ST.       P-14* P-14* MANITOU DR.        G-10 G-10 MANSFIELD DR.        I-6  I-6  MAPLE HILL DR.       O-16  O-16  MAPLE RIDGE RD.     L-11* L-11* MARGATE LN.         P-4  P-4  MARIETTA WAY        D-9 D-9 MARINER LN.         E-14 E-14 MARBOROUGH RD.    G-12  G-12  MARMON CT.        M-6*  M-6*  MARSH RD.     G-9, R-11 G-9, R-11 MARTINIQUE CIR.      L-6 L-6 MARTINUS ST.        N-11  N-11  MAUMEE DR.          F-7  F-7  MAXWELL CT.         M-6*  M-6*  MEADOW WOOD DR.    Q-6 Q-6 MEDINAH  DR.         D-4  D-4  MELLING WAY        P-3*  P-3*  MELVILLE DR.         K-6  K-6  MERCER DR.         E-12 E-12 MEREFORD CT.       P-7*  P-7*  MERIDIAN RD.  A-18, L-18 METHODIST ST.       H-9 H-9 MICHAEL ST.         P-11  P-11  MILENZ ST.          P-13  P-13  MINOKA TRAIL       G-11* MIRABEAU DR.       F-11 F-11 MISTYWOOD DR.      G-13  G-13  MIZZEN DR.         D-14  D-14  MOHAWK RD.          I-7 I-7 MOHICAN LN.          H-6  H-6  MOJAVE CT.         E-12 E-12 MONTEBELLO AVE.    N-11 N-11 MONTEREY AVE.      M-13 M-13 MONTESSORI          F-6* F-6* MONTGOMERY CT.    K-11* MONTROSE AVE.        H-8   H-8  MOORE ST.            G-9   G-9  MORNING GLORY DR.      C-6  MOSS GLEN CIR.        M-16  MOUNT HOPE RD.   G-1, G-8  M-43             F-18, I-5  M-78            N-5, R-10  MYRTLE DR.          A-7A-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAKOMA DR.     G-8  G-8  NASSAU ST.        I-12  I-12  NATURE WAY    H-18  H-18  NAUBINWAY RD.      E-12 E-12 NAUTICAL DR.        D-14  D-14  NAVAHO TRAIL       F-10  F-10  NEMOKE CT.          L-11  L-11  NEMOKE TRAIL       L-11  L-11  NESTOR CT.          L-13    L-13  L-13  NEW SALEM AVE.     C-8  C-8  NEWMAN RD.        I-10,     I-10, H-18 NEWTON RD.       O-8  O-8  NICOLE CIR.           H-15  H-15  NORTH CRYSTAL COVE DR.R-11 NORTH RAINDROP       P-3*  P-3*  NORTH WILD BLOSSOM DR.L-7*  NORTHVIEW DR.        G-12 G-12 NORTHWIND DR.         I-5 I-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKDALE DR.         O-16 O-16 OAKENCLIFFE LN.      R-8 R-8 OAKLAWN RD.         F-11   F-11  OAK POINTE CT.       F-15  F-15  OAK PARK TRAIL     P-14 P-14 OAKWOOD DR.         E-12 E-12 OKEMOS RD.      A-8, O-8 A-8, O-8 OLIVER DR.           G-18 G-18 OLMSTED ST.          I-12  I-12  ONEIDA DR.          F-10  F-10  ORLANDO DR.        L-13  L-13  OSAGE DR.           F-10 F-10 OSCODA RD.          D-12  D-12  OTSEGO DR.         B-12 B-12 OTTAWA DR.           G-8  G-8  OVERGLEN CT.         Q-7Q-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
PADDOCK DR.         G-13  G-13  PAIGE CT.           M-6*  M-6*  PANDA BEAR CIR.      K-6  K-6  PAR  PL.             C-6  C-6  PARK LAKE RD.        I-6,      I-6, R-6 PARTRIDGE ST.    O-14*  PATRIOTS WAY         N-5 N-5 PAWNEE CIR.          G-9 G-9 PAWNEE TRAIL        G-9 G-9 PEBBLESTONE DR.     F-11 F-11 PENOBSCOT DR.       F-10 F-10 PEPPER RIDGE DR.     O-11 O-11 PERCH ST.           O-12  O-12  PERRY RD.           Q-12 Q-12 PHEASANT ST.         O-14* PICADILLY DR.        K-12 K-12 PIKE ST.              O-11  O-11  PIMLICO PL.         -12*  -12*  PINE CREEK CIR.       P-11  P-11  PINE HOLLOW DR.      Q-6  Q-6  PINE KNOLL DR.       C-11  C-11  PINE RIDGE DR.      M-14 M-14 PIONEER TRAIL         G-5  G-5  PIPER RD.            K-15 K-15 POLLARD AVE.         O-3  O-3  POND DR., W.          G-12* PONDEROSA DR.      A-14 A-14 PONTCHARTRAIN DR.    F-12 F-12 PORTER AVE.          O-3 O-3 POTTER ST.          M-12 M-12 POWDERHORN DR.     B-10 B-10 POWELL RD.         H-12 H-12 .

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL ST.         		P-13 P-13 QUARRY RD.           	L-8L-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
RABY RD.          M-8 M-8 RAINBOW CT.            A-11  A-11  RAIN FOREST CIR.       E-6* E-6* RAINDROP RD.           O-3* O-3* RALEIGH DR.            C-9 C-9 RANDALL ST.           Q-12 Q-12 RAPHAEL RD.           L-6  L-6  RAVEN CIR.             D-10  D-10  RED CEDAR RD.        E-16* REDONDO DR.           O-16 O-16 REDWING DR.           E-10  E-10  REEF CT.               D-13 D-13 RESEARCH CIR.          E-8 E-8 REYNOLDS RD., E. P-12/P-14 REYNOLDS RD., W. P-11/P-12 RIDGE ST.       P-11 P-11 RIDGEPOND PLACE      R-8 R-8 RIDGEWAY DR.          M-13  M-13  RIVER GLEN DR.        F-17  F-17  RIVER KNOLL DR.        N-16  N-16  RIVER TERRACE DR.      H-4 H-4 RIVERWOOD DR.         F-8  F-8  ROBINS WAY.           B-7 B-7 ROCKWOOD DR.          J-6  J-6  ROE ST.                P-11  P-11  ROLLING HILLS DR.       K-11 K-11 ROLLING MEADOW LN.   H-18 ROSELAND AVE.         J-5 J-5 ROTHBURY LN.          P-4* P-4* ROXBURY AVE.          C-9  C-9  ROYAL OAK DR.         P-10  P-10  ROYCE CT.            M-7* M-7* RUTHERFORD AVE.       O-3O-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO WAY     O-9  O-9  SAGO WAY              F-11  F-11  SAMUEL OAKS DR.       E-18 E-18 SANDLEWOOD DR.        C-9 C-9 SANDOWN CT.          G-13* SANDRIDGE DR.          E-9 E-9 SAPPHIRE  CIR.         J-8 J-8 SAPPHIRE  LN.          J-8  J-8  SARAN DR.             E-12 E-12 SARANAC LN.           H-6  H-6  SASHABAW DR.          C-11 C-11 SATINWOOD DR.         F-13 F-13 SCENIC LAKE DR.        A-14 A-14 SCHOOL ST.            M-12  M-12  SCIENCE PARKWAY       E-8 E-8 SEBEWAING RD.          E-13 E-13 SEMINOLE DR.           I-8 I-8 SEMINOLE PLACE        F-8 F-8 SENECA DR.            G-11  G-11  SEQUOIA TRAIL          G-6  G-6  SEVEN TRAILS CT.      G-12* SEVILLE DR.             E-7  E-7  SHADOW LAWN CT.       N-5 N-5 SHADOW LAWN DR.      N-5 N-5 SHADOW RIDGE          E-6 E-6 SHADYWOOD LN.         D-11D-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAGBARK LN.       C-9  C-9  SHAKER BLVD.          F-11 F-11 SHARBROOK WAY        N-12  N-12  SHAW ST.              M-12  M-12  SHAWNEE TRAIL         F-8 F-8 SHELDRAKE AVE.        C-9 C-9 SHERBROOK WAY        N-10 N-10 SHERWOOD RD.          G-18 G-18 SHOALS DR.            E-13 E-13 SHOESMITH RD.          O-17 O-17 SHORTWOOD CIR.        E-14 E-14 SILKWOOD DR.           F-13 F-13 SILVERLEAF CT.         L-15 L-15 SILVERWOOD DR.         E-14  E-14  SIOUX WAY             I-8  I-8  SIRHAL DR.             J-5  J-5  SKYLINE CT.            O-6  O-6  SKYLINE DR.            O-5  O-5  SMALL ACRES LN.       I-6 I-6 SMITHFIELD AVE.         N-4  N-4  SLEEPY HOLLOW LN.     N-9  N-9  SNOW BERRY LN.        B-17  B-17  SOLAR WAY             E-6 E-6 SONGBIRD POINTE        L-9* L-9* SONOMA VISTA          B-8 B-8 SOPHIEA PKWY.         E-6  E-6  SOUTH CRYSTAL COVE .  R-11  S. WILD BLOSSOM CT.   L-7* L-7* SOUTHPORT CIR.         E-8 E-8 SOUTHRIDGE RD.         O-7 O-7 SOUTHWOOD DR.         N-5  N-5  SOWER BLVD.           E-8 E-8 SPICEWOOD DR., N.      G-14 G-14 SPICEWOOD DR., S.      G-14 SPINNAKER LN.          D-14 D-14 SPLICE CIR.             D-13  D-13  SPRING LAKE DR.        A-11 A-11 SPRING MILL DR.        M-16 M-16 STAGECOACH DR.        A-14  A-14  STAR FLOWER DR.       L-10 L-10 STARBOARD DR.         D-13  D-13  STILL VALLEY CIR.       N-5  N-5  STILL VALLEY DR.        N-5 N-5 STONEYCROFT DR.       F-11 F-11 STRAWBERRY LN.        M-16 M-16 SUGAR MAPLE LN.       E-10 E-10 SUMMERFIELD LN.        O-17 O-17 SUMMERGATE LN.  A-10  A-10  SUN RAPIDS DR.     C-7  C-7  SUNDANCE LN.          E-7 E-7 SUNHOLLOW CT.         Q-10 Q-10 SUNHOLLOW LN.         Q-10 Q-10 SUNNY MEADOW CIR.   H-18 SUNSET AVE.           P-14 P-14 SUNWIND DR., W.        C-6  C-6  SYLVAN GLEN RD.       D-12 D-12 SWEETWOOD DR.         F-14 SWEENEY DR.           C-4C-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
TACOMA BLVD.          G-10 G-10 TACOMA CIR.          E-10  E-10  TAHOE CIR.             E-10 E-10 TAHQUAMENON RD.     E-12     E-12 TAMARACK DR.          B-8 B-8 TANFORAN PL.         G-13* TAOS CIR.              B-8*  TAOS TRAIL             B-8* B-8* TAPESTRY DR.          C-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYLOR CT.           O-11*     O-11* TAYLOR DR.             O-1 O-1 TEAKWOOD CIR.          L-14 L-14 TEKONSHA TRAIL         H-6  TERI TERRACE           K-6 K-6 THAMES DR.            K-12 K-12 THISTLEWOOD RD.        C-10 C-10 THISTLEDOWN PL.      G-13* THORNGATE RD.         Q-6 Q-6 THRUSHWOOD CIR.       C-11 C-11 TIHART RD.             K-12 K-12 TIMBER LANE ST.        K-5 K-5 TIMBER MEADOW CT.    P-6 P-6 TIMBERVIEW LN.         A-9  A-9  TIMES SQUARE DR.        J-11  J-11 TITANIUM TRL.         M-16* TOMAHAWK CIR.          G-9  G-9 TOMAHAWK RD.          G-9 G-9 TONAPAH TRAIL         H-6 H-6 TONAWANDA DR.         M-13 M-13 TOWAR AVE.            P-2  P-2  TOWAR GARDENS CIR.    P-3* TOWNER RD.            Q-9  Q-9  TRAILS END             A-15 A-15 TRAILWOOD LN.         C-11 TREETOP DR.           G-13*     G-13* TRILLIUM CT.            D-17 D-17 TURNING LEAF LN.       D-7 D-7 TURNBERRY LN.         D-17 D-17 TWYCKINGHAM           G-4* G-4* TWINGING DR.           J-13J-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIVERSITY PARK DR. ALDN.TW USIAK CIR              E-6*E-6*

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEYBROOK DR.       C-10  C-10  VAN ATTA RD.    A-16, M-16 VENTURA PL.          M-14 M-14 VERANDA PL.           C-6*  C-6*  VICEROY DR.            B-11 B-11 VICTORIAN HILLS DR.    D-18 D-18 VILLAGE DR.            N-9*N-9*

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABANINGO RD.         E-13 E-13 WABEEK DR.            G-10 G-10 WANDERING WAY         B-13 B-13 WARDCLIFF DR.           J-6  J-6 WASHINGTON HEIGHTS AVE. G-1 Water Lilly Way          B-8* B-8* WATERFORD CT.        G-13* WAUSAU RD.            G-9 G-9 WELLINGTON DR.         G-16 G-16 WENONAH DR.           A-12  A-12  WEST ARBUTUS DR.      A-12  A-12  WEST BENHAM WAY      E-7*  E-7*  WEST GOLFRIDGE DR.     O-6  WEST HIAWATHA DR.     A-12  WEST HIDDEN LAKE DR.   K-6 WEST LODGES DR.       H-5*      H-5*  WEST LONGVIEW DR.    O-6   O-6  WEST POND DR.         G-12*     G-12* WEST REYNOLDS RD.    P-11  WEST SLEEPY HOLLOW LN. N-9 WEST SUNWIND DR.       C-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTMINSTER WAY    N-8  N-8  WHARF DR.      D-13 D-13 WHISPERWOOD DR.       N-17 WHISTLER DR.           K-6  K-6  WHITE ASH LN.          L-15  L-15  WHITE OAKS DR.         F-14  F-14  WHITE OWL WAY         E-9 WHITEHALL DR.          F-5* F-5* WHITEHILLS LAKES DR.    P-6 WHITETAIL CIR.          J-15  J-15  WILD BLOSSOM CT.       L-7  WILD CHERRY PATH       E-9  WILD GINGER TRAIL      O-15  WILD HICKORY DR.       L-7*  WILD OAK DR.           L-7*  L-7*  WILD IRIS LN.           L-10  L-10  WILDER CT.             P-10  P-10  WILDER ST.             P-10 P-10 WILSHIRE RD.            L-13 L-13 WIND-N-WOOD DR.      B-18 WINDREEF CT.           D-14 D-14 WINDRUSH LN.           P-6  P-6  WINDY HEIGHTS DR.      C-7 WINTERBERRY LN.       B-18  WOOD KNOLL DR.       M-16  WOOD VALLEY DR.       N-16 WOODS EDGE DR.  ALDN. TWP. WOODCLIFFE LN.         Q-7 WOODCRAFT RD.         G-7 WOODFIELD RD.          E-9 WOODHILL DR.           F-6 F-6 WOODLAKE CIR.    ALDN. TWP WOODLAKE DR.    ALDN. TWP WOODLEAF CT.          B-8  B-8  WOODMONT CIR.         N-17 WOODSIDE DR.           M-14 M-14 WOODVILLE RD.          L-12 L-12 WOODWIND TRAIL        O-14 WRIGHTWIND DR.         F-14

AutoCAD SHX Text
YORK WAY              O-7  O-7  YOSEMITE DR.           B-10  B-10  YUMA TRAIL            F-10F-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZAHARAS LN.         C-5  C-5  ZEPHYR DR.            C-6C-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
Private Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rothbury Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Buckden Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLVIEW DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Countryway Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABARET TRL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Garcin Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lakeview St.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMINOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WABEEK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEMENTARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIAWATHA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONTESSORI

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HASLETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DONLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHRIENER PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
KALORAMA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHWIND  DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAWN  AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAND  RIVER  AVE.  (M-43)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRESNO

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.4 ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
La Mer Ln.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Blue Lac Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lac Du Mont

AutoCAD SHX Text
Village Dr.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE  LANSING  RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LODGES DR.       H-5  EAST LONGVIEW DR.    O-6  O-6  EAST MEADOWS CT.     B-9*  B-9*  EAST POND DR.        G-13* 

AutoCAD SHX Text
12/21/99

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF EAST LANSING

AutoCAD SHX Text
  SOFTBALL  COMPLEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLEEPY   

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROYAL OAK DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE HAVEN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED CEDAR RIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAGGAL LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINTERFIELD COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHRIDGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SACRAMENTO WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: PRVATE  ROADS *  HAVE AN ASTERISK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERAFINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEMOKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MITROKA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINN TIHART

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDER FARM NATURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRESERVED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH RFB

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BOARDWALK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LANSING WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.6 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BRIDGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANDENBERG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERSTONE WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANNEXATIONS WITH CITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.08 MILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Titanium Trl.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copper Creek Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text
Magenta Ct.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARDWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RFBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED RFBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
  Pointe

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH RFB

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST HILLS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 1997 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.8 mi

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1 mi

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.4 mi

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0 mi

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARDMORE  ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N:\MAPS\PATHWAYS\MASTER PLAN\2024 PATHWAY MASTER PLAN.dwg



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13. C  

To:  Board Members 

From:  Michael R. Hamel, Fire Chief 

Date:  March 27, 2024 

Re: Architectural Firm Selection for Central Fire Station Dormitory Addition 

 

In January 2024, Meridian Township opened a Request for Proposal (RFP) to design a dormitory 

addition to Central Fire Station. Three proposals were submitted for the project from DLZ Michigan, 

Inc. in Lansing, Hobbs+Black Architects in Lansing and A3C Collaborative Architecture in Ann Arbor. 

The review process consisted of an assessment of the written proposal, analysis of each firm’s 

related experience, and recommendations from organizations/municipalities/fire departments that 

have utilized these firms for design services. The proposal from DLZ Michigan, Inc. for completion 

of this project is 368 hours with a total cost of $60,000. The proposal from Hobbs+Black Architects 

is 603 hours with a total cost of $86,890. The proposal from A3C Collaborative Architecture is 354 

hours with a total cost of $52,042. 

Upon conclusion of the review process, Hobbs+Black Architects was identified as the best option to 

design the dormitory addition at Central Fire Station. They provided us with the most 

comprehensive proposal and Staff is confident that the project will be in good hands under their 

design leadership.  

 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH HOBBS+BLACK ARCHITECTS TO DESIGN 
THE DORMITORY ADDITION AT CENTRAL FIRE STATION.  

 
 
Attached: Proposal from Hobbs+Black Architects 



Central Fire Station Dormitory Addition Design
MERIDIAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP  |  FEBRUARY 16, 2024



100 N. State Street  Ann Arbor, Michigan 48104  |  734.663.4189
ANN ARBOR  |   L ANSING  |   PHOENIX  |   W W W.HOBBS - BL ACK.COM

February 16, 2024

Melissa Massie
Director of Project Management and Operations
5151 Marsh Road
Okemos, MI 48864

Re: Meridian Township Fire Department
2024 Request for Design Services – Dormitory Addition to Central Fire Station

Dear Selection Committee:

Thank you for the opportunity to present our team’s qualifications and applicable experience for the work outlined 
within your current RFP. Based on our review of the proposal request documents and site visit, we know that our 
team’s applicable work experience will serve Meridian Township well in the planning, design, and implementation of 
the identified project that exemplifies a high level of commitment to providing first-class facilities that will be cost-
effective to renovate, operate, and maintain for many years to come.

Our team is a highly qualified team that has significant experience with fire stations. We are currently working with the 
City of Lansing in the development of two new fire stations, renovations, additions to Fire Station 8, and a new Fire 
Training Facility.

We attribute the success of our work to our ability to carefully listen to our clients and stakeholders while providing our 
professional expertise, which balances the realities of implementation and budgets. Our careful attention to detail has 
also been paramount to our success. Our design approach is based on crafting and testing design solutions, which 
explore the many elements of important design objectives, environmental sensitivity, value engineering, functionality, 
project safety, maintainability, code compliance, and most importantly, budgets and timelines.

Thank you for the opportunity, it is greatly appreciated.

Respectfully Submitted,

 
Martin Ruiter, AIA, LEED AP
Senior Vice President
Hobbs+Black Architects



F i r m In t r o d u c t i o n 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1

Pr o j e c t Te a m 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 7

Pr o j e c t Ex p e r i e n c e 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 18

Pr e l i m i n a r y Fl o o r Pl a n s 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24

Sc h e d u l e 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25

Co m p e n s a t i o n 	� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 26

Ta b l e  o f Co n t e n t s



  4 

Ab o u t Ho b b s+Bl a c k Ar ch  i t e c t s

Hobbs+Black Architects is a nationally recognized firm 
serving a diverse group of clients since 1965. Over 55 
professionals provide architectural, design, and related 
consulting services from our offices in Ann Arbor, Lansing, 
and Phoenix.
	
As one of the Top 300 Architecture Firms nationally as 
reported by Architectural Record (2019), our diversified 
practice meets design challenges that often require 
extensive research and innovation. Our diversity and 
flexibility make us uniquely qualified to solve complex 
problems with minimal resources and within stringent time 
lines. As a full-service architecture firm we provide our 
clients with complete service from study to construction 
administration including:

	> Facility Audit and Site Analysis
	> Site Planning, Design, and Zoning
	> Facility Programming
	> Master Planning
	> Architectural Design
	> Space Planning
	> Contract Document Development
	> Interior Design and Procurement
	> Signage Design and Implementation
	> Relocation Management
	> Post Completion Evaluation

Pr o j e c t Ex p e r i e n c e

Hobbs+Black’s experience includes new facility design as 
well as renovation and conversion of existing structures. 
Projects range from libraries and educational facilities 
to government entities including city and township halls, 
justice and courtroom facilities, public safety, police and fire 
stations, and public service training facilities as well as office 
buildings.

Th e De s i g n App  r o a c h

Each project must be approached with a focus on balancing 
project scope, quality, and project budget as well as creative 
planning. To achieve this objective, the owner’s participation 
in the design process is critical. Our design team knows 
civic buildings, but only those who manage and operate 
your existing facilities on a daily basis know every detail of 
how a new facility will be used. In a dynamic process, we 
combine your ideas and knowledge about your operation 
with our vision and expertise of governmental facility design. 
The result is a solution that is strategic, affordable, and 
comprehensive.

With detailed programming input, Hobbs+Black will translate 
a facility program into a facility design that is aesthetically 
appropriate, functionally efficient, and can accommodate 
future changes. 

Ph i l o s o p h y & Co m p a n y Va l u e s

The Hobbs+Black Healthcare Studio’s philosophy centers on 
understanding needs – whether it be promoting a welcoming 
and caring environment, incorporating new advances 
in technology and operations, creating or extending the 
tradition of a healthcare institution, or establishing an 
appropriate fixture in the community. Designing healthcare 
projects is one of the most challenging and rewarding 
venues possible. A well-designed space can alleviate 
numerous patient anxieties and truly impact a patient’s 
recovery and healing in a positive way. We focus on 
hospitality to create warm, caring, and inviting spaces for 
patients and their visitors, as well as operational functionality 
to allow staff to provide care in the best efficiency possible. 
Healthcare facilities are conceptualized with the patient in 
mind, but we also incorporate the needs of the staff, who 
benefit from a positive and inviting working environment. 
Whether developing large hospitals, medical buildings, 
ambulatory care centers, or smaller community facilities, we 
integrate hospitality and functionality throughout the design 
phase because no matter how big or small a project may 
be, the impact on the patient, families, and staff is always 
significant.

Locations
ANN ARBOR - HEADQUARTERS
100 North State Street
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48104
734.663.4189

LANSING
117 E. Allegan Street
Lansing, Michigan 48933
517.484.4870

PHOENIX
4300 N. Miller Road, Ste 147
Scottsdale, Arizona 85251
480.968.6944

Type of Organization
Corporation



  5 

Ab o u t Ma t r i x Co n s u l t i n g En g i n e e r s

It is the mission of Matrix Consulting Engineers (Matrix) 
to provide the highest quality service to customers and an 
atmosphere that is conducive to personal and professional 
growth for its employees. They provide the latest technology 
and resources available and are confident that it can 
provide the best possible experience for both customers and 
employees. 
Ap p r o a ch  

Matrix has degreed professionals in mechanical and 
electrical engineering with a broad range of experience 
to design your building system needs. They can engineer 
efficient and cost effective solutions for your commercial, 
industrial, health- care, educational, institutional, and 
municipal projecs. 
Matrix provides quality engineering services to its customers 
focusing on long term relationships with owners, architects, 
and constructors. They constantly evaluate the latest 
technologies and standards to provide the best solutions for 
your business. 
Matrix utilizes a team approach with close communication 
with our clients. They understand the clients need for timely 
and efficient delivery of their projects. The success of Matrix 
demonstrates their commitment to meeting this process. 

Ab o u t Sp a l d i n g DeDe c k e r

Wh o Ar e We?

SD is a consulting engineering and surveying firm that specializes in infrastructure, land development, and transportation. Our 
Core Purpose is to create practical and sustainable infrastructure solutions for our clients and communities. We strive to be the 
benchmark of engineering and surveying excellence.

Wh a t Se r v i c e s  Do We Off  e r?

You could say we’re not afraid of getting our hands dirty. SD offers a diverse portfolio of engineering and surveying services that 
encompass the needs of municipal, land development, transportation, and water/wastewater projects, along with full pavement 
management and landscape architectural services. We’ve paved the way with experience and technology.

Hi s t o r y

Established in 1954, Spalding DeDecker (SD) is an employee-owned consulting 
engineering firm specializing in infrastructure, land development, and surveying. 
With offices in Detroit and Rochester Hills, Michigan, along with several field 
offices, SD offers a diverse core of engineering, surveying, and construction 
engineering services for land development, municipal, transportation, and water/
wastewater projects. SD employs more than 70 talented individuals with a wide 
range of skills and expertise. 

Providing land development engineering designs to fit modern-day needs, 
SD has provided design and survey plans for more than 80 school districts 
and higher education campuses throughout Michigan, as well as hundreds of 
commercial, municipal, and retail sites. 



  6 

Ab o u t JDH En g i n e e r i n g

Ho w c a n JDH b r i n g v a l u e t o t h e  p r o j e c t?

JDH aims to provide quality structural consulting services to 
architects, contractors, building owners, and others in the 
community. They work with each client to understand project 
needs and develop creative, value added solutions that are 
integrated with all other aspects of the project.

JDH is a multi-faceted group, with experience in a wide 
variety of structures and materials. From the design of 
complex building facilities to the evaluation and inspection 
of existing structures, their collective experience across a 
spectrum of structural needs and demands is what sets them 
apart. Their portfolio includes numerous restoration and 
renovation projects, preserving and enhancing continued use 
with regard to each project’s individual considerations.
Responding to the call to be good stewards of the 
environment, JDH designs consider the economical use of 
materials while providing serviceable structures that meet 
the needs of the intended use.

JDH understands the importance of clear and timely 
communication, and endeavor to bring that to every aspect 
of their work. Their focus to provide timely response to 
issues and questions has long been recognized by both 
design and construction professionals.

Wh o Is  JDH?

Founded in 1981, JDH Engineering (JDH) is West Michigan’s 
largest structural consulting group, utilizing their collective 
knowledge and experience to develop the right solution for 
the built environment.

As an employee-owned group with broadly distributed 
ownership, each engineer on their team has a unique 
understanding of the importance of bringing integrity, 
attention, and commitment to clients and their projects. This 
approach to business demands an ability to utilize teamwork 
within their own office, and this focus on teamwork translates 
well into the project teams they are grateful to be a part of in 
the different work they encounter. 

JDH’s team of talented employees is key to their success. 
Their nucleus of full-time employees has worked together 
at JDH for nearly 10 years. This cohesion has bred trust, 
teamwork, and the mutual goal of exceeding clients’ 
expectations.



  7 

Or g a n i z a t i o n a l Ch a r t

HOBBS+BLACK ARCHITECTS
ARCHITECTURE

Martin Ruiter
Project Manager

Paige Spagnuolo
Project Architect

John Mortimore
Project Assistant

MATRIX
MECHANICAL/ELECTRICAL/PLUMBING

Craig Trierweiler 
Lead Mechanical Engineer

Joseph Sovis 
Lead Electrical Engineer

JDH ENGINEERING
STRUCTURAL

Keith Ritsema
Structural Engineer

SPALDING DEDECKER 
CIVIL

 Tom Sovel 
Lead Civil Engineer

Tom Gerrish 
Project Engineer

Robert Ford 
Lead Landscape Architect

Nicolas Wallace 
Senior Landscape Architect

GENERAL CONTRACTOR



  8 

Ma r t i n H. Ru i t e r ,  a i a,  l e e d a p

Senior Vice President | Project Manager

Marty is a Senior Vice President with Hobbs+Black with over 30 years of 
experience in architecture. His responsibilities have involved a full range of design 
processes including initial planning and programming, design development, 
construction documentation, and construction administration on educational, 
office, municipal, religious, and recreational projects. He utilizes his design talents, 
technical expertise, and project management skills to interpret clients’ needs and 
translate them into functional and aesthetic solutions. Based on the anticipated 
project schedule, Marty has the capacity to fulfill his duties as Project Manager for 
this project.  

Relevant Experience
Education

	> Bachelor of Architecture, 	
University of Detroit (1991)

	> Associate of Architecture 
Technology, Ferris State University 
(1988)

Registrations
	> Registered Architect | MI (2000)
	> LEED Accredited Professional

Affiliations
	> American Institute of Architects (AIA)
	> US Green Building Council 

(USGBC)

Tenure
	> With Hobbs+Black since 2008
	> In the industry since 1991

Military Service
	> US Army Reserve, Drill Sergeant 

(1987-1995)

City of Lansing
Lansing, MI

	> New $175M, 250,000 SF, 
replacement 54A District, 
Lansing Police Department, Fire 
Administration in one new facility.

	> Relocation of City Offices & 
Departmental*

	> Reorganization of City Hall*

Deerfield Township
Mt Pleasant, MI

	> Town Hall & Fire Dept Addition & 
Renovations

State of Michigan Dept of 
Technology, Management & Budget
Harrison Township, MI

	> DMVA Selfridge Air National Guard 
Base Building Modification

Grand Rapids, MI
	> Michigan State Police Consolidation 

Planning
	> State Office Building Escalator 

Replacement
Dimondale, MI

	> Michigan State Police/Michigan 
Truck & Safety Commission 
Michigan Center for Decision Driving

State of Michigan Dept of Military & 
Veterans Affairs
Battle Creek, MI

	> Fort Custer Training Facility 
Maintenance Shop

Harrison, MI
	> Selfridge Air National Guard Base 

Building Modifications
* with other firms

Ottawa County Road Commission*
Holland, MI

	> New Operations & Maintenance 
Facility

Clinton County
St Johns, MI

	> Animal Shelter
	> Smith Hall Interior Renovations
	> Emergency 911 Call Center
	> Maintenance Building Renovations
	> Court House Re-roof

Kent County Road Commission
Grand Rapids, MI

	> Walker View Central Complex 

Michigan Chamber of Commerce
Lansing, MI

	> 7th Day Adventist Building 
Assessment

Saginaw County Road Commission
Saginaw, MI

	> Administration Building Interior 
Renovations

Hemlock, MI
	> Master Plan

US Army Corps of Engineers
Sault Ste Marie, MI

	> Soo Locks Observation Platform 
Addition & Renovation

City of Kentwood*
Kentwood, MI

	> City Hall Addition



  9 

Pa i g e Sp a g n u o l o, a i a,  n c a r b,  cs  i

Project Architect

Education
	> Lawrence Technological University 

– Southfield, MI, Master of 
Architecture

	> Lawrence Technological University 
– Southfield, MI, Bachelor of 
Science in Architecture & Design

Registrations
	> Registered Architect | MI (2022)
	> NCARB Certificate

Affiliations
	> American Institute of Architects 

(AIA)

City of Lansing
Lansing, MI

	> New $175M, 250,000 SF, 
replacement 54A District, 
Lansing Police Department, Fire 
Administration in one new facility

Title Company
West Branch, MI

	> Building Addition & Renovation

228 E. Saginaw St.
Breckenridge, MI

	> Mixed-Use/Office Renovation

The 3one3 Boutique Hotel
Alma, MI 

	> Historic Renovation/Rehabilitation

National Guard Joint Forces
Lansing, MI

	> Renovation

Capital Area Reconfiguration
Lansing, MI

	> DTMB St. Joseph Hwy.

The Macotta Club
Lansing, MI 

	> Kitchen Incubator Build Out

Grove Street Sorority House
East Lansing, MI

	> New Construction

*with other firms

Paige is involved in all aspects of project delivery at Hobbs+Black. From planning 
and programming to construction administration, she provides technical oversights 
to projects and manages consultant coordination. For projects in multiple market 
sectors, Paige’s attention to detail ensures our clients have quality documents for 
their vital construction projects.

Relevant Experience



  10 

Jo h n Mo r t i m o r e

Senior Associate | Project Assistant

John is a Senior Associate with Hobbs+Black. He is well versed in the technical 
aspects of the construction industry. With more than 35 years of experience, he is 
responsible for scheduling and overseeing construction document developments 
within the firm. His wide range of experience includes staff management, 
supervision and training, and coordination of mechanical and electrical consultant 
documents with architectural documents. Based on the anticipated project 
schedule, John has the capacity to fulfill his duties as Project Architect for this 
project.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Science, Industrial 

Education Technology, 
Central Michigan University

	> Associate in Architectural Drafting 
Technology, Ferris State University

Tenure
	> With Hobbs+Black since 2001
	> In the industry since 1982

City of Lansing
Lansing, MI

	> New $175M, 250,000 SF, 
replacement 54A District, 
Lansing Police Department, Fire 
Administration in one new facility.

Deerfield Twp Fire Dept
Mount Pleasant, MI

	> New Apparatus Bays & Renovation

Northeast Ingham Emergency 
Service Authority
Webberville, MI

	> Additions & Renovations

Allegan County Road Commission
Allegan, MI

	> New Maintenance & Parking Garage

Lansing Community College
Lansing, MI

	> Gannon Vocational Technical 
Building Vacated Space 
Renovations

	> IDS Laboratory
	> Interior Design: Gannon Vocational 

Technical Building
	> New Health & Human Services 

Building

City of Ann Arbor
Ann Arbor, MI

	> WR Wheeler Center
	- New Operations & Maintenance 

Facility

City of Mason
Mason, MI

	> Study for Consolidation of City Hall, 
Police & Library

Michigan State Police Headquarters 
Building
Lansing, MI

Fenville Maintenance Garage
Fenville, MI

	> New Garage Facility

Clare County Transit Corporation
Harrison, MI

	> Renewable Green Systems

State of Michigan: Dept of Military & 
Veterans Affairs
Lansing, MI

	> North Lansing Complex 
Renovations: Baker-Olin West

Belmont Readiness Center
Belmont, MI

	> Armory Modifications - Phase II

Sault Ste Marie Armory
Sault Ste Marie, MI

State of Michigan: Dept of 
Management & Budget
Lansing, MI

	> G. Mennen Williams Building 
Window Replacement

Lansing Housing Commission
	> Mt. Vernon Community Room 

Renovations
	> Hildebrandt Community Room 

Addition & Renovation
	> LaRoy Froh Community Room 

Renovation

*with other firms



  11 

Cr a i g Tr i e r w e i l e r ,  p e ,  l e e d a p,  c xa

President | Mechanical Engineer

Mr. Trierweiler’s role as president includes client contact, systems design, and staff 
supervision. Mr. Trierweiler has broad experience with office buildings, schools, 
and health care projects applying a wide variety of HVAC systems. His design 
experience includes, HVAC, plumbing, fire protection, building automation systems, 
medical gas systems, laboratory design, and computer room systems.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Science in Mechanical 

Engineering, Western Michigan 
University, 1998

Registrations
	> Registered Engineer | MI (2002)
	> Registered Engineer | MS (2006)
	> Registered Engineer | MO (2006)
	> Registered Engineer | KY (2006)
	> Registered Engineer | TX (2006)

Registered Engineer | PA (2006)
	> Registered Engineer | GA (2008)
	> Registered Engineer | CT (2008)
	> Registered Engineer | AL (2009)
	> LEED Accredited Professional

Affiliations
	> The National Council of Examiners 

for Engineering & Surveying
	> American Society of Heating, 

Air Conditioning, & Refrigeration 
Engineers (ASHRAE)

Tenure
	> With Matrix since 2003
	> In the industry since 1994

West Bloomfield Township Fire 
Station No. 3
West Bloomfield, MI

	> New 10,000 square foot fire station 
consisting of two apparatus bays, 
kitchen, day room, six bedrooms, 
locker room, shower/toiler rooms, 
laundry, communications room, 
EMS room, decontamination room, 
SCBA room, workshop, and gear 
room. Matrix Consulting Engineers, 
Inc. provided complete mechanical 
and electrical design services 
including HVAC, plumbing, lighting, 
power and emergency generator.

Summit Township Fire Station
Jackson, MI

	> New 5600 square foot Fire Station 
consists of two apparatus bays, 
Office, Kitchen, Day Room, 
Community Room, Laundry, three 
Bedrooms, Lockers and Toilet/
Shower Room. Matrix provided 
complete mechanical and electrical 
design including heating, air 
conditioning, plumbing, power 
distribution, lighting, compressed 
air, emergency generator and 
gas detection control for garage 
ventilation.

Summit Township Administration 
And Fire House Additions And 
Renovations
Jackson, MI

	> The project consisted of 
approximately 12,900 square 
feet of additions and renovations 
including expanded Fire House, 
new Day Room, Kitchen, Locker 
Room, Shower/Toilet Rooms, 
(5) Bedrooms, Laundry, Offices, 
Storage, Public Safety Garage, 
Locker Rooms and Shower 
Rooms for Public Safety, 
Communications Control Room 
and Conference Room. Matrix 
Consulting Engineers, Inc. 
provided complete mechanical and 
electrical design services including: 
HVAC, plumbing, lighting, power 
distribution and emergency 
generator.



  12 

Jo s e p h F.  So v i s ,  p e

Vice President |  Principal

Mr. Sovis is a Principal responsible for all electrical power, lighting, fire alarm 
systems, and sound & communication systems. He has extensive experience 
with high technology buildings and specialized systems, engine test cell facilities, 
security systems, sound reinforcing, uninterruptible power and emergency power 
generation systems.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Science in Electrical 

Engineering, Michigan State 
University, 1992

	> Associate of Applied Science 
in Architecture, Ferris State 
University,  1986

Registrations
	> Registered Engineer | MI (1999)
	> Registered Architect | WI (1996)
	> Registered Engineer | NC (2006)

Affiliations
	> National Society of Professional 

Engineers Illuminating Engineering 
Society

Tenure
	> With Matrix since 1999
	> In the industry since 1985

West Bloomfield Township Fire 
Station No. 3
West Bloomfield, MI

	> New 10,000 square foot fire station 
consisting of two apparatus bays, 
kitchen, day room, six bedrooms, 
locker room, shower/toiler rooms, 
laundry, communications room, 
EMS room, decontamination room, 
SCBA room, workshop, and gear 
room. Matrix Consulting Engineers, 
Inc. provided complete mechanical 
and electrical design services 
including HVAC, plumbing, lighting, 
power and emergency generator.

Summit Township Fire Station
Jackson, MI

	> New 5600 square foot Fire Station 
consists of two apparatus bays, 
Office, Kitchen, Day Room, 
Community Room, Laundry, three 
Bedrooms, Lockers and Toilet/
Shower Room. Matrix provided 
complete mechanical and electrical 
design including heating, air 
conditioning, plumbing, power 
distribution, lighting, compressed 
air, emergency generator and 
gas detection control for garage 
ventilation.

Summit Township Administration 
And Fire House Additions And 
Renovations
Jackson, MI

	> The project consisted of 
approximately 12,900 square 
feet of additions and renovations 
including expanded Fire House, 
new Day Room, Kitchen, Locker 
Room, Shower/Toilet Rooms, 
(5) Bedrooms, Laundry, Offices, 
Storage, Public Safety Garage, 
Locker Rooms and Shower 
Rooms for Public Safety, 
Communications Control Room 
and Conference Room. Matrix 
Consulting Engineers, Inc. 
provided complete mechanical and 
electrical design services including: 
HVAC, plumbing, lighting, power 
distribution and emergency 
generator.



  13 

Th o m a s J.  So v e l ,  p e

Vice President | Civil Engineer

Thomas J. Sovel, PE has 35 years of experience in the industry and with Spalding 
DeDecker. His experience in civil engineering covers a wide variety of projects 
for both public and private clients. These have included institutional, financial, 
educational, municipal, healthcare, commercial, industrial, and residential projects. 
His experience also includes tasks related to the site engineering design of parking 
lots, watermain, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, stormwater master drainage plan 
development, bus loops, and site drainage.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Science in Civil 

Engineering, Michigan State 
University, 1988

Registrations
	> Professional Engineer | MI, AL, AZ, 

AK, CA, CO, CT, DE, FL, GA, IL, 
IN, KS, KY, LA, MN, MD, MA, MN, 
MS, MO, NB, NH, NJ, NM, NY, NC, 
ND, OH, OK, PA, SC, SD, TN, TX, 
UT, VA, DC, WV, WY

Tenure
	> With SD since 1988
	> In the industry since 1988

New Fire Station #3
West Bloomfield, MI 

	> Project Manager overseeing 
planning and design for new fire 
station. Project includes two-level 
construction with the apparatus 
bay 6’ below the living/office area. 
Sustainable design measures were 
incorporated with the use of bio-
retention areas.

Fire Stations #3 and #4
Macomb Township, MI 

	> Responsible for project oversight 
for site planning and design for 
two new fire stations in Macomb 
Township. Fire Station #3 required 
MDEQ permitting for floodplain 
impacts since it was constructed 
in the 100 year floodplain of the 
Clinton River.

Fire Station
Ypsilanti Township, MI 

	> Responsible for site demolition 
plan including pavement removals 
as necessary for the improvements 
and removal of utilities that 
interfere with the addition.

Fire Station
Northville Township, MI 

	> Project Manager responsibilities 
include design development, 
construction documents, bidding, 
and construction phase.

Detroit 8th Precinct Police Station
Detroit, MI

	> Project Manager for civil 
engineering design services for an 
adaptive re-use project to convert 
an existing building to a new police 
station.

Grand Blanc Township Police Station
	> Project Manager for the new 

25,000 square feet police station, 
which was built on existing 
Township property on Saginaw 
Road north of Dort Highway. The 
site engineering work included 
paving and grading design, 
stormwater management, sanitary 
sewer, and watermain design. SD 
utilized multiple detention areas 
and incorporated the large wetland 
complex on the property into the 
stormwater management system.

47th District Court
Farmington Hills, MI 

	> Project Manager - for site 
engineering work and site design 
work for the new 40,000 square 
foot courthouse building at the 
site of the existing administrative 
offices.



  14 

To m Ge r r i sh ,  e i t

Project Engineer

Mr. Gerrish is an accomplished engineer with expertise in designing 
comprehensive stormwater management systems for commercial applications. 
With a keen eye for detail, Tom has successfully developed underground 
stormwater detention systems, retention and detention ponds, storm sewers, and 
outlet control structures. His proficiency extends to conducting intricate pressure 
and flow calculations to design robust public watermain and sanitary sewer 
systems. Leveraging advanced tools such as AutoCAD, Civil 3D, and hydraulic
and hydrologic software, Tom excels in creating detailed engineering plans and 
construction documents that adhere to industry standards.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Science in Civil 

Engineering, University of Windsor, 
Windsor, ON, Canada, 2019

Registrations
	> EIT, 2019

Training
	> OSHA 30-Hour Construction
	> Industry Safety Certification

SouthTown
Ann Arbor, MI

	> Project Engineer – Designed 
site plans in coordination with a 
team for a new 8 story multi – 
use building which includes 216 
apartments and commercial space.

845 & 945 West Clark Road 
Apartments
Ypsilanti, MI 

	> Project Engineer – Designed site 
plans in coordination with a team 
for a 215,000 SF senior living 
facility, 5 multi-story apartments, 
and a clubhouse. Designed site 
grading and utilities. Performed 
pressure and flow modeling for a 
new public water main.

Dexter-Elmhurst Community Center
Detroit, MI 

	> Project Engineer – Lead design 
of site improvements for Dexter-
Elmhurst Community Center. Plans 
included demolition, site grading, 
stormwater management, and 
paving.

Roseville Provisioning Center
Roseville, MI 

	> Project Engineer – Lead site 
design and permitting for a new 
provisioning center in Roseville. 
Plans included demolition, site 
grading, stormwater management, 
utilities, and paving.

ELGA Credit Union
Grand Blanc, MI 

	> Project Engineer - Responsible 
for management of construction 
for new ELGA Credit Union 
headquarters in coordination with 
the Sr. Project Manager.  Scope 
of work included: earthwork, 
stormwater detention, site utilities, 
site concrete, foundations, paving.

Tommy’s Express Car Wash S. Cedar
Lansing, MI 

	> Project Engineer – Lead site 
design and permitting for Tommy’s 
Express Car Wash in Lansing. 
Plans included demolition, site 
grading, stormwater management, 
relocation of public sewer, site 
utilities, and paving.

Flint Library
Flint, MI 

	> Project Engineer - Responsible 
for management of construction of 
site improvements for renovation 
of the Flint Public Library in 
coordination with the Sr. Project 
Manager. Scope of work included: 
Demolition, earthwork, site utilities, 
site concrete.



  15 

Ro b e r t  Fo r d,  p l a

Lead Landscape Architect

Thomas J. Sovel, PE has 35 years of experience in the industry and with Spalding 
DeDecker. His experience in civil engineering covers a wide variety of projects 
for both public and private clients. These have included institutional, financial, 
educational, municipal, healthcare, commercial, industrial, and residential projects. 
His experience also includes tasks related to the site engineering design of parking 
lots, watermain, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, stormwater master drainage plan 
development, bus loops, and site drainage.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Bachelor of Landscape 

Architecture, Michigan State 
University | 1975

Registrations
	> Licensed Professional Landscape 

Architect 
State of MI #3901000909

	> Certified Playground Safety 
Inspector 
#52013-1024, Expires  
10/1/2024

	> NPPS Early Childhood Outdoor 
Play Inspector 
#NC12301, Expires May 2023

	> Certified Storm Water 
Management- 
Construction Site #C-08418

Associations
	> American Society of Landscape 

Architects ASLA 
	> Michigan Chapter, American 

Society of Landscape Architects, 
President

	> Michigan Society of Planning
	> Michigan Trails & Greenways 

Alliance
	> Global Relief of Michigan Inc., 

Advisory Board Member
	> American Planning Association

Independence Township Parks 
Recreation & Seniors Master Plan

	> LAP is in the process of finalizing 
an update to the township’s Parks, 
Recreation & Seniors Master Plan. 
Our services included: public 
meetings, community member 
interviews, park inventories, 
opinion survey, providing goals 
and objectives such as park 
upgrades and the creation of a new 
recreation center, action plan, and 
community improvement budget.

Vevay Township Recreation Master 
Plan

	> LAP was retained by Vevay 
Township to update their 
Recreation Master Plan. Services 
provided included an analysis of 
existing recreation opportunities 
and facilities, created goals 
and objectives and a capital 
improvement plan, as well as, a 
concept plan for improvements to 
the Vevay Township Community 
Park located at the Township Hall.

Shelby Township 5-Year Recreation 
Plan

	> LAP was retained by Shelby 
Township to produce their first 
5-Year Recreation Master Plan. 
Planning efforts included public 
meetings, opinion survey, and 
recreation inventory providing goals 
and objectives, an action and a 
capital improvement plan.

Mason 5-Year Parks and Recreation, 
Non-Motorized Transportation and 
Wayfinding Plans

	> LAP currently provides services to 
concurrently produce a Recreation 
Master Plan, Non-Motorized 
Transportation Plan (NMTP) 
and a Wayfinding Plan for the 
City of Mason. LAP coordinated 
public meetings, workshops, 
interviews with key members 
of the community, completed 
an inventory, opinion survey, 
demographic analysis, needs 
assessment, reviewed recreation 
and transportation standards, 
related plans, provided goals and 
objectives, provided an action 
plan and capital improvement 
budget. The Wayfinding Plan will 
recommend locations, sign types, 
and sign concepts identifying the 
City’s parks, trails, and parking 
areas.

Novi Strategic Community 
Recreation and Master Park Plan

	> LAP is currently providing services 
to update the City’s current plan. 
These services include: public 
meetings, community member 
interviews, park inventories, 
opinion survey, providing goals 
and objectives such as park 
upgrades and the creation of a new 
recreation center, action plan, and 
community improvement budget. 



  16 

Ni ch  o l a s Wa l l a c e

Senior Landscape Architect

Mr. Wallace’s professional experience includes several years of residential 
landscape and hardscape design and construction. This experience has provided 
Nick with a broad and practical knowledge of all aspects of a project from concept, 
cost estimating and construction drawings, through final construction. Nick has 
applied his diverse range of skills to help bring projects from concept to completion 
- from preliminary sketching and design development to construction drawings, 
digital rendering techniques and presentation graphics.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Associate Degree in Landscape 

Architecture, Lansing Community 
College, With High Honors | 2012

Certifications
	> Storm Water Management 

Construction Site, #C-20804
	> SESC Review and Design #SE/C 

02693

Associations
	> Training Wheels 2014 (Bicycle 

Facility Design Training)
	> Sustainable SITES Initiative 

Fundamentals
	> Webinar Series 1-9 – A program 

promoting healthy functioning 
landscapes sponsored by the Lady 
Bird Johnson

Independence Township Parks 
Recreation & Seniors Master Plan 
2023-2027

	> LAP is in the process of finalizing 
an update to the township’s Parks, 
Recreation & Seniors Master Plan. 
Our services included: public 
meetings, community member 
interviews, park inventories, 
opinion survey, providing goals 
and objectives such as park 
upgrades and the creation of a new 
recreation center, action plan, and 
community improvement budget.

Vevay Township Recreation Master 
Plan 2022-2026 

	> LAP was retained by Vevay 
Township to update their 
Recreation Master Plan. Services 
provided included an analysis of 
existing recreation opportunities 
and facilities, created goals 
and objectives and a capital 
improvement plan, as well as, a 
concept plan for improvements to 
the Vevay Township Community 
Park located at the Township Hall.

Shelby Township (Oceana Co.) 
5-Year Recreation Plan 2021-2025 

	> LAP was retained by Shelby 
Township to produce their first 
5-Year Recreation Master Plan. 
Planning efforts included public 
meetings, opinion survey, and 
recreation inventory providing goals 
and objectives, an action and a 
capital improvement plan.

Mason 5-Year Parks and Recreation, 
Non-Motorized Transportation and 
Wayfinding Plans

	> LAP currently provides services to 
concurrently produce a Recreation 
Master Plan, Non-Motorized 
Transportation Plan (NMTP) 
and a Wayfinding Plan for the 
City of Mason. LAP coordinated 
public meetings, workshops, 
interviews with key members 
of the community, completed 
an inventory, opinion survey, 
demographic analysis, needs 
assessment, reviewed recreation 
and transportation standards, 
related plans, provided goals and 
objectives, provided an action 
plan and capital improvement 
budget. The Wayfinding Plan will 
recommend locations, sign types, 
and sign concepts identifying the 
City’s parks, trails, and parking 
areas.

Novi Strategic Community 
Recreation and Master Park Plan 

	> LAP is currently providing services 
to update the City’s current plan. 
These services include: public 
meetings, community member 
interviews, park inventories, 
opinion survey, providing goals 
and objectives such as park 
upgrades and the creation of a new 
recreation center, action plan, and 
community improvement budget. 



  17 

Ke i t h A. R i t s e m a, p e

Principal | Structural Engineer

Keith joined JDH Engineering in the spring of 2001, performing project engineering 
duties on a variety of industrial, commercial, and education projects. He soon 
displayed the ability to manage all aspects of structural engineering on complex 
projects, from conceptual phases through construction. Beginning in January 
of 2012, Keith became a principal within the firm and has taken on business 
management and development responsibilities in addition to providing structural 
engineering and project management.

Keith is the first line liaison with the client through the design and construction 
process. He is responsible for development of the structural system and its 
interface with other design disciplines, coordination of the preparation of structural 
contract documents, and contract administration.

In addition, Keith has developed expertise in investigating and evaluation of 
existing structures. This experience includes evaluation of homes for hurricane 
and flood damage, load rating of existing structures, and investigation of building 
failures during or post-construction.

Relevant Experience

Education
	> Master of Business Administration, 

Cornerstone University
	> Master of Civil Engineering, North 

Carolina State University
	> Bachelor of Science, Structural 

Engineering, Calvin College

Registrations
	> Professional Engineer | MI
	> Professional Engineer | AL
	> Professional Engineer | CO
	> Professional Engineer | MD 
	> Professional Engineer | MO
	> Professional Engineer | NC
	> Professional Engineer | OH

Affiliations
	> American Institute of Steel 

Construction (AISC)
	> Masonry Institute of Michigan 

(MIM)
	> National Council of Examiners for 

Engineering & Surveying (NCEES)
	> Structural Engineers Association of 

Michigan (SEAMi)

Tenure
	> With JDH since 2001
	> In the industry since 1998

Grand Rapids Christian School
Grand Rapids, MI

	> Quest Center
	> New Elementary School
	> High School Renovation
	> Ice Arena
	> Shawnee Middle School 

Renovation 

Hopkins Public Schools 
Hopkins, MI

	> Elementary Classroom & Gym 
Additions

Forest Hills Ada Vista Elementary
Ada, MI

	> Classroom & Gym Additions

Thornapple-Kellogg Public Schools 
Middleville, MI

	> High School Gym & Classroom 
Addition

Byron Center Countryside 
Kent County, MI

	> Elementary School

John G. Widdicomb Building 
Renovation & Addition
Grand Rapids, MI

	> 12,5000 sf
	> $8.1 million

Ridgeview Industries Plant & Office
Grand Rapids, MI

Christ Memorial Reformed Church 
Addition
Holland, MI

Country Inn & Suites Hotel
Grand Rapids, MI

	> 100,000 sf



  18 

Ci t y o f La n s i n g Pu b l i c Sa f e t y Bu i l d i n g

Department of Technology, Management and Budget | Lansing, MI

Scope
	> New Public Safety Facility & 

Renovations of Three Fire Stations

Size
	> Combined Public Safety:  

195,000 sf
	> Fire Station #2: 9,971 sf
	> Fire Station #8 (renovation):  

11,597 sf
	> Fire Station #9: 21,403 sf
	> Fire Training Facility: 14,000 sf

Schedule
	> Design: Currently in Design
	> Construction: Spring 2024

Consultants     
	> Design: BKV Group
	> MEP: Matrix
	> Structural: JDH Structural 

Engineers
	> Civil: Fleis & Vandenbrink
	> IT/AV Security: Commtech

Reference
Roy Plowman
Project Manager
City of Lansing
517.231.0344

Dan Wisinski
Director of Construction
Owners Rep: River Caddis
517.812.9287

This project consists of building a new Public 
Safety Complex in Lansing made up of courts, 
police, townhall, and jail. 

The project also includes the renovation 
of one existing fire station in Lansing and 
building two additional new fire stations and 
fire traing facility. 



  19 

Ch a r l o t t e  We s t  S i d e  F i r e  St a t i o n

City of Charlotte Fire Department | Charlotte, MI

Scope
	> New fire station
	> Apparatus bays
	> Training and meeting room
	> Kitchenette
	> Administrative space

Size
	> 17,000 sf 

Cost
	> $2.8 million

Awards
	> American Public Works 

Association’s Michigan Chapter, 
Project of the Year, 2009

Reference
Tyger Fullerton
Captain
City of Charlotte Fire Department
517.543.0241
tfullerton@charlottemi.org

The City of Charlotte is split by the railroad running north and south through the 
middle of town. Due to this railroad location, the west side of Charlotte was in 
danger if a major fire broke out while the train was passing through town. To help 
service the west side of Charlotte, a piece of property was donated to the city 
for a new fire station. As a part of this project, Hobbs+Black provided the City of 
Charlotte with millage support services. 

The Charlotte West Side Fire Station is a new 17,000-square-foot, masonry-
constructed facility located in Charlotte, Michigan. The station features four drive-
through apparatus bays, one wash bay, and a hose drying tower with a practice 
stair. Other features include a 1,000-square-foot training and meeting room with a 
kitchenette, and 1,000 square feet of administrative space containing five offices. 
The residential spaces support two sleeping dorms, each accommodating six 
people, as well as kitchen, dining, living, and laundry facilities. Additionally, the new 
station houses an exercise room, locker room and showers, storage room, kitchen, 
food pantries, compressor room, tank filling station, and dispatch center. The facility 
is supported by an emergency generator.



  20 

Ba t h To w n sh  i p  F i r e  St a t i o n & Ma s t e r Pl a n

Bath, MI

Project Scope
	> New fire station

Size
	> 9,900 sf 

Cost
	> $1.5 million

A new fire station was designed for Bath Township as a direct result of a space needs study and master plan that Hobbs+Black 
completed. The study involved the entire existing township complex, including the fire station, police station, town hall, and 
senior center.

The new facility is used by an all-volunteer fire department and houses 10 pieces of equipment, administrative staff offices, 
training room, kitchen, radio dispatch, and storage rooms.

Designed for expansion, the apparatus room includes a 90-foot drive-through bay that will accommodate future ladder trucks 
and two 40-foot apparatus bays for medical response equipment. A number of smaller apparatus bays provide space for 
secondary equipment such as a rescue boat and trailer, brush rig, and a reserve truck. The building also has been designed to 
add sleeping quarters for full-time fire fighters in the future. The remaining facilities will be phased in over time.



     Charter Township of Westbloom Fire Station #3
          West Bloomfield, MI

New 10,000 square foot fire station consisting of two apparatus bays, kitchen, day room, six
bedrooms, locker room, shower/toiler rooms, laundry, communications room, EMS room,
decontamination room, SCBA room, workshop, and gear room. Matrix Consulting Engineers, Inc.
provided complete mechanical and electrical design services including HVAC, plumbing, lighting,
power and emergency generator.

     Fowlerville Fire Station
         Fowlerville, MI

Project Experience
The project consists of
providing engineering
services for the new
Fowlerville Fire Station.
These services included
electrical power
drawings, LED lighting,
power for mechanical
equipment based off of
mechanical contractor’s
drawings, power for
plumbing equipment
based off plumbing
contractor’s drawings,
and site LED lighting.



    Summit Township Administration and Fire House
        Jackson, MI

The project consisted of approximately 12,900 square feet of additions and renovations including
expanded Fire House, new Day Room, Kitchen, Locker Room, Shower/Toilet Rooms, (5) Bedrooms,
Laundry, Offices, Storage, Public Safety Garage, Locker Rooms and Shower Rooms for Public Safety,
Communications Control Room and Conference Room. Matrix Consulting Engineers, Inc. provided
complete mechanical and electrical design services including: HVAC, plumbing, lighting, power
distribution and emergency generator.

     Ingham County Justice Complex
          Mason, MI

The project consisted of mechanical, electrical and plumbing design services as well as fire
protection performance specifications for a new Justice Complex that contain a new jail,
administrative offices for the Sherriff's Department and 55 District Court facilities. The jail and
holding areas were designed as ligature resistant spaces. 



(800) 598-1600  |  www.sda-eng.com

SIMILAR PROJECTS

FIRE STATION ENGINEERING EXPERIENCE
Spalding DeDecker (SD) has provided survey, design, and construction engineering 
services for numerous fire stations. Our project approach varies based on our 
client’s target users, budgets, and the unique needs of the specific locations.

Fire Station No. 3 | West Bloomfield Township, MI | DLZ of Michigan
Robert Jordan | rjordan@dlz.com |   $5,000,000
Spalding DeDecker provided civil engineering and surveying services for the project 
which included replacement of an aged and outdated fire station facility on the 
same property.  Additional property to the south was acquired so the fire station 
could include living quarters. The site provided some significant challenges due 
to the configuration of the property, lack of storm drainage facilities, and existing 
grades. SD worked through the site constraints to design a site that worked with 
the terrain and within the property boundaries.  Solutions included a multi-level 
facility due to the site elevations, as well as sustainable stormwater design aspects 
including drywells and rain gardens that took advantage of the well-draining soils.

Macomb Fire Stations No. 3 & No. 4 | Macomb Township, MI | $2,500,000 per 
station
Spalding DeDecker (SD) was responsible for the design of the site improvements for 
Fire Station #3 and Fire Station #4, including grading, paving, drainage, and utility 
design. Extensive flood plain work and permitting was required on Fire Station #3, 
which was built within the flood plain of the Clinton River.

Northville Fire Headquarters | Northville, MI | French Associates | Dale C. Jerome, 
Ed.D., AIA, ALEP, LEED AP | $4,300,000
The new Fire Headquarters is 24,318 square feet and is located at Millennium Park 
across from Northville High School on the south side of Six Mile Road. Spalding 
DeDecker (SD) was responsible for the design of the site improvements, including 
grading, paving, and utility services. SD designed stormwater management facilities 
to fit into the surrounding Northville Hills Subdivision and Millennium Park plans.

ADDITIONAL PROJECTS:
 
Ypsilanti Twp Fire Station
Lenox Twp Fire Station No. 1 
Lenox Twp Fire Station No. 2
Armada Twp Fire Station No. 2
Madison Heights Fire Station No. 2

City of Novi Fire Station No. 2
City of Novi Fire Station No. 5
Plymouth Twp Fire Station No. 2
Plymouth Twp Fire Station No. 3



  24 

Pr e l i m i n a r y Fl o o r Pl a n s

Op t i o n 1

Op t i o n 2



  25 

Sch  e d u l e

Submit Proposal February 16, 2024
Project Award February 23, 2024
Planning/Schematic Design Workshop #1 February 27, 2024
Planning/Schematic Design Workshop #2 – SD Approval March 12, 2024
Design Development Workshop #1 March 19, 2024
Design Development Workshop #2 – DD Approval April 9, 2024
Submit Site Plan Review Application April 29, 2024
Construction Documents Commence April 30, 2024
Construction Documents 50% Review May 7, 2024
Owner Review Meeting May 13, 2024
Planning Commission Meeting May 27, 2024
Construction Documents 90% Review June 11, 2024
Construction Documents 100% Review June 18, 2024
Issue for Bids and Building Plan Review June 24, 2024
Pre-Bid Meeting July 9, 2024, 2:00 PM
Final Addenda July 15, 2024
Bids Due July 18, 2024, 2:00 PM
Post-Bids July 23, 2024
Letter of Recommendation July 24, 2024
General Contractor Award (no later than) August 16, 2024
Construction Kick Off Meeting August 22, 2024
Construction Commences (on or before) September 3, 2024
Substantial Completion / Punch List Walk-through December 20, 2024
Owner Move-in January 6, 2025
Project Close-Out Complete (As-Builts and O&M Books)  March 3, 2025



  26 

Co m p e n s a t i o n

 
2024 Central Fire Station Dormitory Addition Design Proposals 

5 

 

 
 

Design Services Proposal Form 
 

2024 CENTRAL FIRE DORMITORY ADDITION 
 

Meridian Township Fire Department 
 
 

Proposal Deadline:  3:00pm on Friday, February 9, 2024 

 
 
 
SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS 

A copy of the proposal shall be submitted to: 
Meridian Township Clerk’s Office  
Charter Township of Meridian  
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 
“CENTRAL FIRE DORMITORY ADDITION DESIGN PROPOSAL” 
 
Bidders can elect to submit digitally. If you wish to submit electronically, 
please email your bids directly to bids@meridian.mi.us.  

Hobbs+Black Architects

Martin Ruiter mruiter@hobbs-black.com

117 E Allegan Street, Lansing, MI 48933

517.484.4870

63,460    Hours: 454

23,430   Hours: 149



  27 

Co m p e n s a t i o n

Ho u r l y Ra t e s

HOBBS+BLACK ARCHITECTS
DISCIPLINE RATE RANGES PER HOUR

Senior Principal $250 - $350
Principal $200 - $275
Project Director	 $150 - $200
Project Manager $125 - $175
Project Architect $100 - $130
Project Assistant $65 - $100
Design Director $150 - $200
Senior Designer	 $110 - $150
Designer $75 - $110
Administrative Staff $65 - $100

MATRIX CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING
TEAM MEMBER HOURLY RATE

Senior Engineer $184
Engineering Project Manager $158
Project Engineer $129
Design Engineer II $117
Designer II $99
Designer I $83
CAD Operator $54

SPALDING DEDECKER
TEAM MEMBER HOURLY RATE

Project Manager $183
Project Surveyor $140
Survey Crew $140
Project Engineer $138
Survey Technician $125
Designer/CAD $116

JDH ENGINEERING
TEAM MEMBER HOURLY RATE

Principal Engineer (Structural) $180

*Billing rates are reviewed annually and may be subject to 
increase based on employee performance evaluations and 
inflation.



117 E Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48933  |  517.484.4870
ANN ARBOR  |   L ANSING  |   PHOENIX  |   W W W.HOBBS - BL ACK.COM



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13.D 

To:  Township Board Members 
 

From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works & Engineering 
 

  Younes Ishraidi, Township Engineer 

Deputy Director of Public Works & Engineering 
 

Date:  April 2, 2024 
 

Re: Greater Lansing Area Regional Stormwater Program MOA 

  

Since the early 2000s, Meridian Township has collaborated with area communities to comply with 

federal and state stormwater National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Phase II (NPDES II) 

permit requirements. This regional approach allows for better management and protection of our 

vital water resources.   
 

A major component of the NPDES II is the MS4 (Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System) program 

and as a member of the Greater Lansing Area Regional Storm Water Program  

(GLRC) we receive assistance with the preparation, implementation and compliance of our 

mandatory MS4 permit.  Stewardship, public education and employee training are major 

components of the MS4 program and at the end of the year a report is generated that details the 

accomplishments of the program. 
 

The current agreement was revised and adopted by the GLRC in September of 2023. The GLRC is 

now requesting that all participants approve the current agreement by adoption of a resolution. 

The Memorandum of Agreement would now extend our partnership until April 4, 2028.   
 

The Department of Public Works is a strong advocate of the GLRC and values the assistance we 

receive with complying with our federally mandated NPDES II and MS4 permit requirements. We 

highly recommend that the partnership be continued as outlined in the attached resolution and 

associated Memorandum of Agreement.  
 

The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

"MOVE TO APPROVE RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE GREATER LANSING REGIONAL 
COMMITTEE FOR STORMWATER MANAGEMENT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT AS 
REVISED AND ADOPTED BY THE GLRC ON SEPTEMBER 11, 2023.”   

 

Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution to approve the Greater Lansing Regional Committee for Stormwater 
Management Memorandum of Agreement as revised and adopted by the GLRC on 
September 11, 2023. 

2. Greater Lansing Regional Committee for Stormwater Management Memorandum of 
Agreement as revised and adopted by the GLRC on September 11, 2023.  



GREATER LANSING AREA REGIONAL STORM WATER PROGRAM 
Charter Township of Meridian  

 
RESOLUTION  

 
At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Township Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, 
Michigan  48864-1198, (517) 853-4000, on Tuesday, April 2, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 
PRESENT:             
 
              
 
ABSENT:             
 
 

The following resolution was offered by        and 
 
supported by       . 

 
WHEREAS the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) and the Michigan 

Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) have required communities in the 
Greater Lansing tri-county region to apply for and maintain compliance with a National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit; and 

 
WHEREAS, the communities prepared, reviewed, and proposed a Memorandum of 

Agreement for adoption by all the communities and agencies to formalize and establish the Greater 
Lansing Regional Committee for Stormwater Management (GLRC) ; and 

 
WHEREAS, participation in the GLRC advances local efforts for responsible stewardship of 

our natural resources, allows for the cooperative management of the watersheds in our community 
and this region, and assists the participating municipalities and their departments in complying with 
the regulatory requirements promulgated by EGLE and the U.S. EPA Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
System (MS4) stormwater discharge permits; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Memorandum of Agreement, which was adopted by these municipalities and 

agencies originally in 2008, was revised and updated and re-adopted in 2012, 2017, and 2021 and 
has now been prepared reflecting changes in the participating communities and activities to meet 
permit requirements and extending the period of the agreement to April 4, 2028. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, herby approves the Greater Lansing Regional Committee for 
Stormwater Management Memorandum of Agreement, as revised and adopted by the GLRC 
on September 11, 2023, and authorizes payment of the appropriate annual assessment for 
support of the GLRC; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the community’s representative to the GLRC is Township 
Engineer Younes Ishraidi, with Director of Public Works & Engineering Dan Opsommer as alternate. 
 
 



 
 YEAS:            
 
             
 
 NAYS:            
 
Resolution declared adopted. 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Charter Township of 
Meridian, Ingham County, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of 
proceedings taken by the Township Board at a regular meeting held on Tuesday, April 2, 2024. 
 
 
 
            
     Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
     Charter Township of Meridian 



1 

 

GREATER LANSING REGIONAL COMMITTEE 
 for Stormwater Management  

 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – DECEMBER 2, 2021 
 

Original Agreement – MAY 21, 2004 
 Revised and Adopted – DECEMBER 2, 2021 
Revised and Adopted – September 11, 2023 

 

  
I. PURPOSE 

It is the purpose of this Memorandum of Agreement (hereinafter the Agreement) to set forth the 
composition, duties, and responsibilities of the Greater Lansing Regional Committee for Stormwater 
Management (hereinafter the “GLRC”) to be formed as more particularly described below. Local 
public agencies, institutions, and communities believe there are substantial benefits that can be 
derived under this Agreement through cooperative management of the Grand River, Red Cedar River 
and Looking Glass River watersheds to protect the Waters of the State; to meet local initiatives for 
protecting the environment; and in providing mutual assistance in meeting the requirements under 
the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit for Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems, 
(hereinafter the “MS4 Permit”) or similar stormwater discharge permits issued to public entities within 
the Grand River, Red Cedar River, and Looking Glass River watersheds. 
 
The Agreement will also provide a framework for consideration of new, permanent watershed 
organizations with potentially broader responsibilities that could provide a more cost-effective and 
efficient means to meet state and federal requirements, and public expectations for restoration and 
maintenance of the beneficial uses of the watersheds. 
 

II. HISTORY OF GLRC 
On November 15, 1999, Delta Township and the City of Lansing hosted a meeting for several local 
communities. The meeting notice stated that this was to be “an informal meeting to discuss the 
Stormwater Phase II program (now referred to as the MS4 program) and how, or if, there may be a 
way to pool resources on a regional basis”. 
 
Representatives from various communities, counties, and EGLE discussed the federal regulations 
for Stormwater Phase II and the EGLE’s program allowing a “Voluntary Permit Program.” Originally 
nine communities and three counties were listed as designated communities by EGLE. 
 
Subsequent meetings were held to continue exploring the feasibility and cost of a cooperative effort.  
On June 8, 2000, a draft resolution was prepared for the establishment of the “Greater Lansing Area 
Regional NPDES Phase II Stormwater Regulations Committee” and for each community to name a 
representative to serve on the Committee. 
 



2 

 

Throughout the remainder of 2000, the Committee obtained resolutions from each community; 
elected officers; received proposals and interviewed four consulting firms. Tetra Tech MPS was 
selected to assist the Committee in determining how to best comply with the Phase II Stormwater 
Rules. Tri-County Regional Planning Commission (TCRPC) also assisted the Committee in providing 
contractual, fiduciary, and administrative support. 
 
In May 2001, Tetra Tech MPS completed the “Step 1 – Permit Strategy Development” study which 
incorporated the Committee’s decision (April 20, 2001) to proceed as a group using the State’s 
Voluntary General Permit approach. The Committee then agreed to retain Tetra Tech MPS to 
prepare the Voluntary General Permit Application for each of the nine communities. The cost for 
each community was based on a formula that included weighted factors for population and land area.  
Eight of the nine communities then passed a second resolution agreeing to continue as a group with 
voluntary general permits using the distribution of costs as presented. Williamstown Township 
elected to proceed with a jurisdictionally based permit. 
 
The eight communities proceeding under the voluntary general permit, also formally agreed to have 
the watershed management plans developed under the individual drain commissioners. 
 
On January 25, 2002, the Committee agreed to retain Tetra Tech MPS to prepare a watershed 
management plan for the Grand River, Looking Glass River, and the Red Cedar River. Again, the 
allocation of cost agreed to by everyone was based on weighted factors involving the percentage of 
population and land in each watershed. Each community adopted a third resolution committing their 
appropriate funds for the watershed management plans. 
 
A Public Education Advisory Committee was organized to assist in the educational portion of 
Voluntary General Permit Applications. 
 
Throughout 2002 and 2003 fourteen additional communities within the three watersheds were invited 
to join the Committee. Ten communities were required to meet the MS4 Permit requirements based 
on the 2000 census. 
 
Eight communities ultimately joined and participated in the regional approach and completed the 
Voluntary General Permit Application utilizing Tetra Tech MPS. 
 
In March 2003, all sixteen communities and the three counties submitted their Voluntary General 
Permit Applications to EGLE. In November 2003, certificates of coverage were issued to each of the 
sixteen communities and to each of the three counties. 
 
In 2006 Lansing Public Schools and DeWitt Public Schools joined the GLRC. 
 
In 2007, a lawsuit filed by a Township in Kalamazoo County established that some townships no 
longer required an MS4 Permit from EGLE. As this case relates to the GLRC, EGLE determined that 
Alaiedon, Bath, Oneida, Watertown, and Windsor Townships would no longer need an MS4 Permit. 
 
At the December 14, 2007, GLRC meeting, the GLRC membership took formal action to establish 
an Associate Membership category to encourage any public agency, institution, or community who 
did not have an MS4 Permit to join the GLRC. 



3 

 

 
In 2012, the City of DeWitt entered into an agreement nesting DeWitt Public Schools. 
 
In 2012, EGLE changed the process for permit renewal, instead of issuing a general watershed-
based permit; individual MS4 permits will be issued. The application process will detail all activities 
of the GLRC and members through two separate applications. Then, EGLE will review and negotiate, 
with the end result being EGLE issuing a permit specific for each member.  
 
In 2016, Waverly Community Schools joined the GLRC.  
 
In 2017, members reapplied for permit coverage. 
 
In 2019/2020, members were issued MS4 permits expiring in October 2024.  
 
In 2021, members submitted MS4 Progress Reports to EGLE.  
 
In 2023, members submitted MS4 Progress Reports to EGLE. 
 

III. GREATER LANSING REGIONAL COMMITTEE (GLRC) 
 

A. Term 
While the ultimate organization of the GLRC and its responsibilities has evolved over time 
and after thoughtful review of alternatives, the signatories to this Agreement want to continue 
to work together under the following terms to assure the continuation of responsibility for 
essential services. These stormwater management services provide for the legal and 
financial responsibility to meet state and federal stormwater discharge permit requirements 
as well as local initiatives to protect the Waters of the State. 
 
This Agreement replaces the current GLRC agreement in its entirety for the period expiring 
April 4, 2028. As confirmed by EGLE, expiration of the current permit is October 1, 2024; an 
application will be due to EGLE by April 4, 2024. The members may mutually agree to renew 
and/or extend the term of the GLRC under the provisions contained in this Agreement. 
 
Any member community may withdraw from this Agreement and the GLRC by delivering to 
the Executive Committee a resolution of withdrawal adopted by its governing body. Any such 
withdrawal adopted shall be effective 30 days following delivery of withdrawal, provided 
however, that any withdrawing community shall remain liable for payment of its annual 
assessment through the end of the current fiscal year. 
 

B. Composition 
Membership in the GLRC shall consist of “full members”, “associate members”, and “ex-
officio members”. 
 
The full members of the GLRC shall consist of a representative, or designated alternate(s), 
appointed by the appropriate governing body in each township, city, village, school district, 
institution, and county that has an EGLE NPDES MS4 Permit and that are signatory to this 



4 

 

Agreement. Each full member is allowed to designate up to two alternates. Alternates may 
vote in place of the absent representative at any Full or Executive Committee meetings. 
 
The associate members of the GLRC shall consist of a representative, or designated 
alternate(s), appointed by the governing body in each township, city, village, school district, 
institution, and county that does not have an EGLE NPDES MS4 permit and that are 
signatory to this Agreement. However, once an associate member obtains an EGLE NPDES 
MS4 Permit, they must become a full member of the GLRC. Each associate member is 
allowed to designate up to two alternates. Alternates may vote in place of the absent 
representative at any Full or Executive Committee meetings. 
 
Members, and designated alternates, shall serve until replaced in writing by the appointing 
authority. 
 
The GLRC may also include ex-officio representatives from such agencies as Tri-County 
Regional Planning Commission (TCRPC), EGLE and others as determined by the GLRC. 
 

C. Public Participation 
All meetings of the Full and Executive Committees of the GLRC shall be noticed and 
conducted in accordance with the Michigan Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.261, et seq. The 
GLRC Full and Executive Committees: 
 
 Determine the rules for public participation 
 Schedule meetings at facilities that are fully accessible to the interested public, and 
 Routinely provide notice of meeting times and places at publicly accessible locations 
 

D. Voting 
The GLRC shall take all formal actions by a simple majority vote of a quorum. A quorum 
shall consist of one more than fifty (50%) of the GLRC members, or their designated 
alternates, eligible to vote. Members eligible to vote are those full members and associate 
members authorized in writing by an appropriate governing authority that has adopted this 
Agreement and that has paid its assessment. Ex-officio members shall be non-voting 
members of the GLRC except when elected to an officer position on the Executive 
Committee.  
 

E. Election of Officers and Appointment of Executive Committee 
The GLRC shall annually elect, from among its members, a Chair, a Vice-Chair, a Secretary, 
and a Treasurer. The Chair and the Vice-Chair shall be elected or appointed officials, or 
employees of a voting full member of the GLRC. The Secretary and Treasurer may be 
representatives of any full, associate, or ex-officio member of the GLRC. There are no limits 
on the consecutive terms elected officers may serve. The Vice Chair, or the Treasurer in the 
event the Vice Chair is unavailable, may assume the duties of the Chair if the Chair is 
unavailable. 
 
The Executive Committee shall have a maximum of ten voting members consisting of: 
 (2) the Chair and Vice Chair of the GLRC 
 (2) the Treasurer and Secretary of the GLRC 



5 

 

 (3) one representative or alternate from each member county 
 (3) the Chairs of the Illicit Discharge Elimination Plan (IDEP)/Post-Construction, 

Public Education Plan (PEP), and Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) Committees 
 

The Chair of the GLRC shall chair the Executive Committee, with the responsibility 
succeeding to the Vice Chair, then the Chair of the PEP Committee if the Chair of the GLRC 
is absent. If neither the Vice Chair of the GLRC nor the Chair of the PEP Committee is 
present at an Executive Committee meeting, the Chair of the IDEP Committee shall serve 
as Chair for the meeting. The GLRC Officers shall not have an alternate serve on their behalf 
on the Executive Committee, but their alternate can vote in their absence. 
 
The Executive Committee will seek consensus on all issues brought before it. In the absence 
of consensus, the Executive Committee will adopt motions only when a majority of its 
members vote in favor of a motion. Each full and associate member will have one vote.  
 

F. Meetings  
The GLRC shall meet at least twice each year at a designated time and location established 
by the Executive Committee. Agendas for GLRC meetings will be distributed and circulated 
to all members at least 7 days in advance of all meetings. The Executive Committee will 
meet at least five times each year at the call of the Chair. All meetings of the GLRC, 
Executive Committee, standing committees, or special committees established under the 
GLRC shall operate under the Robert’s Rules of Order unless modified by a majority vote of 
the GLRC members. The meetings of the GLRC may be rotated to locations throughout the 
three watersheds allowing any member or community agency to host a meeting.  
 
The Full Board of the GLRC and the GLRC Executive Committee shall comply with the 
Michigan Open Meetings Act. The IDEP/Post-Construction, PEP, and TMDL Committees, 
and any additional or ad-hoc committee, may transact business at electronic meetings as 
advisory committees with no defined membership. 
 

G. GLRC Duties 
 

The GLRC shall have the following duties: 
1. Budget and Assessments 

The fiscal year for the GLRC shall be from October 1 – September 30. 
 
Upon execution of this Agreement, review and approve the annual budget for the GLRC 
and establish the allocation of annual assessments for each member category. The 
GLRC shall adopt a budget before September 30 for the calendar year that follows. 
 

2. Standing Committees 
Establish and outline a charge for up to three standing committees. The IDEP/Post-
Construction, PEP, and TMDL Committees will continue to function. Any member or 
designated alternate may serve on any standing committee. See Appendix A for a chart 
of the GLRC structure.   
 

3. Watershed Management 



6 

 

The GLRC is committed to working with watershed partners in the region. This may 
include but is not limited to: Middle Grand River Watershed Planning Project (319), Red 
Cedar River Watershed Planning Project (319), Friends of the Looking Glass River, 
Friends of the Red Cedar River, Middle Grand River Organization of Watersheds 
(MGROW), Mid-Michigan Environmental Action Council (Mid-MEAC), student groups, 
etc. The GLRC values the watershed efforts being conducted and will work with these 
groups to improve water resources in the Tri-County region.   
   

4. Other Duties 
 Maintain official written record of meetings that includes attendance, issues 

discussed, and votes taken. 
 Recommend to member communities, institutions, school districts, and counties any 

subsequent changes needed to this Agreement. 
 Take other actions required, including delegation of responsibilities to the Chair or 

Executive Committee to carry out the purposes and conduct the business of the 
GLRC including, but not limited to, directing the activities of any committees 
established under this Agreement or subsequently authorized by the GLRC. 

 Encourage and promote public input into decisions and recommendations of the 
GLRC, and of all committees established by the GLRC. 

 
H. Executive Committee Duties 

The Executive Committee shall have the following duties: 
1. Budget 

With the advice of the standing committees, supervise the expenditure of GLRC monies 
consistent with the approved annual budget. 
 

2. Supervise Staff and Arrange Support Services 
Arrange for the services of staff responsible for facilitating meetings, preparing agendas, 
and negotiating and advocating on behalf of the GLRC. Supervise and provide direction 
to staff of the GLRC, make provisions for necessary management support services for 
operation of the GLRC. 
 
All staff or employees employed by the GLRC shall be and remain at all times solely the 
agents, servants, or employees of the GLRC and shall not be construed for any 
purposes to be an agent, servant, or employee of any constituent member of the GLRC. 

 
3. Provide Forum for Discussion 

Provide a forum for discussion, and, if appropriate, resolution of issues related to the 
implementation of this Agreement brought to its attention by any member of the GLRC. 
 

4. Other Duties 
 Assist the standing committees and special committees of the GLRC in meeting 

their respective responsibilities. 
 Maintain a brief written record of each Executive Committee meeting including, at a 

minimum, attendance, list of issues, and a record of decisions. 
 Take other actions that are consistent with the provisions of this Agreement and 

direction provided by the GLRC. 



7 

 

 
IV. RESOLUTION 

The communities, institutions, school districts, and counties entering into this Agreement shall do so 
by the passage of a formal resolution, or exercising authority that includes the ability to commit to 
the payment of their appropriate assessments based on their membership category for support of 
the GLRC. In subsequent years, communities, institutions, school districts, and counties shall 
indicate their acceptance to continue this Agreement, should it remain unchanged, through the 
payment of their appropriate annual assessment in support of annual budgets approved by the 
GLRC. 
 
Modifications to this Agreement as may be recommended by formal action of the GLRC shall be 
subject to acceptance of the appropriate authority of each community, institution, school district, or 
county. 
 
Services provided through the GLRC and grant funds if obtained for stormwater management shall 
be, to the extent practical, limited to members that have signed and met their respective financial 
obligations under this Agreement. 
 

V. INDEMNIFICATION, INSURANCE AND LEGAL FEES 
Each signatory to this agreement, as part of its general liability coverage, shall maintain coverage 
for any damages, claims, causes of action, or actions of any nature whatsoever arising from this 
agreement. This agreement is not intended to create a legal entity subject to suit. Nothing in this 
section shall be construed to give any third party any claim to which said third party would not 
otherwise be entitled, nor shall it abrogate or diminish the defense of governmental immunity, or any 
other defense, for any claim against any party. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



8 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

STRUCTURE OF THE 

GREATER LANSING REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13. E  

To:  Board Members 

From:  Michael R. Hamel, Fire Chief and Manager Frank Walsh 

Date:  March 27, 2024 

Re: Fire Apparatus 

 

The fire department’s vehicle replacement schedule has been disrupted due to the ladder truck 

going out of service permanently. With the fall 2024 arrival of the new pumper, the 25-year-old 

Pierce pumper was scheduled for retirement; however, with the ladder truck out of service, the 1999 

pumper looks to remain in service as a reserve vehicle. 

Reserve fire apparatus are necessary for ensuring fire operations can remain consistent when 

vehicles are scheduled for routine maintenance and repair or when unscheduled repairs are 

necessary. Currently the department has no reserve fire apparatus and must borrow a pumper from 

Lansing Township when any fire vehicle goes in for repair. The reserve pumper from Lansing 

Township is very old, and under the current agreement, Meridian Township is responsible for the 

cost of repair if it breaks down while under loan. 

According to the original vehicle replacement schedule, the 2008 pumper was scheduled to become 

the new reserve apparatus when the 2024 pumper arrives later this year, allowing the 1999 Pierce 

pumper, which has several mechanical issues and oil leaks, to be retired as a fire apparatus. One 

option to maintain this schedule is to move the 2008 pumper replacement in 2028 up to 2025. 

Sutphen Corporation has a spec pumper in production that would be available for delivery this fall. 

If the department were to purchase/lease this unit, the 1999 pumper could still get replaced. Once 

the ladder truck situation is resolved, fire apparatus would not need replacing until 2036. 

 
Sutphen Program 1 Pumper, G9 

 



 
 

 

  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

13. F 

To:            Board Members 

From:              Trustee Scott Hendrickson and Trustee Marna Wilson 

 

Date:            March 26, 2024 

Re:                   Memorandum to Establish Policy Review Working Group  
 

 

The Township Board takes its role as a policymaking body for the Township very seriously. Over 

the last year, the Board has taken up several changes to policies that were brought forward by 

various Department Heads, and the Township has benefited from that work.  

Through the process of reviewing these policies, it became clear that more would need to be 

reviewed. There may be processes and policies that are outdated and would be better removed or 

eliminated entirely and there may be some that are not currently in force that should be created. 

As such, we recommend that the Township Board establish a Policy Review Working Group 

including several members of the Township Board, the Township Manager, the Human Resources 

Director, and additional staff, as necessary.  

The goal of this working group is to review current policies and procedures to determine whether 

they are needed and, if so, if they can be left as is or amended. It will also identify gaps where new 

policies are needed and draft them. The Policy Review Working Group will recommend any 

changes to the Township Board for final approval, prior to being implemented. 

We believe that a small-group setting including just a few Board Members and staff members will 

allow for vibrant discussions, while not slowing down the necessary progress that this Working 

Group is intended to complete. The full Township Board would still be part of the approval 

process, and could weigh in on the recommendations of the Working Group.  

At this point, we have suggestions for which Board Members that we would recommend for 

inclusion on this working group (with their acceptance). Our recommendations would be Trustee 

Peter Trezise, due to his experience with Human Resources and his legal background, and Clerk 

Deborah Guthrie, for her knowledge and passion for crafting sound policies and procedures, and 

adhering to them. 

With consensus, we will bring this back to our April 16th meeting with a resolution for approval. 

 


	April 2, 2024 Township Board Regular Meeting Packet.pdf
	04.02.24 Final Agenda
	9.A Communications
	TEMPLATE - 9 A Communications Cover.pdf
	comm cover

	March 5 - LARA Adult foster care.pdf
	March 19 - Friends of Historic Meridian.pdf
	March 21 - Byron Center Christian School.pdf
	March 21 - ELMWSA Agenda 3-21-24 (Mar) Mtg.pdf
	March 25 -  State Challenge Process.pdf
	March 28 - Okemos and Haslett Named Best Places to Live in Michigan Press Release.pdf

	9.B Minutes Cover
	9.B Minutes March 17, 2024 Special Township Board Meeting
	9.B Minutes March 19, 2024 Regular Board Meeting
	9.B Minutes March 26, 2024 Special Joint Board & Commission Meeting
	9.C Bills
	9.D Disposal of Surplus Equipment
	9.E Public Participation Plan Amendment
	ADPCC0E.tmp
	Community Engagement Statement
	Community Engagement Objectives
	Transparency in Governance
	Emergency Communications
	Diverse Means of Communications Methods
	Diverse Means of Distribution Methods
	Media Relations
	Public Relations
	Social Media Networking
	Brand Management
	Community Participation
	Open Meetings
	First Amendment
	ADA Compliance
	Public Hearing Notices/Legal Notices/Legal Ads/Zoning Amendments
	Press Conferences
	Community Involvement
	Charrettes
	Surveys
	Committees/Focus Groups
	Third Party Compliance
	HOMTV
	CAMTV


	9.F Reschedule a Public Hearing for May 9th - Recreational Marijuana License Applications in Zone 3
	11.A 2022 Order to Maintain Sidewalk Resolution #4 - Public Hearing
	SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #20
	RESOLUTION NO. 4

	NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
	OTM Map (2022) OKEMOS SQUARE.pdf
	OTM Map (2022) HILLBROOK PARK.pdf
	Final Roll

	11.B Recreational Marijuana License Applications in Zones 1, 4, & 5
	12.A Unruh Drain Conversion – Chapter 20 to Chapter 3-4
	12.B MSP Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division Section 19 Resolution
	12.C Ordinance 2024-03 - Planning Commission Membership - INTRODUCTION
	1 - Cover Memo - Ordinance 2024-03 - INTRODUCTION
	2 - Resolution to approve TB INTRO - Ordinance 2024-03 - PC Membership

	13.A Recreational Marijuana License Application in Zone 1 - Haslett Gallery
	13.A Recreational Marijuana License Application in Zone 4 - Okemos Local Investments
	13.A Recreational Marijuana License Application in Zone 5 - SAANDS Meridian
	13.B 2024 Pathway Master Plan Update
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	13. C Central Fire Station Architect Selection
	13.D Greater Lansing Area Regional Stormwater Program MOA
	Charter Township of Meridian
	RESOLUTION


	13.E Fire Apparatus
	13.F  Policy Review Working Group

	Public Comment RE 2022 Order to Maintian Sidewalk Resolution.pdf

	BE IT RESOLVED BY: Township Board
	1 OF: the Charter Township of Meridian
	WHEREAS: the Charter Township of Meridian
	WHEREAS_2: the Charter Township of Meridian
	proportions brought on by the 1: August 24, 2023 severe weather
	proportions brought on by the 2: (wires down) and broken trees and limbs resulting in the destruction of one home and damage to many more. Meridian Township Fire Department responded to 76
	following conditions 4 1: High winds in excess of 70 to 80 mph as the tornado passed by the Township over I-96. These winds caused widespread power outages
	following conditions 4 2: calls during the period of August 24 from 19:26 hours to August 25 at 23:58 hours, exhausting all resources and the ability to respond effectively to emergencies.
	WHEREAS_3: the Township Board
	the: municipal Support & Ingham County
	Plan was implemented at the onset of the disaster at: August 24, 2023 at 2100 hours
	place an unreasonably great financial burden on: the Charter Township of Meridian
	totaling: $30,345.48
	NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT: the Township Board
	the Governor authorize a grant to the: Charter Township of Meridian
	FURTHERMORE: Dante Ianni
	for and in behalf of: Charter Township of Meridian
	name of governing body: Township Board
	on: April 2, 2024


